
MEETING: PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION PANEL

DATE: Friday 10th September, 2021

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Microsoft Teams Remote Meeting

DECISION MAKER: PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
PANEL

Councillor Lappin
Councillor Byrom
Councillor Dutton
Councillor Grace

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Jayne Vincent
Consultation, Engagement and 
Performance Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 3840
Fax:
E-mail: Jayne.vincentl@sefton.gov.uk

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: -
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A
Items marked with an * involve key decisions

Item 
No.

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected

 
 1.  Welcome and apologies

 2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

 3.  Minutes of meeting held on Friday 9th July 
2021

(Pages 5 - 
16)

 4.  Matters Arising

 5.  Verbal Update - Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (in connection with previous 
Paper)

(Pages 17 - 
18)

 6.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Childhood 
Poverty in Sefton

(Pages 19 - 
22)

 7.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Crosby 

(Pages 23 - 
34)



Regeneration - Highways, Parking and 
accommodation works linked to Green Car 
Park Redevelopment

 8.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Public Spaces 
Protection Order for Southport Railway 
Station and surrounding area

(Pages 35 - 
46)

 9.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - School Streets 
and School Neighbourhood Projects Across 
Sefton

(Pages 47 - 
50)

 10.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Sefton's Local 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy

(Pages 51 - 
192)

 11.  Panel Discussion - Engaging with Young 
People/Young Adults (no papers included)

 12.  Any Other Business

 13.  Date of next meeting - Friday 12th November 
2021, 10.00 a.m. Venue - Remote via 
Microsoft Teams.



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 

Meeting held on Friday 09th July 2021 
Remote Meeting 

 
 
Present:  
  
Councillor Paulette Lappin (Chair) 
Councillor Denise Dutton 
Councillor Janet Grace 
Councillor Tony Brough 
Dr Mike Homfray – VCF Sector & Equalities Representative 
Nigel Bellamy – VCF Sector Representative 
Lyn Cooke – Communications & Engagement Manager, South Sefton and Southport 
& Formby CCGs 
Jackie Sutton, Jackie Sutton, IRMP Officer Merseyside Fire Service 
Wendy Anderson – Healthwatch Sefton 
Diane Blair - Healthwatch Sefton 
Joel Thornton – Sefton CVS, Sefton Young Advisors 
Georgia Ribbens – Young Advisor Project Officer for Sefton CVS 
Deborah Butcher – Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health, Sefton MBC 
Andrew Cutts, Green Sefton, Sefton MBC 
Rachel Northover, Team Leader – Community & Resources, Green Sefton, Sefton 
MBC 
Carol Cater – Service Manager Commissioning, Sefton MBC 
Chris Makin – Interim Strategic Lead for Supported Living, Sefton MBC 
Joanne Christensen, Commissioning Team, Sefton MBC 
Rebecca Bond – Commissioning Team, Sefton MBC 
Ian Loughlin – Team Leader – Local Planning, Sefton MBC 
Michael Clare – Turley Consultants 
Richard Laming – Turley Consultants 
Steve Gowland – Public Health Lead, Sefton MBC 
Dr Rory McGill – Public Health Registrar, Sefton MBC 
Nadia Butler, Liverpool John Moores University 
Jayne Vincent - Consultation & Engagement Lead, Sefton MBC 
Joanne Edgar – Admin Support, Sefton MBC 
 
Apologies: 
 
Councillor Leslie Byrom (CBE) 
Debbie Appleton, Director of Strategy & Performance, Merseyside Fire & Rescue 
Service  
 
The reports presented to the Public Consultation and Engagement Panel can be 

found here: 

 

Sefton Council – Link to Consultation & Engagement Panel Papers – 9th July 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=10326&Ver=4
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=10326&Ver=4


2 
 

 

 

 

Action 

1. Welcome and Apologies 

Apologies:  

Councillors Byrom & Myers 

Debbie Appleton, Director of Strategy & Performance, Merseyside 
Fire & Rescue Service  

 

2. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received. 

 

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 28th May 2021 are a true 

and proper record. 

 

4. Matters Arising 

At the last meeting on 28th May 2021,  Councillor Lappin requested 
a short poll to be undertaken to gauge opinion as to whether people 
would like to carry on meeting remotely or face-to-face.  Jayne 
Vincent provided the results as follows: 

• 14 responses 

• 2 preferred face-to-face meetings 

• 5 preferred remote meetings  

• 7 asked for a mixture of both 

• 9 comments received - including requesting remote access 
into face-to-face meetings, remote meetings meaning less 
time on the road, if held remotely some people may require 
paper copies, face-to-face giving the opportunity to have 
more comments and that it is good to be together 

Councillor Lappin said there is a need to investigate whether hybrid 
meetings can be offered and that due to the rise of Covid cases in 
Sefton, the Council’s approach is to continue with remote meetings 
and review this in September. 

Mike Homfray felt it would not be difficult technically to do a hybrid 
mix.  If a semi-remote model can be operated from 2 venues, then 
doing a hybrid mix should be simpler.  Councillor Lappin responded 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



3 
 

that Sefton are currently looking at this as part of an agile working 
policy and are awaiting feedback.   

Councillor Dutton commented that when she first started in 2010 
there used to be a video link in operation between Southport and 
Bootle Town Hall which worked well.  Councillor Lappin responded 
that was available until the Covid shutdown, and that work is 
ongoing to look into a hybrid model for meetings.   

5. Feedback and Evaluation Report – Coronation Park 

Andrew Cutts provided feedback on the on the public consultation 
undertaken from the 1st January 2021 to the 12th March 2021 on 
developing a new vision for Coronation Park in Crosby.   

Summary of Consultation Results: 

• 557 responses were received.  This was deemed a really 
successful response, capturing a wide range of information 
on people’s thoughts and visions for the future of the park 

• 90% arrived on foot 

• 83% of users live within L23 postcode 

• Main area of concern was around anti-social behaviour, with 
ideas to improve including more staff on site, installation of 
CCTV and improved lighting 

• Top ideas for improvements to the site included an improved 
playing area with equipment being more accessible for 
disabled users, improved boating lake, improved pavilion 
and more community spaces and events 
 

Deborah Butcher said she was happy to catch up with Andrew 
regarding this and asked him to get in touch regarding any capital 
requirements around any funding opportunities. 
 
Councillor Grace commented that it is a very popular park, used as 
a cut through, but is aware that it is overgrown and may be  
off-putting of an evening.  In addition, that plenty of residents would 
love to see something happening to it.  Andrew responded that it is 
very accessible, used by the local community and predominantly by 
people on foot. 
 
Nigel Bellamy noted that in the report that there had not been any 
engagement with young people and asked what the plans were to 
address this?  He said that there are schools and youth clubs in the 
area, and also that the 70+ age group response was low.  Andrew 
agreed that they had struggled to engage with these age groups 
and felt this was due to only using online engagement.  Now that 
things have opened again, they would like to engage with schools 
and use Sefton Rangers.   The Community Ranger will be doing 
work to share their ideas and thoughts as they evolve to build the 
vision for the park and more will be done to engage with the over 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andrew Cutts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



4 
 

70’s. Andrew asked for ideas on groups to engage with. 
 
Councillor Lappin suggested contacting the Young Advisors and 
Sefton CVS. 
 
Jayne asked whether it is worthwhile doing further analysis of the 
equality monitoring data, to see whether there are any particular 
groups not feeling safe, or do not have access to the park, which 
would support the work going forward?  Andrew agreed with this 
suggestion and felt it was important to get the most out of the data. 
 
Councillor Dutton asked how active is the Friends group and 
whether it linked with Green Sefton?  Andrew responded that Green 
Sefton have a close relationship with the group, and that the 
volunteers meet every Tuesday with the Community Ranger taking 
part.  On 20th July 2021 there is a socially distanced catch up with 
the group and feedback will be given to them about the survey and 
next steps, as there is a feeling perhaps of frustration among the 
group due to the length of time to do the consultation and publishing 
of the results.  There is recognition that the Friends group are a key 
stakeholder. 
 
Councillor Dutton asked about the use of CCTV and how to go 
around this?  Andrew questioned whether it is appropriate to put  
this in the park though he noted that CCTV’s are installed in North 
and South Park in Bootle.  He felt that it must be done sensitively.  
In addition, it was also suggested to have more park rangers and 
that perhaps several approaches needing to be explored at the 
same time.  Councillor Dutton responded that there is CCTV at 
Duke Street Park in Formby which works well and suggested linking 
in with U3A (University of the Third Age) groups.   
 
Councillor Lappin suggested contacting Crosby and Thornton 
Gardening Group. 
 
Jayne highlighted that numerous people have indicated that they 
want to volunteer and asked how they will they be contacted? 
Andrew responded that they need to support the Friends group as 
restrictions are lifted and asked are they able to access the contact 
details which people have submitted?  Jayne answered that unless 
you asked for those details in line with privacy notice, then no.  He 
said that they need to advertise better in the park using posters in 
the notice boards to recruit more volunteers and also look at Sefton 
Crowd Funding to kickstart improvements at the site.  They also 
need to support use of the Friends group, perhaps by holding one 
of their sessions on a Saturday morning to encourage more 
volunteers. 

 

 

Andrew Cutts 

 

 

 
Andrew Cutts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Andrew Cutts 
 

Andrew Cutts 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



5 
 

6. Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Hesketh Park Improvements 

Andrew Cutts presented the proposal for consultation and 
engagement activity with regards to Hesketh Park improvements.  
Sefton Council are looking to consult with residents and key 
stakeholders for the park on their future priorities in terms of 
improvements in relation to both recreational and heritage value.  
This follows the recent news that the park has been gifted a 
substantial sum of money by a local family in a will following the 
passing of a family member as a legacy to the development and 
improvement of the park.   

Key stakeholders include the Hesketh Park heritage group and park 
volunteer groups (Friends of Hesketh Park), local community and 
visitors.  The consultation will run from 1st August 2021 to 15th 
September 2021 and will be undertaken via an online survey 
promoted on social media and advertised locally with the volunteer 
groups.  Paper copies will be available on request via the volunteer 
groups and the park café owner has also offered to hand out copies. 

Nigel Bellamy said that there is an opportunity to learn from young 
people on this consultation, that there is a much wider footprint in 
terms of use than Coronation Park and there is a need to ensure 
that the discussion is as wide as possible.  He mentioned that the 
park had received heritage funding approximately ten years ago 
and it would be good to see improvements in areas which are 
starting to show decline as the park is a big asset to the area. 

Deborah Butcher commented that there is need to avoid raising 
expectations by this consultation as if one sector has more money 
the public will not understand this, and we may face challenges 
from other areas.  There is a need to ensure that our offer as a 
Council is distinct from funds available externally. 

Mike Homfray raised that some questions require more explanation 
as it not clear how to answer, for example, what is meant by an 
improved sensory garden.  He thought that the classification for 
ethnicity groups are confusing, do not seem clear and perhaps 
there is a need to look at this again.   Andrew responded that he 
will double check with Jayne regarding this.  Jayne responded that 
she thought this was probably due to formatting issues.  She 
informed the Panel that there are now revised equality monitoring 
questions and will make sure that everyone has the new version.  
Mike said that they will need to discuss this and asked how much 
consultation there had been on this?  Jayne suggested that it would 
be helpful if Mike met to discuss this with Jayne and Paul McCann 
(VCF & Equalities Officer)? Mike agreed with this suggestion – 
Jayne to arrange. 

Councillor Lappin thanked Andrew for the report and said she was 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jayne Vincent 

 

Jayne Vincent 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



6 
 

looking forward to feedback. 

7. Proposal to Undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Coast & Parks User Satisfaction 
Survey 

Rachel Northover presented the proposal for engagement activity 
with regards to a Green Sefton coast and parks customer 
satisfaction survey to help inform future management and 
development. The 2021 draft survey is currently in 2 versions – one 
for visitors/customers of coastal sites and the other for parks and 
greenspaces, with the aim to combine the two into an online survey 
allowing people to comment on generally and on the site, they visit 
most regularly.   The intention is to create an online link of the two 
questionnaires with visitors to Ainsdale-on-Sea asked additional 
questions for the Ainsdale-on-Sea Gateway Vision consultation. 
The survey will be undertaken over the summer holiday period 
(17th July – 30th September 2021) and will be designed to be 
carried out face-to-face in parks and coastal areas alongside the 
online questionnaire. 

Jayne asked about the link to the live Ainsdale-on-Sea survey and 
whether this asks any questions about the Vision? As this is 
currently live, it is not possible to add new questions.  Rachel 
responded that they have been talking to Sefton Communications 
Team about this and have decided that the best thing is to put up 
posters onsite and it is hoped that Ambassadors will signpost.  
When asking the Ainsdale-on-Sea questions they will mention the 
other activities and ask them to go online to complete.  They 
thought if they added extra questions to the Ainsdale-on-Sea 
survey it would detract from what they were trying to achieve – they 
are hoping that people will do the online survey.  Jayne responded 
that it was about timing and co-ordination where possible, given the 
number of surveys being carried out at the same time. 

Councillor Dutton asked where it was intended to put the paper 
surveys?  Rachel responded that they will be giving them to Friends 
groups and Community Rangers – to hand out to people to fill in.  
Councillor Dutton suggested putting them in libraries.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rachel Northover 

8. Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Integrated Care Partnership 
Communications and Engagement Approach 

 
N.B. This was moved to the first item for discussion 

Lyn Cooke, Jayne Vincent and Diane Blair delivered a presentation 
on the development of an integrated care partnership for Sefton 
and the approach to engagement.  Progress has included: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



7 
 

• Setting up of a working group of Community Commissioning 
Group (CCG) and Council Leads, which meets regularly with 
partners across the system 

• Production of an approach paper in June outlining how we 
are developing a Communications and Engagement 
strategy 

• Long-term developing a strategy, including learning from 
other areas and stakeholder mapping  

Jayne Vincent said that they have delivered the same presentation 
to other groups, including the Integrated Care Partnership Task 
and Finish Group and programme delivery group who have 
suggested that they build on existing relationships and forums.   

Councillor Lappin said she was very proud of Sefton to hear about 
all these integrated networks – that it has taken years to get to this 
level. 
 
Joanne Christensen thought the presentation was very good.  She 
highlighted the slide showing networks already in existence and 
asked whether it would be worthwhile to map out the current ones? 
If documented, you could link in with them and avoid the risk of 
losing anyone or missing them out.   Jayne responded that this is 
one of the current activities of the Sefton Communications, 
Information and Engagement Group – mapping out their 
communications channels and external communication structure, 
which can be built upon. 

Councillor Lappin thought that it was a serious and excellent piece 
of work and asked to be kept updated by returning to the Panel. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lyn Cooke, Jayne 
Vincent and 
Diane Blair 

9. Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Co-Production Report Day Care 
Opportunities 

Carol Cater presented the report for engagement and consultation 
activity with regards to the co-production report for Day Care 
Opportunities. This proposal is to consider existing day care and 
new opportunities for day support and whether these are able to 
meet the needs of people given the changing aspirations noted in 
the types of services people are seeking and the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  

Mike Homfray asked with regards to the equality and protected 
characteristics why were they not all included, particularly 
intersectionality which is important with regards to this issue?  He 
also asked what methods are going to be used – survey or interview 
based?  Deborah Butcher responded that they have some more 
work to do with regards to methodology as it is important they have 
a robust Equality Impact Assessment which all parties are happy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



8 
 

with and the methodology and tools used enables them to get the 
best from the process.  Joanne Christensen added that with regards 
to the methodology, due to Covid they need to explore this to 
ensure it looks right. 

Councillor Dutton asked whether they are still looking to hold 
luncheon clubs and are they being taken into consideration 
regarding this questionnaire?  Deborah Butcher responded that in 
terms of supporting health and wellbeing and reducing isolation, 
there are no plans to reduce anything.  There is a need to 
understand  what is required and whether different services are 
required to complement i.e. sensory cafes for people with sensory 
impairment. Joanne Christensen commented that Chris from 
Crosby Age Concern group (who co-ordinates the luncheon clubs) 
is also involved in this discussion.  Indeed, Chris has said he has 
seventy people a week attending the luncheon clubs.  Councillor 
Lappin suggested that Joanne contact Councillor Dutton outside of 
the meeting to discuss this area. 

Councillor Lappin asked for the Panel to be kept up to date with 
developments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Joanne 

Christensen 

10. Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Supported Living Briefing Paper 

Carol Cater presented the Briefing Paper with regards to the 
engagement plans being developed for the Commissioning and re-
procurement of existing and future supported living provision in 
Sefton and co-production plans for the development of a Supported 
Living Strategy and specification for new service model.  

Carol explained that it is not about a significant change to the model 
– more a procurement process to complete with service users 
engaged as part of the normal assessment process where there is 
an impact. They are mindful of the need to avoid consultation and 
engagement overload with the ongoing Day Care Opportunities 
consultation - any work round strategy will be undertaken with 
representative groups later in terms of direct contact with service 
users.   

Mike Homfray raised that it is important that the consultation 
methods are known and part of the process in view of the people 
who they will be engaging with, for example, with autism. Carol 
responded that they are engaging with the National Autistic Society 
(NAS) Parent Group who will be supporting this and our working 
with colleagues in Children Social Care regarding an autism 
strategy.  Joanne Christensen emphasised their involvement with 
NAS Parent Group – attending meetings and keeping them updated 
and have asked for their involvement in developing specifications.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



9 
 

Wendy Anderson said that supported living is on the work plan for 
Healthwatch and they have put forward some questions on the 
paper, as follows: 
 

• 4.2 - Who is on the task group? Chris Makin responded that 
this is still being developed.  

• 4.6 - Can Healthwatch be added to the stakeholder 
mapping? Carol responded ‘yes’ and would welcome any 
suggestions for anyone who wants to be involved 

• 4.6 Stakeholder list for Adult Social Care – does this include 
Direct Payments and Complex Care Brokers? Carol 
responded ‘yes’ 

• 4.6 Preparation for Adulthood Group – who is this group? 
Jayne responded that this consists of members of Sefton’s 
Parent and Carer Forum along with people from Special 
Educational  Team and other colleagues from the Council.  
It is led by Stephen Evans from Sefton Council, Preparation 
for Adulthood Manager.  

• Where does fit as part of the engagement process – is it at 
the beginning?  Carol responded that ‘yes, it is’.  They want 
to ensure that they are not over consulting with people, that 
this is  timed in the right way.  There will be a lot of 
engagement with the groups initially and then they will 
decide what element of consultation with service users.  

• Regarding the procurement phase, who will sit on the panel?  
Carol responded that this is something they will work through 
with Chris and the procurement team. 

 
Deborah Butcher commented that this is about people who Sefton 
provide services for and their families, that there will be some work 
informing providers and some work about informing stakeholders, 
but the co-design and co-production will be about people who use 
Sefton’s services.  
 
Councillor Lappin thanked Carol for the paper and commented that 
this is a very complex area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11. Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Bootle Area Action Plan Community 
Engagement Strategy 

 
The Panel appraised the proposal from Ian Loughlin to undertake 
public engagement and consultation with regards to Bootle Area 
Action Plan (AAP).  Michael Clare from Turley Consultants, 
commissioned by Sefton Council to lead on the community 
engagement and document preparation, delivered a presentation 
on the Community Engagement Plan.  
  
Sefton is developing the Bootle AAP to guide future development 
and investment for the wider Bootle area, and this will sit alongside 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



10 
 

the Local Plan.  The plan stages are prescribed in the Local 
Planning Regulations as follows:  

 

• Stage 1: Issues and Options – consultation activities to 
include a six week consultation from August – October 2021, 
virtual workshops and and static exhibition in Bootle Strand 
shopping centre  

• Stage 2: Preferred Options – 6 week consultation from 
February – April 2022, with a number of online and face-to-
face events 

• Stage 3: Publication – final pre-submission document to be 
available October – November 2022.   

• Public Examination – January – May 2023 – examination by 
an independent Planning Inspector, with a view to being 
adopted by Sefton Council in October 2023 

Mike Homfray thought it was a very interesting proposal. He 
wondered whether the consultation in Stage 1 will be long enough, 
as there are a lot of people who are not organised in groups, for 
example BAME and LGBT.  He felt that it is a challenging area to 
do research and may meet with a level of cynicism as people have 
heard so much over the years about urban regeneration. 

Jayne felt it is important to understand people who live in the area 
and felt that it was good to see that a blended approach is being 
taken. She emphasised the need to understand the local 
demographic – there may be some ‘tech savvy’ younger families 
who will embrace the online activity, but there may also be older 
people on lower incomes who prefer face-to-face engagement. 
Jayne suggesting connecting with existing local neighbour groups, 
for example housing associations. 

In response to Mike’s point about whether six weeks is long enough 
for the consultation, Richard Laming said that this period is 
prescribed as the minimum period for but they can use the 
telephone helpline and emails to keep the conversation ongoing 
with people, to be flexible and overcome scepticism and show they 
are listening as they do have other rounds of consultation. 

Jayne mentioned a lesson learned from the Sefton 2030 
consultation when they had postcards of what people loved about 
Sefton – they had missed off the first three letters of the postcode 
and were unable to match with where people lived.  Richard 
responded that this was very useful and thanked for the points 
about connecting with the community.  He said that the stakeholder 
list provided is not complete and they know it will grow and they 
have a couple of months to connect to the right people.  Richard 
said they would be delighted to return to the Panel with feedback. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Ian Loughlin 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Richard Laming 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



11 
 

12. Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Mental Health Survey in Sefton 
Schools/Colleges 

Steve Gowland presented the proposal to undertake consultation 
and engagement activity regarding mental wellbeing in Sefton 
schools/colleages.  The intention is for Sefton Public Health Team, 
working with  Liverpool John Moore’s University,  to repeat the 2019 
survey of mental wellbeing carried out within Sefton schools of their 
pupils and staff.   The results of the 2019 survey highlighted several 
issues and needs relating to the needs of children and young 
people. The intention is to repeat the survey to find out if there have 
been any changes and to quantify how Covid has affected the 
mental health and wellbeing of children and young people with 
some additional questions.  It is proposed that the age group will be 
widened to include younger people down to year 5 (ages 9-10) and 
upwards from ages 16 to 18 to include colleges.   

Nadia Butler from John Moores University said that questions 
around ethnicity and gender identity have also been included in the 
proposed survey pending ethical approval. She added that  
consideration needs to be given of how young the age group they 
ask these questions of. 

Mike Homfray responded that there was a need to look at the 
protected characteristics and think about which ones are relevant 
for children and young people – he thought it looked a bit patchy. 
He felt an inclusive approach needs to be taken.  Mike asked 
whether there are any lessons learnt from last time and what they 
are doing differently?  Steve responded that the legwork they did 
first time round was very extensive, including meetings with 
headteachers to review content and questions and toning down the 
language and crafting it into the survey.  This time they have the 
trust of the schools, have a governance structure and more routes 
into schools.  There is also a new role within the schools of Mental 
Health Lead as a point of contact and someone to go to.  In addition, 
they have asked schools the best time to do the survey and they 
have said October/November and they are keeping to this 
timescale. 

Councillor Dutton asked how many schools requested information 
and feedback?  Steve responded that he does not have this figure 
and will feedback.  Councillor Lappin requested that they feedback 
via Jayne.   

Nadia said that a lesson learned from the last time is that they have 
streamlined the process for schools to access the data – it is 
proposed that they will provide school level results privately this 
time (will not be included within the public report).  Steve added that 
there is an increasing requirement on schools with a new Education 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Steve Gowland 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



12 
 

and Wellbeing Charter to be released later this year, so schools will 
have information on the wellbeing of their pupils and staff. 

Jayne commented that it is good there is a child friendly 
participation sheet for support and offered help with any accessible 
language for children or with developing an Easy Read version -  
contact Jayne or Michelle Anglesea for assistance. 

Councillor Dutton said she was pleased to hear that mental health 
being made available in every school (to have someone there to go 
to), that there is less of a stigma and easy access.  

Councillor Lappin thanked Steve and thought the proposal was 
excellent. 

 

 

 

13. Any other Business 

There was no other business. 

 

6. Date and time of next Meeting 

Friday 10th September 2021, 10.00 a.m. – Councillor Lappin said 
that given the Covid situation they would wait and see what 
happens with regards to the format of the meeting – either hybrid 
or online, to be confirmed.  

 

 

 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



1 
 

Agenda Item 5 
 
 
 
5. Verbal Update – Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (in connection with 

previous Paper –  
 
Agenda 8 –  
Agenda for Public Engagement and Consultation Panel on Friday 13th March, 2020, 10.00 am 

 

• Steve Gowland, Public Health, Sefton MBC 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5

http://smbc-modgov-03/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=9759&Ver=4
http://smbc-modgov-03/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=9759&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 6 
 

1 
 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 10th September 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity – 
 Childhood Poverty in Sefton. 
 
Report of:  Anna Nygaard and Steve Gowland 
 
 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 

1.1 To receive information regarding a proposed consultation about childhood 
poverty in Sefton.    
 

2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is to 

coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and consultation, 
in accordance with the required standards. 

 
 2.2 Childhood poverty is the first step to poor physical and mental health, and 

the largest impact on infant mortality is poverty.  
 
 2.3 On 1 April 2021, the Welfare Reform and Anti-Poverty Cabinet Member 

Reference Group received a detailed report in relation to child poverty in 
Sefton and the impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic.  

 
 2.4 The report outlined indicators and drivers for childhood poverty, the 

impacts of growing up in a low impact household and the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic on the causes and consequences of poverty. 

 
 2.5 It was noted that indicators for children living in absolute and relative low-

income households, and children eligible for free school meals were 
increasing in the years before the pandemic. Emergency welfare 
measures were often not enough to bridge the sudden income gap 
experienced by many in-work households on low incomes, especially 
during the early months of the pandemic.  

 
 2.6 The profile of jobs in Sefton was highlighted in the report, noting the larger 

than average contribution from health and care, and other essential roles, 
often based in relatively small-scale businesses which brought together 
added risks from Coronavirus exposure and transmission and pre-existing 
health inequality, all underpinned by financial vulnerability. 

 
 2.7 It was reported that the pandemic has impacted childhood poverty in 

several ways, both short- and long-term: 
 

• Household income • Employment opportunities 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

2 
 

• Access to services 
• Cost of living 
• Mental health 

• Physical wellbeing 
• Access to education, 

learning and development 
 

2.8 Prevalence of mental distress was discussed. National research shows 
that those with poor mental health have a 50% higher likelihood of having 
a low income and are 70% more likely to experience persistent poverty. 
Compared to average and high income families, parents on low incomes 
reported more family distress caused by issues such as food and fuel 
poverty and home-schooling in 2020.   

 
2.9  Social mobility and pay potential were also discussed. It was noted that 

Sefton has had a relatively small gap in terms of education attainment but 
a large gap in future pay potential, i.e. a young person from a low income 
household leaving school with the same qualifications as a peer from a 
non-disadvantaged household is more likely to achieve a low income, and 
be paid less than their classmate in Sefton compared to many other parts 
of the country. Coronavirus has accelerated the already widening 
attainment gap, adding to the risk of persistent, inter-generational 
disadvantage. 

 
2.10 In response to this Cabinet has approved - and is beginning work – to 

develop a Child Poverty Strategy. As part of the development of the 
Strategy a conference of senior leaders and stakeholders is due to take 
place in the autumn of 2021. Furthermore, public consultation is needed 
with Sefton communities to better understand and tackle the issue. 

 
3. Childhood Poverty 
 
 3.1 In essence we are seeking to consult on issues related to, and associated 

with, childhood poverty in Sefton. We know that changes to the welfare 
and benefits system over recent years have affected residents within 
Sefton in various ways.  

 
 3.2 However the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic has been felt across all 

sections of society and across all age groups, and its impact on children 
and young people in Sefton has yet to be accurately established. Along 
with this the impact on parents/carers and families which affects children 
and young people has also yet to be fully understood. 

 
 3.3 We intend to engage with children and young people, their families, and 

parents/carers about the extent and reality of childhood poverty in Sefton 
and how they see this affecting their choices and opportunities now and in 
the future. This will help to uncover income-related obstacles that might 
be a particular issue in Sefton and draw attention towards changes that 
are achievable at a low level.  

 
 3.4 The methodology for this engagement has not yet been determined but is 

likely to draw on qualitative data collection in order to fully understand the 
specific and wider issues. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

3 
 

 
 3.5 As a result of the sensitive nature of the subject matter and the need to 

respect the privacy and circumstances of those taking part our approach 
will be crucial to the success of the exercise. We will adopt a recognised 
research ethics framework1 to protect the interests, rights and best 
balance of benefit over harm of participants. 

 
4.    The Consultation 
 
 4.1 We are seeking suggestions and recommendations from the Public 

Engagement and Consultation Panel not only about the approach and 
content, but also about when and how the engagement should take place, 
and whether there is relevant insight work that could appropriately be used 
to inform this work. 

 
4.2 Sefton Council and members of the Welfare Reform and Anti-Poverty 

(WRAP) Group already have methods of engaging with communities in 
Sefton. They will play a key role in helping to promote and encourage 
participation in the consultation.  

 
4.3 If favourable, we may also work with Sefton schools/colleges regarding 

the joint promotion of - and engagement with - the consultation. 
 
4.4 General principles relating to the consultation are summarised below: 
 

• Surveys will be anonymous. 
• Surveys will meet all GDPR requirements. 
• Paper copies can be completed, if necessary. 
• A young person friendly information sheet will be created. 
• We will work with young people and parents/carers regarding the 

language and readability of the survey and make all reasonable 
changes they request.  

• The final version of the survey will be brought to the Panel before 
commencement. 

 
4.5 Young person friendly participant information sheets will be provided prior 

to survey participation. The participant information sheet will make clear 
to children and young people that their participation is voluntary, that they 
can leave the consultation whenever they wish and that there are no right 
or wrong answers. Implied consent from children and young people will 
be taken on commencement of the survey.  

 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 
 

5.1  Following feedback from the Panel we will create a timeline and action 
plan; detailing activities to be undertaken and set out milestones for during 
and after the consultation has been completed. The findings of the 
consultation will be shared with the Panel in due course. 

                                                 
1 E.g. https://www.sscr.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/SSCR-methods-review_MR024.pdf 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

4 
 

 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.  
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise and provide recommendations and suggestions for public 

engagement and consultation regarding childhood poverty in Sefton 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above consultation. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 7 

Page 1 of 8 
 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 10th September 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity – 

Crosby Regeneration – Highways, Parking and accommodation works 
linked to Green Car Park Redevelopment   

 
Report of:  Keith Molloy   keith.molloy@sefton.gov.uk)  

Andrew Dunsmore  andrew.dunsmore@sefton.gov.uk 

 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To receive information with regard to the consultation plans being 

developed as part of the Regeneration of Crosby Town Centre – 
highways, parking and accommodation works and Green Car Park 
Redevelopment  

 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is 

to coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and 
consultation, in accordance with the standards for engagement and 
consultation. 

 
2.2 In 2015 the Council approved the Crosby Investment Strategy which set 

out to create a deliverable strategy to 2030 that will maximise the 
economic potential of Crosby having established and secured a 
consensus with stakeholders. The Strategy was the subject of wide 
ranging engagement and consultation at the time and this process was 
reported in full and is available on the Council’s web site -                              
( crosby_consultation_report.pdf (sefton.gov.uk) ). 

 

2.3 The development of the Green car park is identified as a key opportunity 
for Town Centre regeneration in the approved Crosby Investment 
Strategy and together with other elements of the project and associated 
highways and parking accommodation works, provides in addition the 
opportunity to deliver enhanced public realm and much improved 
accessibility for walking and cycling. Appendix A shows the location of 
the car parks; and the development sites, known as The Green, 
Telegraph House and Central Buildings. 

 
2.4  Sefton Council is currently seeking Levelling Up Funding (LUF) of £19.3 

million to support  regeneration in Crosby Town Centre. The 
development proposed includes a significant redesign of local highways 
and public realm, improvement to two of the town centre car parks 
increasing capacity and introducing electric vehicle charging points and 
provision on the Green car park of a new civic hub, an innovative multi-

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

mailto:keith.molloy@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.dunsmore@sefton.gov.uk
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1868/crosby_consultation_report.pdf


Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 2 of 8 
 

purpose development providing a new public library, state of the art 
healthcare facility, as well as high quality town centre living.  

 
2.5 In addition to aligning well with local objectives plans and policies, the 

scheme aligns well with the aims of the aims of the Levelling Up Fund, 
by focusing on quality of place improvements that will have real, visible 
impacts, on the town centre and community. It also aligns with the 
Councils strategies for town centre regeneration in general, by providing 
a non-retail, mixed use scheme that will improve the diversity of town 
centre uses, drive footfall, and deliver a sustainable community in the 
town centre.  

 
2.6 The scheme also aligns with ambitions to build back better, by delivering 

high quality development and including a significant package of 
landscaping and public realm that will transform the quality of place in 
the town. Finally, the scheme aligns with our strategy to recover from 
Covid-19, by providing improved healthcare facility that will support a 
resilient and healthy community. 

 
2.7 The development will involve significant improvements to town centre 

access arrangements and also bring with it improvements to public realm 
creating safer and more attractive gateways into Crosby centre 
particularly for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 
2.8 The scheme will deliver the following community benefits: 
 

• A sense of place, where residents spend time and socialise 
more, in recognition of the fact that visits are lasting longer, 
supported by an excellent digital and food and beverage offer 
and experience. 

• A place for job seekers; students; activities for young families, 
community groups (30 plus) and support for the vulnerable 
(e.g. early intervention and prevention, touchdown space for 
localities working and meeting with clients, social prescribing 
opportunities) with benefits for health and well-being.  

• An opportunity for the increase of new and larger customer 
base and greater footfall to the village as a result of sharing 
modern facilities with health care providers at an accessible 
village centre location. 

• Reduced maintenance costs by creating a modern low cost, 
low maintenance building.  

• Environmental improvements will benefit pedestrians and 
cyclists through improved access, provide a place for the 
community to meet linked to the new development. In addition, 
there will be improved customer parking inclusive of; new 
layout; larger spaces; EV recharging; disabled parking, with 
servicing access maintained.   

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 3 of 8 
 

2.9 Currently the proposals outlined above are progressing but with slightly 
different time scales due to the nature of the different elements involved, 
the accommodation works have reached a more detailed design stage 
than the site development. On this basis and recognising the need for 
both elements to be considered alongside one another, the proposed 
Stakeholder Engagement will reflect the level of detail available at the 
time for each element and further engagement will take place in support 
of the more detailed Green Car Park site redevelopment as designs 
progress.  

 
2.10 The proposed Stakeholder engagement will at this stage inform and 

support the development and submission of a planning application for 
the proposed regeneration works. The feedback from the consultation 
will be assessed and reported on via the website. The main themes and 
any issues / concerns and subsequent responses to the consultation will 
also be encapsulated in the Statement of Community Involvement as 
part of the planning documentation. 

 
 
3. Name of Issue you are Consulting On 
 
 3.1 The issues providing the basis of this stakeholder engagement and 

consultation process include the following :  
 

• Alterations to the Moor Lane A565 Liverpool Road / The By-Pass and 
the B5193 Islington / Coronation Road/ Church Road junction to be 
reconfigured from a priority controlled roundabout at Coronation Road 
to a 4 arm signalised junction. 

• Redesign of the Moor Lane and Cooklands Car Parks 

• Crosby Public Realm Strategy (establishing high level public realm 
design principles)  

• Principle of development of the Green Car Park for a new library/health 
and residential hub 

 
 

4.    The Consultation 
 

4.1 The nature and scope of the proposals involved in this regeneration 
programme are such that the approach to stakeholder engagement will 
require the use of multiple channels to ensure the maximum reach within 
communities. 

 
4.2 The process of stakeholder engagement and consultation commenced 

alongside the design processes associated with the various work 
streams connected with the different project elements some time ago. 
On this basis input from a number of technical and operational sources 
have supported the development of proposals to date and through the 
initial feasibility stages of the work programme. This work to date has 
provided a sound basis for now testing with a wider community the scope 
and content of the project content before this is fixed and finalised ready 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 4 of 8 
 

for delivery. Next steps in continuing and expanding the level of 
engagement will involve the use of a number of channels to 
communicate, inform and listen, as listed below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Your Sefton 
Your Say 

 

• Stakeholder 
Workshop   

 
 

• Digital 
advertising  

 
 
 
 

 
On line information and feedback opportunity  
 
 
Workshop bringing together local representative 
groups managed externally  
 
 
An advert will be placed in the local publications. 
On-line circulation will help to promote the 
consultation to a wide audience in the local area 
and beyond.  

• Posters  A3 posters will be printed and distributed to a 
number of shops / venues that are open and they 
will be asked to display in prominent locations such 
as community notice boards.  
 

• Printed flyers  A town-wide distributed leaflet has been 
considered but was not considered an appropriate 
use of resource due to the current situation. At this 
stage it is anticipated that a small number of 
printed flyers will be distributed.  
 
In addition a targeted letter to the business directly 
adjacent to the car parks to be reconfigured will be 
sent out. 
 

• Social media 
advertising  

A series of paid-for adverts on social media sites 
(including Facebook and Instagram) will help to 
target harder to reach groups.  
 

• Press release  A press release will be prepared and distributed to 
news outlets in the area. Many media outlets have 
a well-established online presence (e.g. Twitter, 
Facebook) and it is intended to access these 
forums. Local radio stations etc 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 
 

4.3 The consultation period will start on Friday 17th September and conclude 
on 29thOctober  this will provide a period of 6 weeks which is sufficient 
time for engagement across all channels. Time will also be allocated for 
the results to be considered and to inform the final stages of the design 
at this stage in the process.  

 
4.4 The engagement process will of course aim to reach as many parts of 

the community as possible this in addition to using existing contacts 
within external stakeholder and partner organisations. A list of those 
organisations already identified is provided below (Appendix B). Work is 
also being undertaken with the Councils Corporate Communication 
Team to finalise the Communication Plan (Appended in Draft as 
Appendix C, with further discussions to be held with Comms and the 
Consultation and Engagement Officer to finalise). We would appreciate 
the opportunity to expand on the stakeholder list and proposed 
communications based on the Panel’s consideration of this report and 
associated feedback.  

 
4.5  We will work with our internal colleagues to ensure that all information is 

accessible. We will provide information to the Contact Centre for anyone 
unable to complete the consultation online and we will ask them to 
record and note all comments made the on phone and to email the 
results to the Project Team. These will be incorporated into the final 
analysis. 

 
4.6  We will work with our Neighbourhoods Team to ascertain venues where 

hard copies of materials can be made available.   
 
4.7 We will provide the draft YSYS survey question to the Consultation and 

Engagement Officer for review.  
 
4.8 We will use the appointed delivery company to print and deliver all hard 

copy materials and these will be GPS tracked to show the delivery area 
and time/ date.  

 
 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

5.1     The feedback from the consultation will be assessed and summarised.  
We will provide a Cabinet and Ward Member update of the findings. We 
will also report on the findings via the website and YSYS in the We 
Asked / You Said / We Did (are doing) template format.  A report with 
consolidation of  all finding from all channels will be prepared and 
reported back to the Panel.  Information on the on the most effective 
communication will  be captured by asking respondents how they found 
out about the consultation. 

 
5.2     It is highlighted that the next stages of development of the scheme will 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 6 of 8 
 

involve a formal Planning consultation which will allow another chance 
for engagement.    

 
 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.  
 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 

Crosby Regeneration – Highways, Parking and accommodation 
works linked to Green Car Park Redevelopment   

 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above consultation. 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 

 

Appendix A 

 

Crosby Town Centre Plan showing car parks and location of the Green 
development site 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 8 of 8 
 

Appendix B – List of potential key stakeholders 

 

List of Identified Key Stakeholders Groups 

Local Residents 
Elected Members and MPs 
Sefton Communities linked groups 

Farcastle ( retail Asset Owner )  
Crossfield Construction ( Telegraph House )  
Sainsburys  
Retail Business Forum 
Sefton Advocacy  
Sefton CVS  
PC24 Local Primary Care provider 
Sefton Clinical Commissioning  Group 
McCarthy & Stone  
Plus Dane  
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (Transport)  
Local Church Groups  
Coronation Park Group  
Savills Commercial Property Agency  
Avison Young Commercial Property Agency  
 

 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



 Agenda Item 7a 
 
  

1 
 

Communication Plan for Crosby Regeneration – Highways, 
Parking and accommodation works linked to the 
development of Green car park site 
 

Introduction 

The following Communication Plan details the planned engagement process for public 
consultation on the proposed highways work and car park reconfiguration around Crosby town 
centre.  This consultation is prior to a hybrid planning submission being brought forward in order to 
facilitate the redevelopment of the Green car park, into a modern multi purposes building to 
include relocation of Crosby Library, a health centre and residential apartments.  The hybrid nature 
of the application means that planning will be sought for the car parking reconfiguration works as a 
full application with outline planning for the actual building / development works.  This 
reconfiguration alongside the highways junctions improvements will enable the future development 
of the Green. 
 
It is hoped to engage with key stakeholders and the public from mid-September to late October 
with a period to then assess the consultation feedback and make any necessary changes to the 
design of the car parks and enabling works.  A paper has been submitted to the Public 
Consultation and Engagement Panel and will presented at the meeting on 10th September. 
 
The process will also help inform both key stakeholders and public of the loss of the car parking 
spaces at the Green and the holistic approach to travel to be taken for the development of the 
town centre, with consideration of accessibility by all modes of travel. 
 
The process of planning and undertaking the consultation will be undertaken in line with Sefton 
Councils own Public Engagement and Consultation Framework. 
 
Key stakeholders have been identified via the Stakeholder matric process with discussions with 
internal colleagues and the full list can be found in Appendix A.  Section 2 below list the key 
activities to be undertaken as part of this consultation and form an Action Plan / Task List. 
 
It is appreciated that further consultation will need to take place at the next stages of the planning 
process once the development mix and building designs are confirmed and the building is brought 
forward for full planning.    
 

2.0 Action Plan and Task List 

 
The following list the key method of engagement and the associate timings and responsibilities for 
delivery.  It is noted that multidisciplinary support is required for this consultation, with various 
departments throughout the Council working collaboratively. Locality Services will also be involved 
in the workshops development and delivery. 
 
Teams are abbreviated in the table below as follows:  
STPI – Strategic Transport Planning and Investment,  
Regen – Economic Growth and Housing /Regeneration,  
Strategic Support / Communications – Comms Team. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 Agenda Item 7a 
 
  

2 
 

 
All tasks are based on a launch date on 17th September, with the consultation then being live for a 
6 week period until the 29th October. 
 

Table 1 Action Plan and Tasks 
Action / Method of Communication Target 

Audience 
Target date Responsibility 

Identify key stakeholders via Stakeholder Matrix All 3rd Sept STPI and 
Regen Teams 
with guidance 
from Comms 
and the PECP. 

Arrange online workshop and implement during 
consultation period 

Key 
Stakeholders 

Dates to be 
set prior to 
launch date 
and held 
throughout 

Locality 
Services to 
assist with this 
and Regen to 
arrange. 

Produce YSYS online survey – preparation of 
drawing and content – narrative. Docs to be 
produced include:  

• Drawings and introductory text 

• ER versions of materials 

• FAQS  

• GPDR Notice 

 
Noting the Corporate Comms are looking to produce 
a glossary leaflet type doc which can be used for the 
basis of this and be printed for hard copy. 

All Draft by 10th 
Sept to 
allow for 
testing and 
tweaking by 
launch date 
(17th Sept) 

Comms Team 
to produce 
copy and STPI 
and Regen to 
organise online 
survey and 
provide content 
to Comms.  

Local Digital publications adverts All Ready for 
launch – 
17th Sept 

Comms Team 

Posters Local 
businesses in 
Crosby 

Copy by 3rd 
Sept to 
allow for 
printing and 
distribution. 
To be 
distributed 
week 
commencing 
12th Sept. 

Comms Team 
to produce and 
STPI / Regen 
to arrange 
distribution 

Printed flyers Local 
Businesses 

Copy by 3rd 
Sept to 
allow for 
printing and 
distribution. 
To be 
distributed 
week 

Comms Team 
to produce and 
STPI/ Regen to 
arrange 
distribution 
through SDS 
(external 
supplier) 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 Agenda Item 7a 
 
  

3 
 

commencing 
12th Sept. 

Social Media All Throughout 
consultation 

Comms Team 

Press Release All 17th Sept Comms Team 

Cabinet and Ward Member Update CM and WM 3rd 
September 

STPI to send 
out a briefing 
by 3rd 
September 

Brief the Contact Centre for those whom wish to fill in 
the survey but have no access to the online content 
or accessibility problems.  

All 10th and 
again on 
17th 

STPI / Regen 

 

3.0 Analysis of feedback from consultation 

The consultation will end of the 29th October at which point all feedback will be assessed and 
YSYS will be utilised to produce an overarching report of the findings.  At interim points during the 
consultation the results from the workshops, results on YSYS and any feedback from emails or the 
Contact Centre. 
 
A report will be produced and a further CM and WM update will be produced with the report of the 
key findings attached.  In addition, a web article describing the key findings will be produce and 
feedback will be put on YSYS in the We asked / you said / we did (are doing) format. 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8 
 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 10th September 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity 

– Public Spaces Protection Order for Southport Railway Station and 
surrounding area  

 
Report of:  Simon Evans, ASB senior Practitioner, SMBC 

simon.evans2@sefton.gov.uk  
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To receive information with regard to the consultation plans being 

developed with regard to the Public Spaces Protection Order for 
Southport Railway Station 

 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 

is to coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and 
consultation, in accordance with the standards for engagement and 
consultation. 

 
3. Name of issue you are consulting on Public Spaces Protection Order for 

Southport Railway Station and surrounding area 
 

 3.1     These Area have been identified by Sefton ASB Unit, British Transport 
Police and Merseyside Police as areas in which is being used by 
people to drink Alcohol, Urinate and defecate, use threating and 
verbally abusive language towards others, to use the area to 
congregate and cause Anti-Social Behaviour and low-level crime. 
Within Southport Railway Station and entrances to Southport Railway 
Station. Within Southport Railway Station Car Park, Roads adjacent to 
the Railway station: Chapel Street, Tulketh Street London Road and 
including Lord Street. Please see Appendices 1. 
This order will be enforced by both Merseyside Police and Sefton 
Council and the order will establish the following prohibitions:  

 
➢ Not to consume alcohol in designated public spaces in order 
to  
             prevent Anti-Social Behaviour which has a detrimental effect 
on 
             the quality of life in the specified areas in the geographical 
areas 
             as listed 
 
➢ Not to congregate in groups of more than two people if an  

Page 35

Agenda Item 8

mailto:simon.evans2@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:simon.evans2@sefton.gov.uk


Agenda Item 8 
 

2 

 

             authorised officer believes that the grouping could lead to 
Anti- 
             Social Behaviour or Low-Level Crime 
 
 
 
➢  Not to use offensive and or aggressive language that may 
have 
              a detrimental effect upon other users within the designated  
              areas 

 
➢  Not to use the area to defecate or Urinate 

 
 

4.    The Consultation 
 
 4.1 The Consolation will commence on the 14/9/21 until 1/10/21. This will 

be advertised with the questionnaire on the Sefton Council Website. 
We will engage with following partners directly: 

                   The Police and Crime Commissioner for Merseyside, Merseyside 
Police, British Transport Police Merseyside, Southport Operational 
Group, Sefton CVS, Local Housing Associations, Light for Life, Local 
Business’s/Chambers of Commerce, Local Residents, Sefton legal 
services and Rail Service users 

 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 
 
        5.1        How and when do you intend to report or publish the findings? – We 
will  
                     publish the finding via SMBC Web site on the Anti-Social Behaviour  
                     Page 
 
 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.  
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 

Public Spaces Protection Order for Southport Railway Station 
and surrounding areas 

 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above 
consultation. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 8



Agenda Item 8 
 

3 

 

Communication Strategy: 

This will be led by Simon Evans ASB Senior Practitioner, Professional groups and 
community groups will be contact via e-mail with the PSPO Questionnaire and the 
questionnaire and explanatory notes will be made available on SMBC web site 
ASB Page and advertised via partners. 

 

Please double click to open 

PSPO Consultation 

21.docx
Item 8a Uploaded 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



PSPO Consultation for Southport Railway Station and surrounding area 
 

August/September 2021 
 
 

Consultation will take place via the following partnership meetings and Sefton Councils consultation and engagement process  
 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Merseyside, Merseyside Police, British Transport Police Merseyside, Southport 
Operational Group, Sefton CVS, Local Housing Associations, Light for Life, Local Business’s/Chambers of Commerce, Local 
Residents and Rail Service users via direct e-mail and via SMBC ASB Web page 

 
This order will be enforced by Merseyside Police/ British Transport Police and Sefton Council and the order will establish the 
following prohibitions not to: 

 
➢ Not to consume alcohol in designated public spaces in order to prevent Anti-Social Behaviour which has a detrimental effect 

on the quality of life in the specified areas in the geographical areas as listed 
 

➢ Not to congregate in groups of more than two people if an authorised officer believes that the grouping could lead to Anti-
Social Behaviour or Low-Level Crime 

 
➢ Not to use offensive and or aggressive language that may have a detrimental effect upon other users within the designated 

areas 
 
➢ Not to use the area to defecate or Urinate 
➢ To surrender alcohol when requested by an Authorised Officer  

 
 
The restricted areas include: 

 
Within Southport Railway Station and entrances to Southport Railway Station. Within Southport Railway Station Car Park, 
Roads adjacent to the Railway station: Chapel Street, Tulketh Street London Road and including Lord Street. 

 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8



Southport:  
 

Anti-Social Behaviour and low-level crime has increased over the last two years in and around Southport Railway. Merseyside 
Police/British Transport Police and Sefton Council require effective tools to deal with the issues. 

 
Orders can be introduced in a specific public area where the Local Authority is satisfied on reasonable grounds that certain 
conditions have been met, such as whether the activities concerned have or would have a detrimental effect on the quality of life 
of those in the locality, and that they are or likely to be persistent or continuing in nature, and are justified.   

 
A PSPO can give Authorised SMBC Officers and Merseyside and British Transport Police Officers/PCSO’s the power to issue a 
Fixed Penalty Notice to those causing anti-Social Behaviour, and or Low-Level Crime in the designated area.  

 
PSPO’s are designed to stop individuals and or groups committing anti-social behaviour (ASB) in a public space and are intended 
to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by 
imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone. They are designed to ensure the law-abiding majority can 
use and enjoy public spaces, safe from Crime and Anti-Social behaviour.  

 
The Council can make a PSPO after consultation with the Police and Crime Commissioner and other relevant bodies such as 
Elected Members and residents. 

 
The Test Behaviour being restricted has to be having, or be likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality, be persistent or of a continuing nature and be unreasonable. 

 
Restrictions and requirements are set by the Council after consultation with many partners, including residents and businesses. 
These can be blanket restrictions and/or requirements or can be targeted against certain behaviours, by certain groups, at certain 
times. The PSPO can restrict access to public spaces (including certain types of highway) where that route is being used to 
commit anti-social behaviour. 

 
The PSPO can be enforced by a Police/British Transport Officer, Police Community Support Officers and Council officers. There 
is a penalty for a breach of the PSPO of a fixed penalty notice of £50 if paid within 10 days, rising to £75 thereafter. A breach is 
also a criminal offence. A fine of up to level 3 can be issued on prosecution if the offence is not discharged by paying the fixed 
penalty. 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 8



 
Anyone who lives in, or regularly works in or visits the area can appeal the making of a PSPO in the High Court within six weeks 
of it coming into effect Further appeal is available each time the PSPO is varied by the Council. More than one restriction can be 
added to the same PSPO, meaning that a single PSPO can deal with a wider range of behaviours than the orders it replaces 

 
The PSPO will be live for an initial period of three years. At the end of this time consultation will take place to establish if the PSPO 
has been successful and should be implemented for another further three-year period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 8



 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 8



 
Consultation Questions 

 
 

Q: Do You Live or Work in the designated areas, please insert your Post Code: 
  

 
➢ Not to consume alcohol in designated public spaces in order to prevent Anti-Social Behaviour which has a detrimental effect 

on the quality of life in the specified areas in the geographical areas as listed 
 

➢  Not to congregate in groups of more than two people if an authorised officer believes that the grouping could lead to Anti-
Social Behaviour or Low-Level Crime 

 
➢  Not to use offensive and or aggressive language that may have a detrimental effect upon other users within the designated 

areas 
 

➢  Not to use the area to defecate or Urinate 
 
Answer: 

 
Q: Do you feel the restrictions in these areas would help to alleviant Anti Social Behaviour and low-level crime in the designated 
Area ? 

 
Answer: 
 
Possible conditions of the PSPO 

I support this action because? 
 
I don’t support this action because?  

 
 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 8



3. Are there any other things you would like to see included in a PSPO which you think are detrimental to life in the Designated 
areas: 
 
4. Do you have any other comment to make about the PSPO? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DIVERSITY MONITORING 
By law, we must not discriminate against anyone. The information that you give here  
helps us to make sure that we are fair and unbiased. These details are confidential and will not be used for any other purpose but 
recording. Please tell us how you think of yourself.  
 
Gender 

Are you: Female ☐ Male ☐ 

Ethnicity Are you: 
 
Asian 

Bangladeshi ☐ Chinese ☐ Indian ☐ 

Pakistani ☐ Vietnamese ☐ Other ☐ 

Please specify if other 
Black 

Caribbean ☐ African ☐ Somali ☐ 

Other ☐ 

Please specify if other Mixed/duel Heritage 
 

 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 8



White & Asian ☐ White & Black African ☐ 

White & Black Caribbean ☐ Other ☐ 

English ☐ Irish ☐ Scottish ☐ 

Welsh ☐ Other ☐ 

 
Please specify if other Disability 
 

Do you consider yourself to be disabled person? Yes ☐ No ☐ 

 
Under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 a person is considered to have a disability if he/she has a physical or mental 
impairment which has a sustained and long-term adverse effect on his/her ability to carry out normal day to day activities. 
 
Sexual Orientation 
 
How would you define your sexual orientation? 

Bisexual ☐ Heterosexual ☐ 

Gay ☐ Lesbian ☐ 

 
Age 
 
Or alternatively, the following age banding: 

0-4 ☐ 5-11 ☐ 

12-19 ☐ 20-25 ☐ 

26-34 ☐ 35-43 ☐ 

44-52 ☐ 53-59 ☐ 

60-64 ☐ 65+ ☐ 

 
Religion/Belief 
 
What is your religious belief? 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 8



Buddhist ☐ Christian ☐ Hindu ☐ 

Jewish ☐ Muslim ☐ Sikh ☐ 

No Religion ☐ Other religious beliefs  

(specify) 
 
The information which you provide on this form will be kept in accordance with the  
Data Protection Act 1998 and used for the purposes of monitoring 
 
 
 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 8



Agenda Item 9 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 10th September 2021  
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity 

– School Street and School Neighbourhood Projects Across Sefton 
 
Report of:  Lee Davies 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To receive information with regard to the consultation plans being 

developed with regard to the School Street and School 
Neighbourhood Projects across Sefton 

 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 

is to coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and 
consultation, in accordance with the standards for engagement and 
consultation. 

 
3. School Street and School Neighbourhood Project 
 
 3.1 Central to the development of the project includes working with the 

whole school community, and residents of the local communities to 
explore experiences relating to the journey to school.   This is very much 
a collaborative experience which will also highlight wider opportunities 
to facilitate independent travel to school by pupils and staff.  The project 
is collaborative and will follow similar principals in terms of engagement 
as the Southport Liveable Neighbourhood Project.    

 
 3.2 The project development methodology has been detailed below 
 
  Inception  
  During Inception Sustrans will agree the geographic scope of the project 

area, meet with the school, develop a communications strategy and set 
out the delivery timeframe and parameters.  

 
  Project Start 
  Sustrans will begin to build a picture of the project area by undertaking 

the following; analysis of existing data, observation of people and traffic 
movement, start stakeholder and asset mapping.  In addition, starting 
conversations with local councillors through walkabouts and street 
audits, and develop engagement materials based on knowledge of the 
local area and obstacles.  

 
  Awareness 
  Sustrans will start engaging with pupils, parents and residents. The 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

2 

 

project will be launched in assemblies, parent coffee mornings, 
playground and school-gate pop-ups. We will also use mail-outs to 
residents, posters, drop-in sessions, and meetings with the school 
council to further engage the whole school community.  

 
  Big Street Survey and classroom interventions 
  Sustrans’ Big Street Survey is an exciting free curriculum resource 

enabling pupils to investigate the streets that make up their journey to 
school and create a manifesto on how to make their streets safer and 
greener. This can be led by a Sustrans Officer or a teacher.  

 
  Trial ‘School Street’ day(s) 
  The trail tests and creates appetite for a longer-term School Street, 

through demonstration of how low traffic and active travel benefit 
children, residents, parents and teachers during the school run.   This 
element of the project involves planning with the School Council; 
Council meetings and briefings; training for school staff to support the 
event and planning stages.  Sustrans team will deliver activities on the 
day to activate the space; a final Discovery Report to feedback 
perception analysis and provide recommendations to the school and 
local authority. 

 
 
4.    The Consultation 
 
 4.1 In July 2020, the Department of Transport published Gear Change – A 

bold vision for cycling and walking, which provides a cycling and walking 
plan for England. The Plan states that ‘We want – and need – to see a 
step-change in cycling and walking in the coming years. The challenge 
is huge, but the ambition is clear. We have a unique opportunity to 
transform the role cycling and walking can play in our transport system, 
and get England moving differently’. 

 
 4.2 The plan explains the reasons for the need for change, confirming that 

increasing cycling and walking can help tackle some of the most 
challenging issues that society faces. Gear Change is split into four 
main themes one of which is ‘Better streets for cycling and people’. 
Amongst the many measures suggested in Gear Change the use of a 
school streets approach is specifically identified. The guidance states 
‘School streets will help to discourage parents driving to school to drop 
off children through the temporary closure of streets during drop off and 
pick-up times.  Encouraging independent travel to school by pupils also 
helps to address key health issues such as obesity and pollution.   

 
 4.4   We are now 1 year on from the publication of Gear Change and the 

Government have published an update document.  This update 
document provides an overview of School Streets and across England 
hundreds of school streets have been implemented and they 
dramatically improved pollution and safety risks to pupils and led to 
significant rises in the number of children cycling and walking to school.   

Page 48

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

3 

 

  
 4.5 The programme for Sefton includes 3 school streets / school 

neighbourhood projects which have been funded from the Governments 
Active Travel funding - Greenbank High School, Birkdale High School, 
Stanley High School all in Southport.  In addition, Sefton Council are 
also progressing School Street projects within the Southport Liveable 
Neighbourhood Project which is being delivered by Sustrans.  

 
 4.6 This report sets out our approach for engagement on the school streets 

project which Sustrans have been commissioned to deliver on our 
behalf.   This work will follow the principles of the Southport Liveable 
Neighbourhood project, in terms of community engagement in co-
discovery, co-design etc with the whole school community.  

 
 4.7 The communications plan (subject to approval by each school) will 

include the following;  

• Letter to Residents from the School  

• Letter to Parents from the school 

• Residents Meeting  

• Parents Pop up event 

• Residents letter 

• School Street Closure Trial / Street Design Trial - including resident 
and parent surveys during the trial 

 
 4.8 A report will be present to the Public Engagement and Consultation 

Panel with a review of how the project went. The results of the 
engagement along with project information will be included on the 
Sustrans Project Hub (there will be a bespoke hub for each project).   

 
   
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

5.1     The final report will be published on the Sefton Council website and we 
hope the school involved in the project will also publish the findings on 
their website too.   

 
 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.  
 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  

a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 
School Street and School Neighbourhood Projects 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

4 

 

 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above 
consultation. 

 

Page 50

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 10 
 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 10th September 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity 

– Sefton’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Strategy 

 
Report of:  Michelle Barnes – Green Sefton Lead Flood and Coastal Erosion 

Risk Management Officer 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To receive information on the consultation plans being developed with 

regard to the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy. 
 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 

is to ensure the coordination and quality of any process of public 
engagement and consultation is in accordance with the standards set 
for engagement and consultation. 

 
3. Name of Issue you are Consulting On 
 

3.1 The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established 
Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) making it 
responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of 
the FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor 
a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and it must consult with the 
public on its plans. 

 

4.    The Consultation 
 

4.1 The consultation will ask key stakeholders if The Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy and accompanying Business Plan: 

• Provides an appropriate context in relation to flood and erosion 
risk across Sefton 

• Outlines a clear purpose 

• Clearly defines the roles and responsibilities of those involved in 
flood and erosion risk management 

• Defines the actions that will be undertaken by Sefton Council 
and other key stakeholders in the management of flood and 
coastal erosion risk.   

 
Key stakeholders include statutory consultees, other risk management 
authorities, riparian owners, and the local community. It is vital to 
consult with key stakeholders as flood and erosion events can affect 

Page 51

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10 
 

2 

 

not only those living in high-risk areas but also transport networks, 
educational premises, critical infrastructure and local businesses. 
Consequently, the local strategy and business plan should convey the 
complex nature of flood and coastal erosion risk management in an 
informative and accessible way. The process of public consultation 
gives stakeholders an opportunity to  to provide feedback on the local 
strategy and business plan.    

 
The consultation will run from the 11th September 2021 to the 15th 
November 2021. The consultation process will involve an online 
survey which will be posted on social media, included in press 
releases and forwarded to contacts in existing community and 
volunteer networks. Paper copies will also be provided on request. 

 
   
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

5.1        All findings will be published on Sefton Council’s website and via 
social 

            media platforms in December 2021. A link to the final report will be  
            published and a notification will be sent to all those who participated 

in  
            the consultation process. 

 
 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton Council’s Legal Department has considered the consultation 

plans contained in this report and has no comments to make.  
 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 

Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above 
consultation. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10a 

1 

 

Questionnaire LFRS and Business Plan consultation 
 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council 
as a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management 
of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, 
maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and it must 
consult with the public on its plans. 
 
We would like your views on Sefton’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy and accompanying Business Plan to ensure the document: 

• Provides an appropriate context in relation to flood and erosion risk across 
Sefton 

• Outlines a clear purpose 

• Clearly defines the roles and responsibilities of those involved in flood and 
erosion risk management 

• Defines the actions that will be undertaken by Sefton Council and other key 
stakeholders in the management of flood and coastal erosion risk  

 
About you – Are you: 
 
Sefton Resident 
Local Business 
Organisation 
Other 
 
Please tell us the first part of your postcode (i.e. PR9) 
…………………………………………………….. 
 
Is the purpose of the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Strategy and Business Plan clearly stated? (Please circle) 
 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
Do you find the legislative context useful? (Please circle) 
 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 

 

Is the Strategy and Business Plan clearly aligned to National, regional and 
local plans and strategies including Sefton’s Vision 2030? (Please circle) 

 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
After reading the strategy do you better understand flood and coastal 
erosion risk in the borough? (Please circle) 

 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10a 

2 

 

 
Does the strategy clearly explain who is responsible for managing flood and 
coastal erosion risk? (Please circle) 

 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
After reading the strategy are you more aware of the challenges of managing 
flood and coastal risk in the borough? (Please circle) 

 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
Are you happy with the proposed level of monitoring and reviewing of the 
Strategy and Business Plan? (Please circle) 

 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
Does the Business Plan clearly set out the actions the Council aims to 
undertake to manage flood and coastal erosion risk? (Please circle) 

 
Yes  No  Don’t Know 
 
  

Privacy Notice and Equality Monitoring Questions 
 
All Equality Monitoring questions are optional. You can complete as much or as 
little as you wish. 
 
Privacy Notice 
 
How we will use your data 
 
We thank you for participating in this consultation and we value your contribution. 
Any personal information that you provide to the Council as part of this 
consultation will be handled and used in compliance with the principles of the 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU2016/679). Regardless of whether it is 
electronic or on paper it will be stored and processed securely and deleted after 
12 months. 
 
 
The lawful basis on why we use this data 
 
 We collect and use this personal information under the lawful basis of public task 
(processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public 
interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller). 
 
The Council also asks the equality monitoring questions to help it comply with the 
Equality Act 2010 to help us understand who is responding to the survey and to 
help us ensure that there is equality of opportunity for protected groups of people. 
 
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10a 

3 

 

Confidentiality of data 
 
Your contributions will be anonymised on receipt and your comments will then be 
used for research and consultation purposes. Your identity and contact details will 
not be published by us at any stage without your consent. 
 
Requesting access to your personal data 
 
You have the right to: 
 

• Object to processing of personal data that is likely to cause, or is causing 
damage or distress 

• Prevent processing for the purposes of direct marketing 

• Object to decisions being taken by automated means 

• In certain circumstances, have inaccurate personal data rectified, blocked, 
erased or destroyed; and 

• The right to lodge a complaint with the supervisory authority (the 
Information Commissioner’s Office) 

• Withdraw consent for the processing 
 
For more information, please contact Catherine Larkin, Data 
Protection Officer at: 
E-mail: ino.information@sefton.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0345 140 0845 
 
 
 
Officer contact: 
The contact for this consultation is 
Michelle.Barnes@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Do you agree for us to use your personal data in this way? 
Yes 
No 
 
How old are you? 
16-17 
18-29 
30-39 
40-49 
50-59 
60-69 
70-79 
80-84 
85+ 
Prefer not to say 
 
Are you: 
A man 
A woman 

Page 55

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10a 

4 

 

Prefer not to say 
 
Relationships (also called sexual orientation) Are you: 
Heterosexual 
Bisexual 
Lesbian 
Gay 
Prefer not to say 
 
Do you live in the gender you were given at birth? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 
Ethnicity - I am: 
Asian - Indian 
Asian - Pakistani 
Asian - Other 
Black - African 
Black - British 
Black - Caribbean 
Black - Other 
Chinese 
Chinese - Other 
Mixed Background - Asian & White 
Mixed Background - Black African & White 
Mixed Background - Black Caribbean & White 
Mixed Background - Other 
White - British 
White - English 
White - Irish 
White - Scottish 
White - Welsh 
White - Polish 
White – Latvian 
 
If White - Other, please tell us what here: 
 
Please select only one item 
 
Something else - please say what in the box below 
Gypsy / Traveller 
White Other 
I would prefer not to say 
 
Do you have a religion or belief? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 

Page 56

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10a 

5 

 

Do you have any disabilities? 
No 
I would prefer not to say 
Mental health problems 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Asperger's Syndrome 
Problems with my hearing 
Problems seeing 
I have difficulty walking or moving about, or I use a wheelchair 
An illness that affects your daily living on a long term basis (eg, diabetes, heart 
disease, cancer) 
 
Please select only one item 
If you have ticked any of the above boxes to say you have a disability or if you 
have HIV, cancer or diabetes, then you would be classed as “disabled” under the 
Equality Act 2010. Do you think of yourself as being disabled? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 
 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10b 

1 

 

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management in Sefton 
Communications plan 2021/22 

 
Background 
 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local 
Flood Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Flooding 
events can have devastating environmental, social and economic impacts. It is 
not often economically feasible or even desirable to prevent all forms of flooding in all 
locations. Therefore, Sefton Council uses its powers as an LLFA to reduce either the likelihood or 
the consequences of flooding and works with other flood risk management authorities to ensure all 
powers and duties are being enacted. One of Sefton Councils primary duties, under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, is to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The 
Strategy and accompanying Business Plan, which sets out Sefton Council’s future actions for 
managing flood risk, must also be put forward for public consultation.  
 
Flooding can be caused by a number of different sources and so there are designated risk 
management authorities that are responsible for these different forms of 
flooding. However, flooding can also be the result of a complex interplay of sources meaning flood 
risk management authorities must work collaboratively to reduce and prevent flood 
impacts (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020).     
 
‘Local Flood Risk’ specifically refers to flooding from ordinary watercourses, groundwater and 
surface water.  
 
Sefton has experienced several significant flooding and erosion events over recent decades. The 
borough is within a low-lying pumped catchment which contains three estuaries, a canal and is 
bordered by the Irish Sea – all these factors place Sefton at risk of flooding and erosion. 
 
The borough is also faced with several challenges that exacerbate the current risk of flooding 
further: 

• Climate change 

• Predominant Surface water risk 

• Rising groundwater levels 

• Ageing infrastructure 

• Coastline dynamics 
 
This plan outlines the key messages around managing flood risk, when these key messages should 
be delivered and what platforms should be used for delivery.  
 

Aims and Objectives 
 
The overarching aim of the Communication Plan is to ensure we are fully engaged with key 
audiences (both internal and external). We want our audience to be aware of the risks posed by 
flooding and coastal erosion, to understand the management plans put in place by the Council to 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

2 

 

reduce the risk and to have knowledge of the simple actions that can be taken to reduce personal 
risk from flooding.   
 
Objectives: 

 
• Ensure Sefton residents, particularly those at higher risk, are made aware of the risks they 

face from flooding and/or erosion. 
 

• Inform residents at strategic moments in the year on what personal actions they can take to 
reduce their risk of flooding and how these can be achieved.  
 

• Use our Strategic Flood Working Group to promote and encourage dialogue with residents 
and elected members so that concerns can be addressed promptly.  
 

• Inform residents about the ongoing small-scale and large-scale work undertaken by Sefton 
Council to reduce flood and erosion risk.  

 

• Provide information to our residents about the roles and responsibilities of Sefton Council 
and other risk management authorities whilst highlighting the personal responsibilities 
residents have in managing flood risk. 

 

Key Stakeholders & Target Audiences 
 

Internal stakeholders External stakeholders 
 

External audience 
 

• Green Sefton/ 
Localities Officers 
responsible for flood 
risk 

• Highways 

• Planning 

• Emergency planning 

• Finance  

• Elected members – 
Cabinet, Committee 
and Ward Councillors 

• United Utilities 

• Environment Agency 

• Riparian owners 

• Developers   

• NW Regional flood and 
Coastal Committee 

• NW Coastal Groups 

• Merseyside FCERM 
Partnership 

• Other partners as 
necessary – Town and 
Parish Councils, Fire, 
Police, Flood Hub etc. 
 

• All Sefton residents 

• Visitors 

• Commuters 

• Businesses 

• Specific 
neighbourhoods in 
flood risk areas 

• Community groups – 
including on social 
media 

• Local and regional press 

• Specialist media – with 
a focus on the 
environment/ flood risk 
 

 

Key Messages to Communicate 
 

• Flood risk is a serious issue and Green Sefton is dedicated to finding both short- and long-
term solutions that will help to reduce risk across Sefton. However, it is important to note 

Page 60

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

3 

that it is not always feasible or desirable to prevent all forms of flooding or coastal erosion 
and that we must live with some level of risk. 

• Sefton Council, alongside its partners, recognises that flood risk is a dynamically evolving
process and we, therefore, need to be alert to new sources of funding and actively drive
investment into flood risk management across the Sefton Borough.

• In order to identify meaningful solutions to flood and coastal erosion risk we must work
collaboratively with our partners and residents. By working collaboratively, we aim to
identify actions that can be taken both individually and collectively to reduce the risk to our
communities.

• The Sefton Council flooding webpages have been updated recently and contain more
information on flooding and coastal erosion in the borough -  www.sefton.gov.uk/flooding.

• The North West Flood Hub website provides a one stop shop for all information and advice
regarding flooding and coastal erosion risk - The Flood Hub.

• Sefton Council’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Strategy outlines the current and
future risks across Sefton. The strategy details the challenges that currently exacerbate
flood risk and provides information on the actions that will be undertaken to reduce it. Have
your say on the draft plans at Sefton Council - Citizen Space.

• Floods happen. Be prepared. Know what to do before, during and after a flood. Household

Flood Planning Toolkit | The Flood Hub or 
Floodleaflet_update.c

ompressed.pdf

• The coast is changing. Always has and always will.
Timeline of Seftons 

Changing Coast.pdf

• The Council does not have a duty to provide sand bags to protect your home or business. Be
prepared if you live in a flood risk area. You can check your flood risk here: Check the long
term flood risk for an area in England - GOV.UK (flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk)

• Sign up for flood warnings in your area: Sign up for flood warnings - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

• Check if there are any flood warnings issued in your area: Flood warnings for England -
GOV.UK (flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk)

• Did you know you can check live river levels here: River and sea levels in England - GOV.UK
(flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk)

Uploaded 10bi

Uploaded 10bii

Page 61

Agenda Item 10

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/flooding
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/
https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/household-flood-planning-toolkit/
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/household-flood-planning-toolkit/
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk?_ga=2.183350626.519019878.1623668158-992371834.1605086525
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk?_ga=2.183350626.519019878.1623668158-992371834.1605086525
https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/warnings
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/warnings
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/river-and-sea-levels
https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/river-and-sea-levels


Agenda Item 10b 

4 

 

• Detailed weather maps with the latest rainfall radar can be found here: Liverpool weather 
forecast map - Met Office 

 

• Simple steps can be used to help reduce personal flood risk. By removing leaves and debris 
from your drains and grids it can help to prevent blockages which could cause localised 
flooding after a period of heavy rain. 

 
 

Communications Channels 
 

Internal 
 

External 

• One council brief 

• Yammer 

• Intranet News Items 

• Dwayne’s blogs  

• UU & EA own internal channels 

• Social media – free and paid for, 
including creative video and visual ideas 

• Media liaison - proactive and reactive 
press releases and interview 
opportunities 

• Media advertising/ marketing – can be 
explored if given a budget 

• Leaflets/ posters/ banners – if required 
and if given a budget 

• Signage artwork support – for use when 
Council officers are physically out 
undertaking works, subject to budget 

• Sefton Council website – dedicated 
Strategic Flood Working Group page 
and content review 

• My Sefton news site articles 

• UU & EA own external channels and 
media contacts  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62

Agenda Item 10

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/public/weather/forecast/map/gcmzggpxq#?map=CloudAndRain&fcTime=1623711600&zoom=8&lon=-2.99&lat=53.41
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/public/weather/forecast/map/gcmzggpxq#?map=CloudAndRain&fcTime=1623711600&zoom=8&lon=-2.99&lat=53.41


Agenda Item 10b 

5 

 

 
Timeline & Communications Activity  
 
Communications have already begun as a result of the Statement of Intent being published in 
March 2021. A timeline for the next 12 months has been suggested around key projects and 
milestones that could offer strategic moments to inform and engage Sefton residents.   
 

Date Channel 
 

Audience Message 

September 
 

13th Sept 
2021 

Press release Local and regional media Publicising the 
consultation of the 
LFRMS and Business 
Plan link to your 
Sefton your say 
website and easy 
read flyer  

My Sefton news 
website  

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Publicising the 
consultation  

Council social media Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Publicising the 
consultation 

Council website – 
Flooding Advice & 
Drainage, Coastal 
Erosion and Flood 
Prevention pages  

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Publicising the 
consultation 

Intranet All Sefton Council staff Publicising the 
consultation 

UU & EA UU & EA followers and media 
contacts 

Publicising the 
consultation 

On-going Flood Hub website 
and social media 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising the 
consultation and any 
awareness campaigns 
for the month led by 
flood hub 

Mid Sept Webpages – update 
flooding webpages on 
sefton.gov.uk  

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ 
media/Council staff/ 
Councillors/partners 

New content 
released 

End of 
Sept 

Social media/website 
-Leaflet to Maghull 
residents 

Residents in flood warning areas  Publicising the 
release of a leaflet to 
Maghull residents 
about the continuing 
work partners are 
doing in the area. 
(Led by the EA)  

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

6 

 

End of 
Sept 

Social media - 
Regional Monitoring 
programme survey 
season commences 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ 
media/Council staff/ 
Councillors/partners 

Publicising the 
regional monitoring 
programme, surveys 
that will be done and 
why. Pictures of the 
surveys? 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

October 
 

On-going 
 

Social media -Sharing 
FAQ’s 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Sharing relevant and 
frequently asked 
questions and 
answers, providing 
updates and having 
an easy to navigate 
resource for people 
to access everything 
they need to know in 
relation to flooding 

On-going Flood hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

Page 64

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

7 

 

November 
 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

December 
 

20th Dec Social media Council 
Shutdown 

partners/community/visitors/media Who to contact /how 
to report an 
event/incident during 
lockdown 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

January 
 

w/c 19th  
 

Press/social 
media/residents/flood 
hub/partners -one 
year of from Storm 
Christoph 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ 
media/Council staff/ 
Councillors/partners 

Share update on 
progress since the 
event 12 months on 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

8 

 

w/c 26th  Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

End of Jan Press release Adoption of LFCERMS Publicising final 
version and adopted 
by Council 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

February 
 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

March 
 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

Page 66

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

9 

 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

April 
 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

May 
 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

June 
 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Video content – Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

10 

 

Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

July 
 

On-going Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

August 

w/c 13th Social media – rain 
alert warnings  

Local people/ media Shared social media 
weather content re: 
flood preparedness 
etc. from EA/ Met 
Office/ Flood Hub 

On-going Social media Flood 
hub awareness 
campaigns 

Regional 
partners/community/visitors/media 

Publicising awareness 
campaigns (Led by 
flood hub) 

On-going Video content – 
Council and partner 
real life faces to 
feature 

Local people/ Sefton visitors/ media Creatively engage 
Sefton communities 
about what we’re 
doing and what they 
can do to help 
manage flood risk 
(works, 
project/maintenance) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

11 

 

 
Projects that could be used to promote the FCERM team and engage with the community: 
 
Sefton Council led 
 
Works this financial year – 2021/22 

• Highway works in Maghull – kerb drainage and kerb realignment. Capital funding still to be 
approved by Cabinet Member and details of locations to be assessed. This financial year 
before winter. Lead officer – Graham Lymbery. 
 

• Highway drainage maintenance – co-ordinated works in Formby with UU. No dates as yet 
but would be good to get done over summer. Lead officer – Graham Lymbery. 
 

• Ditch maintenance programme – watercourses in Council ownership and other strategic 
watercourse as part of the maintenance programme. Lead officer - Michelle Barnes.  
 

• Investigations into systems where there are problems or due on the programme. Lead 
officer - Michelle Barnes.  
 

• Surface Water Management Plan level 2 – update surface water flood risk modelling in 
Maghull, Bootle, Crosby and Formby. Lead officer Paul Wisse.  
 

• Boosting action for surface water – update surface water flood risk modelling in Hightown, 
Ainsdale through to Southport. Lead officer - Paul Wisse.  
 

• Regional Monitoring Programme – update on progress 
 

• SMP – Update on progress 
 

• Planning apps – number responded to/approved to go ahead (Majors) 
 

• Funding bids - Announcing bidding for and outcome of bids 
 

 
Future works TBC 

• The Pool – start 2023 – Lead officer Paul Wisse 

• Crosby Coastal Defences – start 2027 – Lead officer Paul Wisse 

• Maghull - Fouracres 
 
Possible awareness raising campaigns 

• Clearing of leaves 

• Reducing your own rain water discharge 

• When to report flooding and to whom 

• Flood warnings 

• High tides 

• Flood planning 

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

12 

 

• SMP 

• Regional monitoring programme 
 
Supporting material on website 

• FAQs 

• How do gullies work 

• Responsibilities for watercourses 

• Major project details – The Pool and Crosby 
 
Environment Agency led 
 

• Newsletter – the Environment Agency Engagement Team produce newsletters with other 
LAs so could look to produce something similar with regular updates on joint work driven by 
the working group.  

 
United Utilities led 
 

• TBC 
 
General joint awareness 
 

• Key awareness dates to be added 

 
Evaluation 
 
The impact of the Communications Plan will be evaluated through a variety of methods which will 
depend upon the platform used to relay the information. Methods include analysing and collating 
the following:  
 

• Anecdotal feedback, comments or complaints lodged through Green Sefton, the Contact 
Centre or community meetings/forums. The aim is for residents to feel informed and, 
therefore, more confident in the actions being taken by the council to protect their 
homes/businesses from flooding. 
 

• Messages in the media (positive/negative/balanced) – fair reporting on the efforts being 
made to reduce flood risk and coverage on both the everyday work and the larger scale 
projects. 

 

• Comments on social media (positive/negative/balanced) – social media analytics i.e. reach, 
comments, shares, re-tweets, compare organic with boosted/targeted posts to demonstrate 
we’ve reached a wide and varied audience. 
 

• Website analytics – an increase in traffic to flooding/ working group webpages would imply 
that people have spent time familiarising themselves with flooding advice and the work 
being undertaken by the council/our partners. 
 

Page 70

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10b 

13 

 

  

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 73

Agenda Item 10



Page 74

Agenda Item 10



Page 75

Agenda Item 10



Page 76

Agenda Item 10



Page 77

Agenda Item 10



Page 78

Agenda Item 10



Page 79

Agenda Item 10



Page 80

Agenda Item 10



Page 81

Agenda Item 10



Page 82

Agenda Item 10



Page 83

Agenda Item 10



Page 84

Agenda Item 10



Page 85

Agenda Item 10



Page 86

Agenda Item 10



Page 87

Agenda Item 10



Page 88

Agenda Item 10



Sefton’s
Changing Coastline

A Timeline of

Page 89

Agenda Item 10



Editorial Welcome
The Sefton coast is changing; it always has and
always will. This magazine highlights some of the
important evidence of how our coast has changed
over time.

The timeline presented explores a sequence of key
events of coastal change from as far back as 22,000
years ago through to the present day; and onwards
to our best guess of how the coast may continue to
change 100 years into the future, and how the
current management of the coast is looking to plan
as far ahead as possible.

The articles focus on the changes that have taken
place in how people have used and valued the
coast. You will see how, over time, the coast has
also naturally changed and how communities and
users of the coast have adapted to these changes as
a way of life and how we may adapt to further
changes in the future, especially in the light of an
ever changing climate.

However old or young you may be, the coastline
will have changed in your lifetime, and it will
continue to do so, hopefully for the better. We
hope that you will find this magazine interesting
and informative and that it will inspire you to
rekindle and share your memories of our very
special coastline.

Formby beach sediments. © Dave McAleavy Page 90

Agenda Item 10



Acknowledgements
We would like to thank those who have
contributed images and articles to this
magazine and whose initials will appear
next to articles throughout the text:
Christine Bennett (CB), Ken Bridge (KB),
Andrew Brockbank (AB),
Ron Cowell (RC), Mike Downey (MD),
Dr. Vanessa Holden (VH),
John Houston (JH), Dr. Jennifer Lewis (JL),
Dave McAleavy (DM), Will Moody (WM),
John Mulliner (JM), Michelle Newton (MN),
Dr. Phillip Smith (PS), Fiona Sunners (FS),
Gordon White (GW), Lee Whittle (LW)
and Dr. Reg Yorke (RY).

Editors:
Dr. Vanessa Holden Edge Hill University
Michelle Newton Sefton Council

Design & Print
Custom Print Limited
13-23 Naylor Street,
Liverpool L3 6DR
Printed on recycled paper from sustainable
forests

All enquiries and correspondence
should be directed to:
Michelle Newton
Sefton Council
The Ainsdale Discovery Centre
The Promenade, Shore Road
Ainsdale-on-Sea
Southport
PR8 2QB
Email: michelle.newton@sefton.gov.uk
Tel: 0151 934 2960

Front Cover Image. Devil’s Hole
© Dave McAleavy

This magazine has been funded by European Regional Development Funding through an Interreg IVB project called IMCORE (Innovative
Management of Europe’s Changing COastal REsource).

Ordnance Survey mapping included within this publication is provided by Sefton Council under licence from Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its
public function to support coastal monitoring. Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they
wish to licence Ordnance Survey for their own use. ©Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Sefton Council License Number 1000181192 2011.

3

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



4

1
Pre-History

2
Pre-History

22,000 Years Ago to…

As recently as 12,000 years ago, the area was
in the grip of a mini Ice Age and resembled
parts of the arctic today. We have no evidence

of people living locally until after this when the look
of the countryside began to change dramatically. The
arctic-type grassland disappeared and so did the
herd animals, such as horse and reindeer that had
lived then. In its place, woodland spread almost
everywhere along with animals such as deer, aurochs
(extinct wild cattle) and wild boar. 

The first people in the region lived as nomadic
hunter-gatherers, in what is known as the Mesolithic
period. They relied totally on wild animals and plants
for food and other materials. The earliest known
people in this region lived about 10,000 years ago,
on the Wirral. Then, with the much lower sea levels
it would have been possible to walk across essentially
dry land from the Wirral to Sefton. In the Sefton
coastal area there are many sites belonging to
hunter-gatherers, although we do not know of any
quite as early as this. Most may be perhaps 6,000-
8,000 years old, although we cannot yet date any
precisely. Their camps have been recognized from
spreads of stone tools in modern fields in places such
as Little Crosby, Ince Blundell and Halsall. RC

At the height of the last ice age, 22,000
years ago, a sheet of ice, up to 400 metres
thick, covered the region.  Locally, the

immense power of the ice helped create and shape
the landscape. Britain was joined to Ireland and
Europe and looked unrecognizable. The Irish Sea
and the present River Mersey did not exist. 

About 18,000 years ago the vast ice sheet began to
melt and the climate warmed. The meltwater
formed the Irish Sea as more and more land was
flooded and sea level rose. Sea level rise was
relatively rapid between about 10,000 to 7,800
years ago and slowed down thereafter. By about
8,400 years ago it was probably high enough to
have reached the mouth of the Mersey, making it
tidal for the first time. The earliest evidence for a
‘Sefton coast’ close to the line of today is about
6,800 years ago, when sand dunes started forming
offshore. RC

Prehistoric
Global Warming

Local late glacial landscape, about 12,500 years ago (Artist’s impression).
© Andrew Wilson.

Reconstruction of hunter gatherer landscape, about 7,000 years ago.
© National Museums Liverpool.

Reconstruction of Sefton coastline, about 5,000 years ago.
© National Museums Liverpool.

1

2

The Earliest
Inhabitants

Page 92

Agenda Item 10



5

3
Pre-History

…6,000 Years  Ago

The coastlines of the earliest local people lay many kilometres out, in what is
now the sea, having been swallowed up by rising sea level. Around 6,000 or
7,000 years ago coastal conditions were either close to or sometimes even

inland of the present coastline. For the early hunter gatherer people the coast
would have been part of a zone that stretched inland in a changing mosaic of
dune, marsh, lagoon, fen woodland, forest and river. This meant that a wide range
of wild plants, animals and birds were available over relatively short distances. That
would have made the area extremely attractive for mobile people dependant on
seasonally available wild resources.

Even after farming was introduced into Britain, about 6,000 years ago, in the Neolithic
period, these wild environments were still crucial.  The footprints on the beach at
Formby show people were active on the shore then, when it would have been a tidal
lagoon.  Also, on Hightown beach, part of a wooden structure, possibly a trackway,
was built in the early part of the Neolithic period when the area was saltmarsh. 

The closest settlements and camps belonging to these people, though, in areas such
as Ince Blundell, Little Crosby and Halsall, are found several kilometres from the
present coastline. They lie on the slightly raised land next to where freshwater fen
woodland has been important in the past. However, the prehistoric land surface
between these sites and the present coast lies buried by sediments associated with
coastal changes and sites could lie buried more deeply in this zone. RC

Neolithic (5,700 years ago) trackway, Hightown beach. © National Museums Liverpool.

The Earliest Use
of the Coast

3

Ancient footprint track.
© Gordon Roberts.

Page 93

Agenda Item 10



6

4
Pre-History

6,000 Years Ago to…

The sea approached its present position
about 5,900 years ago, although coastal
conditions had been relatively close to

the present coastline for some time before
that. Between 7,800 to 6,400 years ago marine
influence intermittently reached up to 4
kilometres inland on Downholland Moss. This
came via the Ainsdale area to the north and
from the Alt estuary to the south, as a large
barrier sand bank probably lay offshore. This
caused the Downholland landscape to change
periodically from tidal flats to saltmarsh, or as
marine influence waned, to freshwater lakes
and fen woodland.

Before 7,600 years ago large expanses of sandy tidal flats lay to
seaward of the present coast. The Neolithic footprints at Formby
Point were left in mudflats that formed in a sheltered part of this
tidal environment up to about 3,500 years ago when coastal
conditions changed. 

Sometimes, though, sea level was lower, as is shown by the remains
of the Neolithic forest on the beach at Hightown, which grew on
earlier marine clay. Another lower sea level phase is represented
near Lifeboat Road, Formby Point. Here, next to the present dune
edge, 3,500 year old alder tree roots can be seen where they grew
on earlier tidal flat deposits. 

Lifeboat Road, Formby. © Jen Lewis.

Remains of tree stump at Hightown. © Vanessa Holden.

Large dog/wolf ancient footprint. © Gordon Roberts.

Human ancient footprint. © Gordon Roberts.

4

The Changing
Prehistoric Coast

Although the line of the dunes moved both to seaward and to
landward during the prehistoric period, the present dune system
became roughly fixed around its present position during the Iron Age.
One area of the present dunes backing onto the beach at Formby
Point has a thin black band representing the existence of a former
dune slack that formed behind dunes about 2,350 years ago. RC

Page 94

Agenda Item 10



7

5
535

6
915

7
1086

8
1200

…800 Years  Ago

William the Conqueror’s Domesday Survey recorded the
names of places along the coast from North Meols
southwards to Litherland and Bootle. Many of the coast’s

place names such as ‘meles’ (dune), ‘dale’ (valley) and ‘by’
(farm) came from the Norse language suggesting that the area
had been settled by Scandinavians perhaps some 100 or so
years earlier. But nothing is known of the location of these 11th

century places. JL

A wooden canoe recovered from the margins of
Martin Mere –now on display at the Botanic
Gardens Museum in Southport - has been dated to

the middle of the 6th century. This suggests that people
were fishing on the mossland meres 1,500 years ago. JL

A hoard of silver coins was buried at Little Crosby,
perhaps for safe-keeping when Norsemen were
raiding - and settling - along the Irish Sea coast.

The hoard was discovered in 1615 when a Catholic
burial ground was being marked out in the years of
religious persecution. JL

5

6

7

This was a time of land improvement and the
creation of sea defences along the Sefton
coast. A sea wall – probably an earth bank -

was built at Churchtown; Bankfield Lane that runs
between the grounds of Meols Hall and the Botanic
Gardens may be the position of this sea wall. JL

8

Martin Mere Canoe as displayed in Botanic
Gardens Museum. © Jen Lewis.

Map created based on Domesday entries.
© Jen Lewis in Sand & Sea 2009.

Embankment behind the wall of the Botanic Gardens at
Bankfield Lane, Churchtown. © Jen Lewis.

Page 95

Agenda Item 10



8

9
1213-1220

10
1240-1241

11
1289

12
1300-1400

13
1346

14
1400-1500

800 Years Ago to…

The monks of Merivale Abbey, who had been
granted Altcar, were allowed access to pasture
at Alt Marsh, which had been drained. At

about the same time those farming land belonging to
Sawley Abbey at North Meols were allowed to retain
land that ‘they have gained or may gain hereafter’.
Sheep, cattle and horses were kept at Altcar and
Ravenmeols. JL

Monastic records show that
Cockersand Abbey was granted
land at Ainsdale, where there was

probably well-developed arable and
livestock farming. The monks – or their
tenants – were allowed to ‘carry away
sand’ to cultivate land and to improve the
mossland. JL

9

10

In 1346 it was claimed that
the township of
Argarmeols, which probably

lay on the seaward side of what is
now Birkdale, had been
‘annihilated by the sea’.

However, by 1377 there had
perhaps been some recovery of
land when an agreement for joint
grazing rights was drawn up by
the neighbouring landowners of
North Meols, Ainsdale, Birkdale
and Argarmeols. JL

By 1289 half the Domesday
township of Ravenmeols
had been lost, probably

due to damage by the sea. JL

11

Throughout the country
famine and disease
resulted in high

mortality (the Black Death)
though the effect on our local
population is unknown. JL

12

13

Herdwick sheep grazing dunes. © Mike Downey / Natural England.

Present day grazing at Marshside may have looked
similar to the grazing in 1240. © Lee Whittle.

Marsh Marigold, commonly found in old dune
ditches. © Mike Downey / Natural England.

Page 96

Agenda Item 10



9

15
1500-1600

16
1554

17
1556

18
1584

…425 Years  Ago

Because of the ever-
present threat of
flooding, tenants all

along the coast were required
to keep ditches free of
vegetation. In 1441 a tenant
of land in Little Crosby and
Ince Blundell was prosecuted
for failure to repair a ditch. It
was claimed, however, that
the damage resulted from the
tidal flow of the Alt and that
there was no special
obligation to repair it. JL

14

The coast seems to
have been under
particular pressure

during this century. When
enquiries were made in 1503
as to why taxes had not been
paid for Argarmeols it was
found that the land in
question had been
overwhelmed by the sea. JL

John Speed’s Map of Lancashire 1610.
15

The changing coast resulted in the
boundary between Birkdale and
Ainsdale being redefined in 1532-

1533; twenty years later that between
Formby and Altcar was disputed and in 1584
the boundary of Ravenmeols was re-
established. JL

The coast between Ravenmeols and Formby was also
under threat and in reviewing the rights to fishing on
the shore there in 1554 it was claimed that the ‘sea-

side’ and grazing had been ‘ruined by sea and sand’. JL

Ainsdale was being
“overflowen” by the sea. JL

16

17

18

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



10

19
1589

20
1600-1700

21
1630

425 Years Ago to…

The river Alt over the years has caused significant
amounts of damage to properties and agricultural
land surrounding its lower reaches where the

river flows out to sea through Altcar and Hightown. Due
to persistent flooding it was recommended in 1589 that
the sea banks of the mouth of the river Alt be
strengthened by a 10 foot high stone wall, over half a
mile in length, and costing £660. JL / MN

Remains of a revetment wall at Alt Grange have been
surveyed archaeologically. © Jen Lewis.

Remains of a substantial sandstone revetment
wall at Alt Grange. © Jen Lewis.

19

An embankment called Nabbs Cop
was built between North Meols
and Crossens. JL

'Hawslookers' were appointed by the manor courts at
Ainsdale and Birkdale to ensure that marram grass
was properly planted and maintained to prevent

sand blowing from the dunes and in 1637 three local
inhabitants were fined for taking marram. JL

Marram grass, essential for sand dune building.
© Mike Downey / Natural England.

20

21

Alt Flooding. © Paul Wisse.

Page 98

Agenda Item 10



11

22
1648-1659

23
1683

…325 Years  Ago

In 1648 those living on
the mosslands drained by
the river Alt were forced

to abandon their land due to
flooding.  On three occasions
between 1655-1659 Altcar
inhabitants petitioned for relief
of the flooding due to damage
to the river banks. Altcar
parishioners sometimes used
boats to get to church and, in
winter, stepping stones were
needed to go from one cottage
to the next! MN / JL

22

Alt Flooding. © Paul Wisse.

An order of Liverpool Common Council
in 1683 stated that the perch from
Crosby “be brought, or a new one set

up at Black Rock”. Collins Chart of 1689 does
show a perch at Black Rock and nothing at
Crosby. At that time the small spire of the
original Formby Chapel would probably have
been one of the only navigational aids, being
just visible above the dunes. RY

Crosby beacon. © Reg Yorke.

23

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



12

24
1689

25
1692

325 Years Ago to…

Liverpool Bay chart 1689. VH

Liverpool Bay chart 1689, redrawn from Collins. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

24

By an Act of Parliament, Thomas
Fleetwood was allowed to start
an ambitious programme to

drain Martin Mere. This had ‘parted
many a man and his mare’ and was
‘very hazardous for Strangers to pass
by’. Somewhat surprisingly, by the end
of the 16th century, writers at the time
suggest that the dune barrier was
almost non-existent. MN / JL

25

In 1710 customs officials said that the coast experienced the greatest
smuggling in the country! Small boats plied their trade around the Irish
Sea finding creeks and embayments as landing places and safe havens.

Fairclough’s Lake, a creek at Marshside, now buried and possibly inland of the
present day coast, was such a place. Two miles long, half a mile wide and
seven fathoms deep, boats could approach to within a half mile of the shore.
It was one of several places used to land brandy, rum and wine, tobacco, spices
and sugar. The flat-bottomed vessels could come in close to the shore at night
perhaps guided by lights shone from windmills. Initially the contraband was
buried in the sand or taken to safe houses before being sold on. Peter White,
smuggler captain of the Betty, landed illicit goods at Fairclough’s Lake and
also at Little Crosby, perhaps near Alt Grange. By 1840 Fairclough’s Lake
‘formerly a fine bay’ had become choked with sand. JL / JM

1736 map shows Fairclough’s Lake.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

26

Page 100

Agenda Item 10



13

26
1710

27
1716

28
1719

…292 Years  Ago

A drawing of Great Crosby
shows a stable coastal landscape
with frontal dunes backed by

grazed fields and houses. JL

From J. Mayer 1871 History of the Art of Pottery in Liverpool,
Marples, Liverpool.

Formby Lighthouse was originally
built as a 120 feet tall landmark,
to guide ships into Formby

Channel. It was converted into a
lighthouse in 1831, costing £300 for the
house to be built, and £40 for the light.
The lighthouse keeper’s salary was £20
per year, with the lighthouse’s running
costs being £100 per year. The second
lighthouse keeper was later transferred
to Crosby lighthouse, but Formby was
used again due to changes in the
Formby Channel. The lighthouse closed
in 1856, and was demolished during the
war to prevent it being a landmark for
enemy aircraft. RY

Formby Lighthouse. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

28

27

Fairclough’s Lake

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



14

29 30 31
1739

292 Years Ago to…

Severe December storms flooded 13,000
acres along the south Lancashire and the
Fylde coasts. 157 houses were lost and 200

were badly damaged at North Meols and Altcar.
The recently-repaired floodgates on the Alt were
broken once again. JL

29

The use of marram grass (also known as ‘starr
grass’) for binding loose, blowing sand was
noted in Ince Blundell documents in 1725-1734

and said to form ‘solid banks over which no sea can
break’. However, marram was used to stabilise the
Ravenmeols dunes as early as the 1560s. In 1730, a
tenant was fined for not planting the grass. In 1757
‘Starr Setters’ at Ainsdale and Birkdale oversaw the
planting of the grass and fines of 6s.8d. (34p) could be
levied on those who cut ‘starr’. JL

Marram grass planting at Freshfield in the 1940s.
Taken by R.K.Gresswell. Courtesy of Natural England Archive.

30

A sandstorm destroyed the medieval chapel at
Ravenmeols though its burial ground continued
to be used.  The chapel was relocated inland to

St.Peter’s in 1747, and then in 1855 a church dedicated
to St.Luke was built close to the site of the original
chapel. JL / MD

Map dated 1557-1558; detail from MR 1/2;  Copyright held by the National Archives, London.

31

1720

Page 102

Agenda Item 10



15

32
1755

33
1774

34
1776

…235 Years  Ago

The opening of the Leeds & Liverpool canal
between Liverpool and Wigan allowed people
from Lancashire’s growing industrial centres to

come to the sea-side via a landing place at Scarisbrick
and onwards by carriage to Southport. JL

William Hutchinson, the Liverpool
Dock Master, arranged for Britain’s
first life-boat station to be

established at Formby. Richard
Scarisbrick, a sailor from Formby, was
appointed “to take care of the boat and
boathouse erected … at Formby to assist
and save shipwrecked persons and goods
on this coast” with a salary of two
guineas a year, “and that he and the
boat’s crew shall be handsomely
rewarded …..not less than one guinea
per head for every life or person they
shall save”. RY

The flood gates at the
Crossens outfall from Martin
Mere were washed down by

‘a very uncommon high tide’ and
were rebuilt 14 feet wide (4.27m). JL

32

Britain’s first life-boat station at Formby. Courtesy of Reg Yorke.

33

34

Launch of lifeboat from Formby. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



16

35
1779

36
1780

37
1781

38
1792

235 Years Ago to…

The Alt Drainage Act was passed by Parliament.
It identified the fields liable to flood in the Alt
Valley and paved the way for local landowners

to adopt a co-ordinated approach to flood protection.
It also made the planting of marram grass compulsory.
JL / MN

Alt Flooding. © Paul Wisse.

35 New floodgates were built on the Alt. These were
about 800 yards (731.5m) downstream of the earlier
floodgates and probably contributed to the

development of the sand spits shown on the early 19th

century maps. JL / MN

River Alt tidal floodgates. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

36

Sea defences were rebuilt at
Crossens outfall with three sets of
flood gates. JL

The first lodging house, built of timber,
opened for the summer season at South
Hawes (Southport). JL

The first plantation on the Sefton dunes
was established by Revd Richard Formby,
then Joint Lord of the Manor of Formby.

‘Fir Wood’ is shown on the Formby Tithe Map
of 1845 and was then the only Plantation of
any size, being just over 2 acres. RY

First hotel built at Southport
by William Sutton. VH

First plantation. © Reg Yorke.

37

38

39

40

Page 104

Agenda Item 10



17

39
1795

40
1798

41
1805

42
1807

43
1809

44
1813

45
1814

…197 Years  Ago

The Sefton Coast has long been recognised and valued for its abundant wildlife. As far
back as 1805 George Alexander Cooke, author of ‘a Modern British Traveller’,
commented “to the lovers of botany and natural curiosities, the sand hills will furnish an

inexhaustible fund of amusement”. MD

Abundant wildlife, Bog Pimpernel. © Mike Downey / Natural England.

41

In November over two miles of the
embankment from Marshside to
Banks burst and more than 1,000

acres of farm land were flooded. JL

Formby Point signalling station. Courtesy of Reg Yorke.

A signal station was established by the Admiralty at Formby
Point, around 1814. A system of semaphore signal stations
was established around Liverpool Bay but these were

discontinued after the arrival of telegraph and telephone
communication. A signal building is seen in maps of 1896 and
caught in this photograph of a launch of the Formby Lifeboat taken
in 1916. RY

45

42

An unusually high tide swept away
the Crossens Sea Gates and Flushing
Gates, though the stop-gates

prevented the reclaimed land at Martin
Mere from being flooded. JL

‘Rosseall men’s bank’ was raised on
the seaward side of Shellfield Road,
Marshside. The bank was designed

‘as the most secure barrier that man can
erect against the encroachments of the
sea’. New houses had been built near the
inn ‘for the benefit of those who wish for
private lodgings in so delightful and
healthful a situation.’ JL

43

44

Page 105

Agenda Item 10



18

46
1815

47
1821

197 Years Ago to…

Crosby Seabank Company’s Hotel in
Waterloo opened and by 1825 there
were seven lodging houses. JL

Formby Point was being eroded and by
1828 the landmark there was ruined.
Some 400 yards (365.76m) of the coast

line had been lost since the lifeboat house had
been built 35 years earlier. By 1839 the
coastline appears to have recovered following
the losses of 1828. JL

Formby Point erosion. Courtesy of Sefton Council.
© Crown copyright. All rights reserved.
Sefton Council licence number 100018192 2011.

46

A very high tide caused much
damage at Banks. JL47

48

Regulations were applied to the land and coast of
the Manor of Formby, including the ‘urgent
necessity’ for the planting of Star Grass. VH

Regulations of the Manor of Formby, 1829. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

49

The highest tide of the century was recorded at Crossens.
Again, during a storm in 1834 the sea burst through the
embankments from Marshside to Banks doing immense

damage and the grounds of Bankfield House (adjoining Crossens
Station) were flooded to a considerable depth. JL

50

Floodgates on the Alt were replaced in 1830 in an
attempt to control the water levels by closing when the
sea water of the flood tide reached them. However these

gates did not cope well with extreme weather, especially high
tides combined with heavy rainfall, as the gates would be closed
due to the high tide but with the rainfall within the catchment
backing up and flooding the surrounding farmland. MN

51

Peter Hesketh began construction of a
promenade or ‘sea fence’ at Southport with a
footpath and carriage drive. It started at

Nevill Street and extended 400 yards towards
Coronation Walk. JL

52

Page 106

Agenda Item 10



19

48
1828

49
1829

50
1830

51 52
1834

53 54
1838

…173 Years  Ago

Captain Denham undertook Liverpool’s first Marine Survey and
introduced self-registering tide gauges.  At Formby, visual readings
continued over many years using a set of tide poles set in a line near

Formby Lifeboat Station. From 1889 the Lifeboat Coxswain was paid an
allowance of 3/6d per day as the keeper of the tide gauge. During the
1970s the Mersey Docks and Harbour Board required the resident of
Lifeboat Cottage to keep continuous telescopic sightings record of the tide
poles every 15 minutes from 9am to 4pm. Even after Lifeboat Cottage was
abandoned, 15 minute readings continued daily. The last Formby
‘Tideman’, David Simpson described how he read off the depths using high
powered binoculars. In poor visibility he had to walk to the edge of the
water and stay there taking readings every quarter of an hour. RY

53

Formby tide pole. © Reg Yorke.

Lifeboat Cottage. Courtesy of Reg Yorke.

Ribble Navigation Reclamation
Plan made, highlighting the scale
of the proposed land to be

claimed from the Ribble Estuary. VH

54

Ribble Estuary Reclamation Plan. From Barron, 1938. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Page 107

Agenda Item 10



20

55
1839-1847

56 57
1848

58

173 Years Ago to…

A new beacon was
ordered to be placed on
the shore at Crosby in

connection with the new Crosby
Lighthouse in 1839. In 1847 this
was moved half a mile to the
north east when the Lighthouse
was also moved. A beacon is still
there today, a triangular
framework structure showing ‘a
ball over a diamond’. RY

55

On the 1848 OS Map of
Altmouth, Balling’s Wharf is
shown as sandy land on

Lord Sefton’s Estate that was
being reclaimed from the sea.
When the land was found to be
not suitable for agriculture, it
became the Altcar Rifle Range. RY

Balling’s Wharf. © Ordnance Survey.

56

Liverpool – Southport railway line opened,
using of course, steam locomotives. The
Manchester Line opened in 1855. RY / JL

Liverpool – Southport railway line. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

57

The first Ordnance Survey maps were produced
around this time, recording which features were
to be found along the coastline, and the size of

towns and villages. VH

Ordnance Survey map of Southport 1848 showing the extent of the town.
© Crown Copyright, license number ED100020392.

58

Page 108

Agenda Item 10



21

59
1854

60
1856

61
1857

62
1860

…150 Years  Ago

Freshfield Station opened in 1854, built by Thomas Fresh. It provided a major outlet for the ‘night-soil’ from
Liverpool (used for the asparagus cultivation), and also provided facilities for property development that Thomas
Weld-Blundell and many Liverpool business men much desired. RY

Freshfield train station. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

59

Just before the end of the
Crimean War, the giant
Horsefall Gun was tested at

(what is now) Altcar Rifle Range. It
was 13 feet long and weighed 21 tons,
and was manufactured at the Mersey
Forge, Toxteth, Liverpool. The gun is
said to have fired a cannon ball
weighing 300 lbs a distance of five
miles. RY

Horesfall Gun. Courtesy of Altcar Training Camp.

60

Public notices at Birkdale, Ainsdale and
Formby in 1857 advised that fines of
20s (£1) would be levied on anyone

cutting or carrying away starr grass and,
indeed, on anyone found in possession of
starr within five miles of the sandhills. JL

Marram grass on sand dunes. © Mike Downey /
Natural England.

61

First Pier built at Southport,
measuring 1,100 metres out from the
Promenade. The Pier was extended to

1,335 metres in 1868. VH

62

Page 109

Agenda Item 10



22

63
1862

64

150 Years Ago to…

On January 19th a storm and high tide were
one of the worst ever known on the coast. At
Southport all the walls, embankments, and

fences were washed away completely at Winter
Gardens Terrace, the folding doors of the lifeboat
house were burst in by the waves, several bathing
machines were completely wrecked, 100 yards of the
Promenade opposite Waterloo Terrace were
seriously damaged, a huge gap was made in the
Promenade opposite Bold Street, the whole of the
embankment front and fence of the Strangers'
Charity washed away, a new sea wall and house
partly built, at the junction of Leicester Street and
Adelaide Street, were demolished by the waves. JL

63

Altcar Rifle Range was
established at Balling's
Wharf on Lord Sefton's

land in 1862 by the 5th

Lancashire Rifle Volunteers. In
1913 the land was transferred
to the West Lancashire
Territorial Association. Since
then many thousands of soldiers
have learnt their rifle skills at
Altcar. RY

Altcar Rifle Range. Courtesy of Imperial War Museum.

64

Altcar Rifle Range.
Photo courtesy of Lt. Col Michael Cook, MBE, TD.

Fishing at Southport was a dangerous job. In 1869, seven shrimp fishermen
lost their lives when fog descended whilst they were night fishing, and they
could not find their way back to the shore. The Marshside Calamity Fund was

set up to help their families and a bell erected on the sea bank between Marshside
Road and Millars Pace. The bell was rung whenever fog rolled in, with the sound
guiding fishermen back to safety. Two years later it was blown down in a gale and a
new building was erected on Marshside Road which still stands today. It was also a
weather station, recording the wind speed and direction (with temperature and
humidity being recorded in Hesketh Park). The station was in use until 1959. Parts of
the instruments are kept in the Botanic Gardens Museum. KB / JM

65

Marshside Fog Bell. Courtesy of Ken Bridge.

Log book of Marshside Fog Bell weather station. Courtesy of Ken Bridge.

Page 110

Agenda Item 10



23

65
1869

66
1870

67
1873

68
1875

69
1883

70
1884

…125 Years  Ago

Massam’s Slack in the western part of what is now
Ainsdale Sand Dunes National Nature Reserve was
created artificially from 1870 onwards when the

manorial estate built sand-trapping fences on the shore to
claim land from the sea. This created a new dune ridge up to
100 yards (95m) wide and 2 miles (3.2km) long. In the 1880s,
Charles Weld-Blundell employed six men for this work. The
new dune was planted with “Starr” (Marram) grass which
continued to trap blown sand from the beach to a height of
about 15 feet (5m). A trough or “swale” behind the ridge
became cut off from the sea in 1900 to form the slack, flooding
so deeply with freshwater in winter that it attracted large
flocks of ducks.

After about 1906, coastal erosion set in at Formby Point, the
new dunes being gradually washed away. Once the largest
dune slack on the Sefton Coast, Massam’s Slack lost most of its
southern end to erosion and sand-blow and is now much dryer
than formerly. PS

66 West Lancashire Golf Club established. The oldest
golf club surviving in the old County of Lancashire,
and among the top ten oldest clubs in England. RY

67

The Formby Land and Building
Company purchased 105 acres of
the coastal area of Raven Meols,

for £12,100. It was a rectangular area
south of Formby, west of the Liverpool –
Southport Railway and as far as the
shore. The Company wanted to create a
new residential resort ‘Formby-by-the-
Sea’, which they hoped would rival
Southport. 

They built a narrow-gauge railway track
from Formby station to move building
materials to the coast, and a brick
promenade between two new roads -
Albert Road and Alexandra Road.
Behind the promenade, two other roads
were partly made; one was named Lord
Street. The 1000 ft promenade still
exists but is now entirely covered by
dunes. The company went out of
business in 1902. RY

68

The Preston – Southport Railway line
was completed in 1883. The Cheshire
Lines extension to Southport was

opened in 1884 and terminated at Lord
Street. This line closed in the 1960s and was
replaced by the coast road to Woodvale. JL

69

Formby-by-the-sea. © R.K. Gresswell.

Formby-by-the-sea. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

Formby Golf Club was founded in 1884 by a
group of 24 local businessmen at first playing
over a 9 hole course during the winter

between October and April. The land was originally
rabbit warren and rented from a tenant farmer at £10
per season. The course has since been extended to 18
holes. RY

Formby Golf Club. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

70

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



24

71
1887

72 73 74
1890

75

125 Years Ago to…

Charles Joseph
Weld-Blundell
(1845-1927) started

planting woodland at
Formby in 1887 called
‘Jubilee Wood’ in honour
of Queen Victoria’s
Golden Jubilee, which is
now the National Trust
Woodland. His estate
continued planting as far
north as Ainsdale, until
the 1930s. RY

71

South Marine Lake
and Marine Park built
on the beach at

Southport. The North
Marine Lake was built in
1892. VH

Aerial photo of Southport foreshore, about 1950s. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

72

Records show that the Bog Hole at Southport, the
channel which ran underneath the end of the pier,
deepened throughout the 1800s, from being 6 metres

deep in 1824, through to 17 metres deep in 1882. VH

Bog Hole Channel sections, late 1800s. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

73

Dredging of the River
Mersey begins, dredged spoil
being deposited offshore

from Formby Point. VH

74

1890s

Page 112

Agenda Item 10



25

76
1892

77
1896

…113 Years  Ago

Mersey dredgings disposal site 1904, from
Jarrad, (1907). Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

One of the most populated areas north of Southport
was the area around Shellfield Road, so named because
it was built on the shells of the cockles and shrimps

which were fished by the inhabitants. The fishermen first used
locally built boats but as the channels silted up they fished on
foot – ‘putting’ for shrimps with nets pushed in front of them
on long poles. It was much later that they started to use horses
and carts – ‘shanking’ – hence the men became known as
‘shankers’ a name which is still used by locals today. KB

Shankers fishing for shrimps.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive from Botanic Gardens Museum.

Typical Putter. Courtesy of Sefton Council
Archive from Botanic Gardens Museum.

75

Port of Preston officially opened on
25th June, with navigation in the
Ribble Estuary becoming

increasingly important. Dredging of the
main navigation channel began about this
time; with the Ribble Navigation Act of
1905 specifying where dredging should be
deposited. VH

76

1888 Report on the Ribble Estuary.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Dumping of sewage sludge and industrial waste at sea into Liverpool Bay began
around 1896. Following the Food and Environment Protection Act of 1985,
industrial waste dumping stopped in 1992, with sewage sludge dumping

prohibited from 1998. Household waste was also dumped at sea between 1880 and
1953. VH

Report of dumping of sewage.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

77

Page 113

Agenda Item 10



26

78
1902

79
1906

80
1909

113 Years Ago to…

Liverpool-Southport Railway Line was electrified, one of the first
in the country. Because the supply of electricity was at a very early
stage of development, the Railway Company had to supply its

own power from a power-station near Formby. The building was built by
Thomas Croft and Sons of Preston, and was on the banks of the River
Alt, which provided the cooling water for the turbines. It was midway
along the railway line and was some distance from any housing. Coal to
run the power station was brought from Wigan. There was no road to
the power-station, with access being only from the railway itself, with a
small platform for workers and sidings for rail wagons. It stopped
producing electricity in 1946. RY

Electrified Liverpool-Southport Railway line.
Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

Railway power station. Courtesy of Reg Yorke.

78

Fort Crosby was built in 1906 on the edge of the dunes
between Hightown and Blundellsands. Together with Fort
Perch Rock at New Brighton these batteries were placed

to protect the coast between the Mersey and Barrow-in-Furness.
After the first world war Fort Crosby became a training centre
with about 40 gunners stationed there. The system of
searchlights, barracks, anti-aircraft guns and gun emplacements
facing out to sea examined shipping but never saw action in
second world war. It also had underground ammunition dumps
and military planning rooms, and had its own railway crossing -
known as Sniggery Crossing - between Hightown and Hall Road
stations. JL / RY

Fort Crosby. © Kevin Bargen.

79

In 1910 Freshfield beach was a leading centre used by
five of the fifteen licensed pioneer aviators in the UK.
The first of these, Cecil Compton Paterson, spent

more than eight months building a machine, which he
tested on the sands at Freshfield in May, 1910. The Liverpool
Daily Post reported: “… at half past three o'clock, to the
surprise of the little knot of people present, he quietly and

gracefully rose from the earth, and soaring into the air,
sailed away for about 100 yards. For two or three hours he
continued his experimental trials. The longest flight was
about half a mile at an altitude of about 30ft”.
Paterson subsequently built an aerodrome with hangars at
Freshfield which was used by a number of other pilots. RY

Records suggest that Formby point
in 1909 began to erode. MN80

Melly’s Bleriot. Courtesy of Reg Yorke.

81

Flying at Freshfield. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

Page 114

Agenda Item 10



27

81
1910

82
1912

83
1913

84
1915

85
1918

…91 Years  Ago

Gladstone docks were built in 1912. MN In 1913 there was a ‘Marshside
Fishermen’s Strike’. The local
shrimps were potted in butter and

sold as ‘Potted Southport Shrimps’ but
the wholesalers tried to undercut the
price of locally caught shrimps by
bringing in cheaper imports from
Holland. This put local families out of
work as they could not sell their shrimps
and make a living. They went on strike
and eventually took direct action by
waylaying the carts bringing in the
imports in Larkfield Lane on the way
from Churchtown Station. The carts were
overturned and paraffin was poured over
the contents. Two mounted and ten foot
Policemen came out from Southport
Police Station to quell the riot. Several
men were sent to prison. The strike only
ended due to the commencement of the
First World War in 1914 when many of
the fishermen joined the navy and the
army. KB

The importance of our dunes, saltmarshes and beaches for wildlife has
been known for over 150 years but the protection of our best features
has taken time. The value of the area of Ainsdale dunes was first

formally recognised by a national committee in 1915.  The pre-eminent
naturalist Charles Rothschild, founder of the Society for the Promotion of
Nature Reserves (later to become the county Wildlife Trusts), short-listed the
Ainsdale, Birkdale and Freshfield dunes as potential nature reserves. CB / MD

82

Striking fishermen. Courtesy of Ken Bridge.

83

84

Ainsdale sand dunes. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Formby Lifeboat
Station closed. RY85

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



28

86 87
1920s

88 89

91 Years Ago to…

Surveying of River Ribble
training walls. VH86

Surveying Ribble training walls. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Asparagus farming was an important
industry on the Sefton coast. At its
height, 200 acres of asparagus were

grown at Formby Point. AB / VH

Modern day evidence of old asparagus farming in the
dunes at Formby. The black layers show where the
field surface would have been. © Vanessa Holden.

87

From around 1909 onwards, the Bog Hole
Channel at Southport became shallower,
from a depth recorded in 1909 of 18

metres, through to records of 1928 showing the
Channel to be completely dry at low water.
Previously, steamer excursions had sailed from
Southport Pier to Lytham via the Bog Hole, but
by the 1920s, no steamers could reach the Pier as
the Bog Hole had become too shallow. Records
from the time suggest that the main causes of
the shallowing of the Bog Hole (which had
previously been an important feature for
Southport) had been the presence of the Ribble
Navigation Training Walls, the large amounts of
land claim in the Estuary, and the depositing of
dredgings from the Mersey. VH

Charts showing changes in the Bog Hole Channel, drawn
by Barron (1938). Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

The Bog Hole Channel, early 20th Century, from Barron 1938.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.  

88

Page 116

Agenda Item 10



29

90
1928

…82 Years  Ago

Dredging and the building of training
walls in the river Mersey and sand
drift from Formby Point began to

cause the river Alt to move inland where the
river flowed over the beach and out to sea.
By 1929 nine houses were demolished
seawards of Burbo Bank Road, Blundellsands
as a result of erosion by the river Alt. In 1929
an unsuccessful attempt was made to blast a
new river channel out to sea, using
explosives. Then in 1930 after further
erosion, tin slag from Bootle smelting works
was dumped at Burbo Bank Road and the
Serpentine for half a mile. 65,000 tonnes of
slag still did not prevent the erosion, so in
1935 Crosby Urban District Council obtained
sanctions to divert the Alt out to sea. In 1936
a training wall was built out of tin slag
costing £6,000 which successfully diverted
the river Alt away from the land. MN

Severity of erosion, Blundellsands. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Homes being lost to erosion, Blundellsands.  Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Blasting of Alt channel.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

89

Sand extraction at Formby began in 1928 when
Woodward and Sons were given permission to
extract sand by hand, from Jonathan Formby’s

estate which was thought to have been in some financial
difficulties. In the early 1930s due to severe storms
Lifeboat Road became blocked. J.W. Stevens offered to
remove the sand but Formby council declined the offer
and offered the sand to local hauliers which was objected
to by the Formby estate as they claimed that the sand
belonged to them as it was on their property. On the
outbreak of the second world war in 1939 Jonathan
Formby protested when the council began removing sand
from Lifeboat Road for the filling of sand bags. In 1939
the Formby estate submitted a claim under the 1939
Defence Compensation Act. In 1947 the Town and
Country Planning Act came into operation requiring
consent for sand extraction by the Urban District Council
due to concerns about the implications of sand extraction
on sea defences.  MN

90

Page 117

Agenda Item 10



30

91
1930s

92 93
1940

94

82 Years Ago to…

‘Saltings’ or clumps of Spartina (Cord Grass) were planted
at Marshside to encourage salt marsh growth to enable
more land claim. VH

Saltings at Marshside, early 20th Century. From Gresswell (1953).

Marshside saltmarsh present day. 
© Dave McAleavy.

91

After closing in 1918, the Lifeboat House at
Formby became popular as a beach café until
the 1960s. RY / AB / VH

The café at Formby, around the 1930s. Courtesy of Reg Yorke.

92

The earliest Royal Observer
Corps Post at Ravenmeols
was used to plot the

position of aircraft visible from
the post. During the second world
war more sophisticated
instruments were used that could
also measure the height at which
the aircraft were flying. Posts
were often just built of sandbags,
but with some being simple brick
buildings, sometimes two storey,
with a crew room below and
observation room above. RY

93

Royal Observatory Corporation Post. © Reg Yorke.

Throughout the second world
war, the King’s Liverpool
Regiment’s main depot was at

Harington Barracks in Formby,
around where Harington Road is
today. The regiment had previously
been based at Seaforth, but moved
to Formby for more accommodation
and a bigger training area. The
barracks were named after a former
Colonel in Chief, General Sir Charles
Harington, GCB, GYIE, DSO who
died in 1940. From 1941 to 1945 the
Commanding Officer, was
Lieutenant Colonel Burke Gaffney,
MC who soon established a good
relationship with local residents. RY

94

Page 118

Agenda Item 10



31

95
1941

96 97 98

…69 Years  Ago

Harington Barracks.
Courtesy of Austin Cartmel.

In 1941, the Ainsdale Lido was used by the Navy
as the HMS Queen Charlotte, a dry land base for
training naval gunners. The guns were trained

out over the sea. Aircraft from No 776 Squadron flying
from RAF Woodvale would tow targets past or dive-
bomb the school to give the gunners Anti-Aircraft
target practice. HMS Charlotte was closed in January
1946. After becoming derelict the majority of the
remaining Lido was demolished in 2010, apart from a
small section which has been refurbished and is used by
Sefton Coast and Countryside Service and the Sefton
Coastal Defence team as their base, the Ainsdale
Discovery Centre. JL / RY

95

Woodvale airfield. Courtesy of Aldon Ferguson. 

RAF Woodvale was built in 1941 to
defend Merseyside. The airfield had
three runways to allow aircraft to take

off and land as much as
possible into the wind.
The main runway was laid
parallel to the Liverpool
to Southport railway line,
as it was the longest
available Run. RY

96

Taken on 20th August 1942, this RAF photo shows the
boundaries of the original fields of the ‘Upper Whams’. Whams
is an old local term for wet grassland. The RAF buildings have

been camouflage-painted. Buildings included three hangars, a control
tower, offices, workshops, stores, parachute store and armoury, with
hard-standings for forty-one aircraft arranged around the perimeter
track. RY

97

Woodvale aircraft. Courtesy of Aldon Ferguson.

Stella Maris was built in 1905 on the
Formby Promenade, intended as a hotel.
Instead it became a convalescent home for

priests, a holiday home for Catholic children, and
finally in 1941 during the second world war an
important Radar Station. The Radar Station closed
before 1944, and was demolished in 1954. RY

98

Drawing of the Radar Station. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

HMS Queen Charlotte. Courtesy of Aldon Ferguson.

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



32

99
1944

100
1945

101
1947

102

69 Years Ago to…

The 1944 Nature Reserves Investigation Committee
placed Ainsdale in its list of the top 22 wildlife sites in
Britain, ranked ‘Category A – outstanding merit and

must be safeguarded’. MD

99

Mobile dunes in the 1940s.
Dr. Donald Coult, courtesy of Natural England Archive.

After 1945 Fort Crosby was designated camp
678 for German prisoners of war controlled by
British and Polish soldiers. In addition to

accommodation it had a church, cinema showing films
in English and German, a hospital and a football pitch.
Many former prisoners of war remained in this country
after the end of war as by then they had no home or
family to return to. By 1950 the prison camp had closed
and was used by the Territorial Army until 1954. The
site was demolished in 1967, although some parts of
the buildings remained until 1983 when the area was
restored. RY / JL

Fort Crosby. Courtesy of Crosby Library.

100

Sandwinning from the dunes controlled
for the first time by the 1947 Town and
Country Planning Act. RY

Sandwinning. Courtesy of Arthur Sutton.

101

Rubble from bomb damaged Liverpool was made
available to be dumped along the Crosby coastline to
prevent erosion. In 1947-1948 tipping of rubble

commenced and was replenished up to the 1970s with waste
material from the construction of the second Mersey Tunnel. MN

102

Rubble at Crosby Beach. © Sefton Council.

Page 120

Agenda Item 10



33

103
1949

104 105
1950s

106
1953

…58 Years  Ago

The Coastguard Station moved from Hoylake to Formby in
1949 to provide a better position to observe the ships in the
Mersey. It was originally a timber and glass building situated

just North of the old Lifeboat Station. This was replaced by a bigger
brick building at the end of Albert Road just inland of the old
promenade, (by then buried by the dunes). By 1975 the movement of
the dunes restricted the view of the Mersey from the building, so it
was re-built at its present site at Hall Road. Rescue, lookout, reporting
and communications are still the main functions of the Station. RY

Coastguard station. Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

Construction of the
Navigation Marker, River Alt. VH

Building of the Navigation Marker, July 1949.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

103

104

After a series of storms in the 1950s the coast began to
retreat extensively and with more and more planning
applications for the removal of sand being approved the

coast became protected under the Coast Protection Order of 1958.
However sand removal still occurred at Formby up to 1967. Due to
the volume of sand that was removed in this area and in particular
the removal of sand at Cabin Hill down to the water table, the
area became susceptible to flooding. Therefore in 1970 the Water
Authority built a flood defence embankment approximately 1km
in length to protect the area from floods. The construction of the
flood bank also produced ‘borrow pits’, which became some of the
coast’s most productive natterjack toad breeding pools at Cabin
Hill NNR during the 1980s and 1990s. MN

Natterjack toads. © Mike Downey / Natural England.

105

The famous geographer R.K. Gresswell described the coast in
1953 as, “the most stimulating natural landscape for forty
miles, and the finest view of any kind for many miles”. MD

R.K. Gresswell. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

106

Area of sandwinning. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Page 121

Agenda Item 10



34

107
1954

108
1955

109
1956

110

58 Years Ago to…

The importance of our birds in the Ribble Estuary
led to the declaration of the Southport Sanctuary
in 1954, centred on Horse Bank to provide a roost

site, protecting the birds from being disturbed by fishing
and shooting. CB

107

Common Tern nesting on the Ribble Estuary National Nature
Reserve. © Natural England.

At Harington Barracks, training took place in large
gyms, on the large parade ground and on the
surrounding open fields. The occasion in this

photograph was special - Trooping the Colour in June 1955
when the Queen Mother took the salute. RY

Harington Barracks, trooping the colour. Courtesy of Liverpool Record Office.

108

After the war, the Formby coast, and particularly
the Pine Tree Café in the dunes, became a popular
place for day trippers to visit. AB / VH

Pine Tree Café. Courtesy of National Trust.

109

The British Nicotine Company Limited tipped
approximately 22,000 wet tonnes of tobacco
leaves (with the nicotine removed) each year from

1956, onto old asparagus fields near Victoria Road, Formby.
Initially the waste was dumped without permission but in
1960 a planning application was submitted and granted to
dump the waste between 1960 and 1964. However the
Nicotine company appealed against the conditions set and
after much dispute with the planning authority an
independent inspector granted permission for further
dumping of waste up until 1974. As the coast in this
location has eroded over time, the nicotine waste is now
visible on the beach as large boulders and cliffs of hard
organic waste material. As the waste was extremely rich in
organic matter, the vegetation growing on the waste is
noticeably different to that of the surrounding natural
landscape due to the waste providing a habitat suitable for
plants not normally found on dunes. MN

Nicotine Waste. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

110

Page 122

Agenda Item 10



35

111
1961

112
1962

113
1960s

…47 Years  Ago

A big storm surge hit the coastline on 24th October 1961,
causing the Pine Tree café to collapse into the sea. AB

Pine Tree Café. Courtesy of National Trust.

111 During the ‘Cold War’, a Royal Observer
Corp Nuclear Monitoring Post was built
next to the previous wartime observation

platform at Ravenmeols. Soon, however, erosion
caused the structure to become vulnerable to
potential bomb blast damage and, despite efforts
to reinforce it, it was closed around 1966-68 and
replaced by a new one at Woodvale. The Formby
post is now very dilapidated; although the
entrance and ventilation shafts are still there, the
room itself is half-full of rubble. RY

112

Nuclear Monitoring Post. © Reg Yorke.

The dune car park at Victoria Road was surfaced with
rubble from the demolished Harington Barracks. But
access from the car park was not managed, leading to

serious damage to the dunes by people. AB

Formby Point, 1961. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

113

National Trust site, 1960s. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

Page 123

Agenda Item 10



36

114

47 Years Ago to…

Southport Marine Lake was extended, and
the sea wall in front of it built. VH114

Southport Marine Lake, about 1966. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

After being continually covered by dunes, Lifeboat House
café was demolished. Today, half-buried remains of the bricks
can be seen on the beach at Lifeboat Road, Formby. AB

115

Remains of Formby Lifeboat Station at the mercy of the
encroaching tides. © Mike Downey.

450 acres (181.1 ha) of land at Formby Point were
purchased from the Ince Blundell Settled Estates in April
1967 by public subscription, as part of Enterprise Neptune.

Since then, the area managed by the National Trust has increased to
about 520 acres, through a gift of the former tobacco waste areas
by the British Nicotine Company, the purchase in 1985 of the Larkhill
Lane heathland area from Ideal Homes Ltd and the recent purchase
of the former agricultural area north of Wicks Lane. RY

Sketch of the National Trust site entrance by Muriel Sibley.
Courtesy of Formby Civic Society.

116

In 1965 the Nature Conservancy Council, the
original Government wildlife conservation body,
purchased and declared Ainsdale Sand Dunes as

the coast’s first National Nature Reserve. The establishment
of the first nature reserve on the coast was not without its
difficulties, with the former Weld-Blundell estate owners
resisting early pressure for the nature reserve declaration
owing to their belief that the Nature Conservancy ‘had not

fully grasped the possibility of future development of the
area for building purposes or for sand winning’. The estate
finally conceded after 15 years of negotiations, and the 508
hectare NNR is now regarded as one of the finest and most
diverse dune reserves in England, as well as being a
nationally important site for its coastal geomorphology and
active dune processes. MD

Neil Robinson, the first permanent ‘Warden Naturalist’ at
Ainsdale National Nature Reserve, leading a school visit to
the reserve circa 1970. Courtesy of Natural England Archive.

117

1965

115 116 117
Page 124

Agenda Item 10



37

…39 Years  Ago

Due to the success of Gladstone Docks,
planning permission was granted in 1960 to
build Royal Seaforth Docks. The docks were

built and officially opened in 1972. Excavated material
from the building of the docks was used to infill land
north of the docks which is now the area where Crosby
Marine Lake sits. It was also at this time that the sea
wall at Crosby was constructed to fully reclaim this land
and protect the coastline at Blundellsands from further
erosion by the sea. MN

118

Aerial View of Waterloo and Liverpool docks.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

In 1972 the tidal gates to the River Alt were
replaced with a pumping station. The four
pumps in the station could pump the

equivalent water capacity of a Double Decker bus a
second. In 2011 these diesel pumps were replaced by
new electric storm pumps. MN

River Alt pumping station. Courtesy of Environment Agency.

119

Ground water monitoring began on Ainsdale NNR,
extended in the late 1970s by a research student Derek
Clarke who set up a series of dip-wells in the sand

dunes. This hydrological monitoring has continued every month
ever since by the reserve staff, and has been extended to many
other parts of the coast. Derek Clarke is now an internationally
renowned Doctorate of Hydrology and still conducts important
research on the Sefton Coast, helping to inform our future
management in response to climate change. MD

Aerial view of Ainsdale sand dunes.
© John Mills photography. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

120

Derek Clarke taking weather station readings in 1975, as part of the
hydrology and meteorology monitoring programme at Ainsdale
National Nature Reserve. Courtesy of Dr. Derek Clarke.

118
1972

119 120
Page 125

Agenda Item 10



38

121
1974

122
1975

123

39 Years Ago to…

The sea wall at Southport was extended
as far as Crossens, to give a sea defence,
and extending Marine Drive (the ‘Coast

Road’), and creating the important Marshside
Reserve that is managed by the RSPB. JM / VH

121

Marine Drive Extension, Southport. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

During the 1970s the focus was on
restoring eroded parts of the coast as a
result of the high recreational pressures,

particularly the sand dunes at Formby Point and
Ainsdale. Brushwood was used to trap blowing
sand in the foredunes, and was also laid over
eroded fixed dunes which were then replanted
with marram grass.  The mid 1970s saw a period
of severe drought, which raised concerns over
natterjack toad breeding pools and led to the
deepening of many dune slacks. Wicks Lane
Lake, a former sand winning site, was deepened
in the late 1970s, with over 70 scrapes being
excavated on the coast since then. MD

Falling water tables led to extensive pond excavations during the 1970s.
Courtesy of Natural England Archive.

Line of old brushwood fences, Massam’s Slack, 2010.
© John Houston.

122

The severe drought of 1975/1976 led to concerns over
loss of Natterjack toad breeding pools, and extensive
slack reprofiling / deepening. MD

123

Ainsdale National Nature Reserve Fisherman’s Path entrance during
1976 drought. Courtesy of Natural England Archive.

Page 126

Agenda Item 10



39

124
1978

125
1979

126
1980s

…30 Years  Ago

In the 1960s the coast was under severe pressure from increasing recreational
use leading to problems with sand drift, litter and vandalism. Large areas of
the dunes were also developed for tourism and residential development and

plans were put forward for another golf course at Formby Point. Despite the protection
given by the National Trust and Nature Conservancy Council to parts of the dunes, the
damage continued. However, with the creation of Sefton Council in 1974 the coast
came under the control of one local authority for the first time and this allowed the
development of the coordinated approach to management which continues today. The
Sefton Coast Management Scheme was established in 1978 by Merseyside County
Council, Sefton Council and the Countryside Commission. The first work focused on
dune and landscape repair at Formby Point, the establishment of Local Nature Reserves
and the development of visitor management services. Through its operation the scheme
helped to achieve greater landscape and wildlife protection for the Sefton Coast whilst
also providing new opportunities for access and recreation. JH

124

Aerial view of National Trust site, 1972. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

The Ribble Estuary
National Nature Reserve,
contained part in Sefton

and part in West Lancashire, is
one of the largest areas of salt
marsh in the country supporting
over a quarter of a million waders
and wildfowl each winter, as well
as one of the largest conservation
grazing herds with up to 900
cattle. The NNR was first declared
in 1979 as Banks Marsh NNR,
extended in 1981 as Ribble
Marshes NNR, and again in 1995
to its current area of 4,520
hectares as the Ribble Estuary
NNR. MD

125

Aerial View of Southport and Ribble Estuary. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

During the 1980s sand
dune management
concentrated on tackling

the scrub vegetation invasion
following a decline in rabbit
populations. Sea buckthorn was
particularly problematic. It was
introduced to the coast around
1900 and spread rapidly since the
mid 20th century. This invasive
shrub, although colourful with its
bright orange berries, had formed
dense thickets in and around the
dune slacks and grasslands. Its
spread was to the detriment of
many of the rarer dune plants, such
as Chaffweed and Mountain
Everlasting, last recorded on the
Sefton Coast in the mid-1950s, as
well as overrunning vital natterjack
toad habitat. Areas of sea
buckthorn, birch, poplar and willow
were cleared, with invaluable
support from local volunteers, and
this was followed by the
introduction of livestock grazing in
the 1990s. MD

126

Sea Buckthorn covering frontal dunes. Courtesy of Natural England Archive.

Page 127

Agenda Item 10



40

127
1982

128
1983

129
1985

130
1986

30 Years Ago to…

Port of Preston closes to commercial traffic.
Dredging and maintenance of the navigation
channel subsequently stops. VH

127 Pinetree Caravan Park moved location due to problems
with blowing sand covering the site. It was renamed
Freshfield Caravan Park. AB / VH

Pinetree Caravan Park innundated by blown sand.
Courtesy of National Trust.

Pinetree Caravan Park. Courtesy of National Trust.

128

Gypsy Wood, a narrow belt of pine
trees between Fisherman’s Path and
Formby, finally disappeared

following erosion of the dunes. AB

129

Birkdale Green Beach began to
form in 1986 when patches of
Common Saltmarsh-grass appeared

on the shore south of Weld Road. The
outermost of these collected blowing sand
to become low hummocks and then embryo
dunes, extending southwards rapidly
towards Ainsdale.  A series of dune-slacks,
flooded by winter rainfall, formed behind
the new dunes, creating a rich habitat for
rare plants and animals, including orchids
and Natterjack Toads.  Alder trees then
colonised the older parts of the slacks,
creating a “wet-woodland” of nearly 2ha (5
acres).  By 2010, the Green Beach was over
4km (2.5 miles) long, up to 200m (220 yards)
wide and covered an area of over 50ha (125
acres), this representing new land won from
the sea.

Birkdale Green Beach is a natural extension
to the Sefton duneland. It formed because
the foreshore grew wider and higher,
absorbing the energy of waves which would
otherwise have washed the plants away. As
well as helping to protect the coast from
rising sea-levels, the Green Beach is now
one of the finest places for wildlife in
northwest England. PS

Embryonic dunes forming at Birkdale in 2005. © Mike Downey / Natural England.

130

Conservation grazing was
introduced at Ainsdale Sand Dunes
NNR to enable more sustainable

management of the dunes. MD

131

The first 25 Herdwick sheep arrive at Ainsdale NNR in 1990. Courtesy of Natural England Archive.

Page 128

Agenda Item 10



41

131
1990

132
1991

133
1992

…19 Years  Ago

Cabin Hill
National Nature
Reserve, on the

southern edge of Formby,
was initially leased from
the Formby Estate in 1984
and declared an NNR in
1991 on account of its
outstanding examples of
fixed, mobile and embryo
dunes, as well as being
one of the most
important natterjack toad
breeding grounds at that
time. The NNR was
formally purchased for a
nominal fee by Natural
England in 2009. MD

Cabin Hill. Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

132

The 1992 Beach Management Plan was a
pioneering document which paved the way for
huge improvements especially on the northern

beaches at Ainsdale and Southport. Previously, vehicles had
been able to drive along the foreshore without restriction
for around 9kms between Southport Pier and Ainsdale.
This led to conflicts between legitimate recreational beach
use, the nature conservation interests and some beach
users whose behaviour was out of control. Motorbikes,
scrambling, reckless driving and flouted byelaws were
commonplace.

Visitor surveys (including use of aerial photography) had
showed conclusively that the majority of users were
concentrated around the main entrances. The first barrier
to be installed was actually in place in 1987 about 1km
north of Shore Road. The then Nature Conservancy
Council, now Natural England, along with the other coastal
land agencies supported the establishment of beach zones
and additional physical barriers were installed following
the adoption of Sefton’s first Beach Management Plan in
April 1993.

The Beach Management Plan resulted in a major reduction
in anti-social behaviour on coastal areas, improved
cleansing and was the mechanism that allowed for the
development of large areas of new dunes and slack
habitat, notably, the 'Birkdale Green Beach'. GW / DM

Beach management at Ainsdale. © Sefton Coast and Countryside Service.

Birkdale Green Beach. © Dave McAleavy.

133

Page 129

Agenda Item 10



42

134
1992

135
1995-1999

19 Years Ago to…

A controversial dune restoration
project saw the removal of areas
of pine woodland from Ainsdale

National Nature Reserve over 2 phases in
1992 and 1996 – the project winning a
Eurosite Quality Label Award for best
practice and securing the recovery of some
of the rarest dune habitats and species in
the country, but also raising local concerns
over the landscape impacts of large scale
clear-felling. Scrub control programmes
continued throughout the 1990s, under
the Natterjack Species Recovery
Programme and also an EU LIFE-Nature
project which included extensive survey
and monitoring work. MD Dune slack in flower following restoration work at Ainsdale Sand Dunes NNR.

© Mike Downey / Natural England.

134

The EU LIFE-Nature Project: 1995-1999, was a 1million Euros project
(about £750,000 at the time) developed by the Sefton Coast
Management Scheme to bring together all the coastal landowners

for the first time, enabling the golf courses, military and private landowners
to contribute towards habitat restoration works across the coast, and address
the threat of ‘habitat fragmentation’ whereby habitats and species become
isolated from one another. The project also helped to fund the purchase of
land at Ravenmeols, as well as the first edition publication of Dr. Phil Smith’s
‘The Sands of Time’. MD

Marsh Orchids return to dune slacks at Ainsdale
NNR after pine felling.© Rob Wolstenholme /
Natural England. 

135

Pressures from
development during the
1960s led to the purchase

of land for nature conservation at
Freshfield and Ainsdale. It also led
to the first designations as Sites of
Special Scientific Interest. These
designations were combined in
2000 with declaration of the Sefton
Coast as one special site. The
international importance of the
habitats, plants and animals of the
Sefton Coast merited its declaration
as a Special Area of Conservation in
European terms in 2000. The
beaches and sand / mud flats also
have international importance as a
Special Protection Area and as a
Ramsar site. These designations
were first applied in the 1980s and
remain current today. CB

136

Completion of Southport’s
new Sea Wall in 2000. MN137

Southport Sea Wall. © Sefton Council.

In 2001 the
Sefton Coast
Management

Scheme approach
entered a new phase
as the Sefton Coast
Partnership. JH

138

Example of the extent of the SSSI Designation
on the Sefton coast. © Sefton Council.

Page 130

Agenda Item 10



43

136
2000

137 138
2001

139
2004

140 141
2005

…5 Years  Ago

Monitoring sediment and vegetation north of Southport Pier.
© Sefton Council / Vanessa Holden.

Vegetation
grows naturally
on the beach at

Southport. Attempts
have been made to
control its expansion,
without success.
Necessary consents have
always been in place and
herbicides have proved
unsuccessful. Every
attempt will be made to
maintain the amenity
beach area at Southport
free from vegetation. GW

Vegetation on Southport beach.
Courtesy of Sefton Council Archive.

139

Since the early 19th century around 60% of the coastal dunes have been
lost to development, intensification or coastal erosion. These sand dune
habitats and species are not only highly valued locally, but are of great

importance nationally and internationally.  Thankfully over the past 40 years,
much of the remnant wild coast has been safeguarded in the form of nature
reserves, whilst our nature conservation management has also evolved over this
time.

The last decade has seen the consolidation of much of the previous sand dune
management, including the restoration of Freshfield Dune Heath, bought by the
Wildlife Trust in 2004, one of the largest remnants of dune heath in the country.
Under the stewardship of the Sefton Coast Partnership, a Nature Conservation
Strategy was prepared in 2007 which has brought together for the first time a
whole landscape scale approach to nature conservation on the Sefton Coast.  The
Strategy identifies the need for ongoing and future restorative habitat
management, particularly around the eroding coast at Formby Point, as well as
scrub control and hydrological management of dune slacks. MD

Reprofiling a dune slack.
© Rob Wolstenholme / Natural England.

140

The arrival of Antony Gormley’s 100 life size cast iron
men along a 3km stretch of Crosby Beach in 2005
was initially temporary. The sculptures, in naked

pose, were installed on 3m long piles, and had been taken
from moulds of the artists own body. The piece had
previously been exhibited in Germany, Belgium and Norway
before arriving in Sefton.

People came from around the globe to see the statues, which
provoked many emotions in all who visited them. Some
people did not enjoy the statues for a variety of reasons –the
nakedness, the safety of visitors to intertidal areas, the effect
on the bird life from increased disturbance or the effects on
fishing access. Conversely, many people loved the statues and
interacted with them on a personal level sometimes even
dressing them up in football kits or frilly underwear!

After competing campaigns for and against keeping the
statues they were made a permanent fixture on the Crosby
Foreshore in 2007. Some statues were relocated to alleviate
concerns over safety of beach users and safe corridors were
established among the statues to allow for water based
casualty recovery, although these have only been used in
exercises. Antony Gormley’s iron men have subsequently
become an iconic landmark for the Sefton Coast. GW

Antony Gormley ‘Another Place’. © Sefton Council.

141

Page 131

Agenda Item 10



44

142
2007

143

5 Years Ago to…

The Sefton Council Coastal Defence Team have been working on a
European funded Interreg IVB project called IMCORE (Innovative
Management for Europe’s Changing COastal REsource) since 2007. The

main aim of the project is to investigate how coastal management can adapt to
coastal change and climate change. Sefton is one of 9 key research areas across
North West Europe. This project involves improving our understanding, evidence
and communication of coastal change. So far through this project an adaptation
strategy has been developed, a conference proceedings book has been published,
and a Key Stage 2 education pack on the subject of coastal change, climate change
and how we respond to these changes has been made available free of charge to
all schools in Sefton. MN

142

Sefton’s Dynamic Coast conference
proceedings. © Sefton Council.

CoastWatch education pack. 
© Sefton Council.

Children learning about coastal change. © Sefton Council.

The Cell 11 Regional Monitoring Programme
(CERMS) is a coordinated project of coastal
monitoring to support sustainable coastal

defence and to ensure that coastal management
decisions are based upon the best possible information.
The programme is managed by the North West and
North Wales Coastal Group (www.mycoastline.org) and
includes coastal Local Authorities from the Welsh
border in the Dee Estuary to the Scottish border in the
Solway Estuary, along with the Environment Agency
North West Region. Sefton Council undertake the
coordinating role. The programme began in March 2007
and is currently funded until April 2016.
As part of the programme a wide range of data is
collected, including wave, tide, wind and current data,
beach profiles, bathymetric surveys, aerial photography,
coastal habitat extents, sediment sampling and coastal
defence inspections. Data is captured to a national
specification and quality controlled. The data is collated
by Sefton Council and forwarded to the Channel Coast
Observatory for dissemination through the national
web portal at www.channelcoast.org. LW

Regional Monitoring team surveying the beach. © Sefton Council.

143

Page 132

Agenda Item 10



45

144
2009

145 146

…2 Years  Ago

Sefton Council successfully won funding from the
Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
(DEFRA) to become one of only 15 local authorities in

England to explore new approaches to planning for, and
managing adaptation to, coastal change alongside their
communities. Through this project Sefton Council in conjunction
with Sefton’s Coast and Countryside, Edge Hill University and
The University of Liverpool are undertaking work on developing
a wetlands strategy for the coast, construction of a boardwalk
at Lifeboat Road, Formby, and creating visualisation material to
better communicate the changes occurring along the coast. MN

Early construction of Lifeboat Road boardwalk.© Dave McAleavy.

Sefton Council’s Coastal Defence team have
been fortunate to secure funding from the
Environment Agency to undertake a sand dune

management project at Lifeboat Road, Formby as part
of providing evidence of adaptation options for sand
dunes. The project is looking to understand the
effectiveness of sand dune management techniques for
slowing down the rate of erosion and encouraging
sand dune accretion. There will be a two year program
of sand dune management works over a 2.6km length
of the coast in order to test the effectiveness of the
methods. The methods tested will all work with the
natural formation of dunes through wind blown sand
and will include fencing, thatching and marram grass
planting. MN

144

Sand dune management works. © Sefton Council.

145

A study was undertaken into the impacts of sea level rise
on an already eroding central section of the Sefton
Coast. The study revealed that based on past rates of

erosion over the next 100 years we are at risk of losing 260
hectares of valuable sand dune habitats. In particular 18% of
dune slacks, which the Natterjack toads use to breed in. When
considering the Sefton Coast is home to 40% of the dune slacks in
England, the study highlights the vulnerability of our habitats
found on the eroding section of our coastline. MN

Male Natterjack toad at a breeding pool.
© Mike Downey / Natural England.

146

Page 133

Agenda Item 10



46

147
2009

148
2010

2 Years Ago to…

Results from the extensive research of Dr. Derek Clarke on the water table of Ainsdale National Nature reserve over
the past 35 years has found that if all other variables such as land use, drainage and sea level remain the same, over
the next 100 years we are likely to see a drop in the water table of 1.5metres. This will have considerable impact on

the specialised habitat of the dune slacks. MN

The £2million Landscape
Partnership Scheme was
awarded to the Sefton Coast

Partnership in 2010. The scheme
which runs until the end of December
2013, consists of 19 projects, which
aim to raise people’s awareness and
involvement in the special features of
the coast. This will be achieved by
improving the information available,
improving the availability of this
information through varied formats,
and offering opportunities to get
involved in training, events and
volunteering. MD / FS

147

148

Natterjack Ponds at Altcar, March 2011. © John Houston

Five new pond scrapes were
excavated at Altcar Rifle
Ranges to encourage

Natterjack toad breeding, funded
through the Million Ponds Project, a
collaborative partnership project
coordinated by Pond Conservation. MD

149

Page 134

Agenda Item 10



47

149
2011

Present Day

Formby beach. © Graham Lymbery.

Southport. © Lee Whittle.

Page 135

Agenda Item 10



48

150
2011-2100

Present Day

Crosby. © Paul Wisse.

Saltmarsh adjacent to RSPB car park, Marshside. © Vanessa Holden.

The Earth’s climate is constantly changing.
However, there is mounting evidence that our
climate is now changing at a faster rate,

caused by a combination of both natural and human
factors. There is often a time lag between the things
that intensify the changing climate, and the actual
changes. For example, even though people are now
trying to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases,
because these gases remain in our atmosphere for long
periods of time, we are now locked into a period of
change over the next 30-40 years due to the effects of
past emissions. In Sefton we are likely to see over the
next 50-100 years:

• A rise in maximum summer temperatures by 2-4 °c
• The warmest day of the year will rise by 4 °c
• Increased occurrence of “mini heat waves”
• Summer rainfall may decrease by around 11%
• Winter rainfall may increase by around 20%
• Extreme storms may be more frequent and 

intense, with rainfall events in excess of 150-200mm 
in one day leading to increased flooding

• Sea levels may rise by up to 85cm

These potential threats are likely to alter our coast
dramatically in both a positive and negative way. As we
are aware that these changes will occur in the future it
is important that we do something about it now, in the
form of adaptation and mitigation to reduce the
negative impacts and enhance the opportunities of
coastal change. MN

150

Woodland fire – hotter and drier summers could increase this risk in
the future. © Mike Downey / Natural England.

Sand lizard exposed after dune grass fire.
© Mike Downey / Natural England. 

Page 136

Agenda Item 10



49

151
2011-2100

100 Years into the Future…

Adaptation to coastal change is
something that has become
increasingly important to both UK and

European Governments. Coastal change is
something that anyone who has spent time on
the coast will recognise, whether it be land
reclamation, changes in how we use the coast,
or erosion. Humans have always adapted to the
changing coast, whether to exploit it or deal
with a threat to their land or livelihood.
In terms of managing the coast, a notable
change over the last 20 years is that we have
started to take a much longer term perspective
when developing policies; now up to a hundred
years. We therefore need to consider how the
coast will change in the future both as a result
of natural processes and climate change. It is
this cumulative change that we are referring to
when we talk about adapting to coastal
change. 

To adapt to coastal change we need to: 

• Understand how the coast will change 
• Understand the positive and negative 

impacts of this change 
• Consider our options for adapting to

these impacts 
• Choose the preferred options and

secure funding 
• Implement the options  

To do this we need evidence to support our
understanding of coastal change and we need
to select preferred options and include them in
the management plans we develop. We also
need to share our understanding to
communities. MN

151

Changing position of the coastline with predicted future extent.
© Sefton Council. 

Crosby Beach. © North West and North Wales Coastal Group.

Page 137

Agenda Item 10



Southport. © North West and North Wales Coastal Group.

Formby. © North West and North Wales Coastal Group.

50

Page 138

Agenda Item 10



The people who work and volunteer on our coast have brought together their knowledge to produce this
magazine, but it is you the reader that can bring the facts alive with your memories and photos. No matter
how old or recent your memories, can you help us to fill in any of the gaps in our coastal past? Visit the
Landscape Partnership Scheme pages on the web site: www.visitsouthport.com/seftons-natural-coast/seftons-
landscape-partnership to see how you can be involved. FS / WM

Ainsdale. © North West and North Wales Coastal Group.

51

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



Crown Copyright and Database rights 2011. Ordnance Survey 100018192.

Page 140

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 1

Sefton Council Local 
Flood & Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management 
Strategy
 2022 - 2030

Ready for the futurePage 141

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

Contents
1 Introduction  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

 1 .1  What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

 1 .2 Legislative Context  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .2

 1 .2 .1 National Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England (2020)  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .3

 1 .2 .2 North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .3

 1 .2 .3 Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership Business Plan  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .4

 1 .2 .4 Sefton’s 2030 Vision  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .4

 1 .3 Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .5

 1 .3 .1 What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .5

 1 .3 .2 Who is Responsible?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .6

 1 .3 .3 A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .8

2 Flood and coastal erosion in Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .10

 2 .1 Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding & Erosion  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .10

 2 .2 Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .13

3 Future Ambitions for Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .15

4 Potential Funding Sources  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .16

5 Monitor and review  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .17

6 Wider environmental context .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .18

7 Useful Links .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .19

Page 142

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 1

1  Introduction
1 .1 What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management   
 Strategy?
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, an LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy . 

The strategy provides an overview of flood and coastal erosion risk management in Sefton and 
integrates the concept of sustainable development through careful consideration of the three 
fundamental pillars: people, place and productivity . These three pillars of sustainability are a global 
concept that is incorporated into international and national schemes such as the United Nations’ 
2030 Sustainable Development Agenda and the UK Government’s 25-year Environmental Plan . 
Through sustainable development, the council aims to improve flood and coastal erosion risk 
management whilst aiding present and future environmental restoration .

The document gives information on who the risk management authorities are in Sefton, their 
relevant functions and how our approach to flood risk management is coordinated. It offers 
information on how wider environmental objectives will be achieved in Sefton and provides 
timescales of when our approach will be reviewed . The strategy is supported by a ‘Business Plan’ 
which outlines Sefton’s future measures for managing flood and coastal erosion risk and provides 
detail on the process, timescales, benefits and costs associated with any proposed measures. This 
strategy will provide local communities and stakeholders with clarity on flood risk management in 
Sefton . 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 2

1 .2 Legislative Context
The legislative framework defines the roles and responsibilities placed on flood risk management 
authorities . There are several overarching national legislative documents relevant to the management 
of flood and coastal erosion risk. The actions undertaken in Sefton must, therefore, align with national 
legislation . The hierarchy of the legislation and links to the relevant documents are provided in Figure 
1 . 

Sefton’s Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy is influenced by national, regional 
and sub-regional legislation, policies and strategic plans . The mirroring of these broader documents 
is essential to provide an integrated and, therefore, nationally coherent approach to sustainable flood 
and coastal erosion risk management . 

Figure 1: Legislative context . Links to the relevant documents can be found under Section 7: Useful Links .

Page 144

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 3

1 .2 .1 National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for    
England (2020)
The Environment Agency has a responsibility under the FWMA 2010 to develop a national strategy for 
flood and coastal erosion risk management in England. The national strategy for England outlines the 
duties of all risk management authorities involved in the reduction of flood and coastal erosion risk 
(further details provided in Section 1 .3 .2) . The focus of the national strategy for England is to support 
all risk management authorities to manage the risk of coastal erosion and flooding in a coordinated 
and sustainable way across coasts and catchments . 

The national strategy for England sets out a sustainable long-term vision:

“A nation ready for, and resilient to, flooding and coastal change – today, tomorrow and to the year 
2100.”

The vision is supported by a set of long-term ambitions focussed around the three pillars of 
sustainable development:

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change - 
ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change 
and know their responsibilities and how to take action . 

Climate-resilient places - working with partners to bolster resilience to 
flooding and coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face of 
climate change .

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making 
the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth 
and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change.

The national strategy for England provides the framework for LLFAs to produce their local flood risk 
management strategies and helps to guide operational activities and improvements to local flood 
and coastal erosion risk management . Under the FWMA it is essential that local strategies align 
with the vision of the national strategy whilst providing locally relevant actions for sustainable risk 
management .

1 .2 .2 North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan
The North West Regional Flood and Coastal Committee (RFCC) Business Plan is one of the main 
influences on Sefton’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The North West RFCC is one of 
twelve committees established across England under the FWMA 2010 . The RFCC brings together 
the organisations responsible for flood and coastal erosion risk management across the North 
West Region: The Environment Agency, Local Authorities and United Utilities . The committee has 
several functions, firstly, to ensure there are coherent plans for managing flood and coastal erosion, 
secondly, to encourage effective investment that benefits local communities and thirdly, to provide a 

Page 145

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 4

link between regional organisations involved in flood and coastal erosion risk management. The North 
West RFCC produces a three-year Business Plan which sets out the risks, challenges and actions for 
the region .

1 .2 .3 Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership    
Business Plan
A subsidiary of the North West RFCC is the Merseyside Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
(FCERM) Partnership which brings together the organisations that manage flood and coastal erosion 
risk in Merseyside . The aim of the partnership is to identify priorities, steer the use of resources and 
support good investments for our communities . The partnership uses the high-level actions outlined 
in the North West RFCC Business Plan to guide local actions . The Merseyside FCERM Business Plan sets 
out key risks, challenges and opportunities that face Merseyside in relation to flooding and coastal 
erosion . The Merseyside Business Plan is updated on a three-year cycle . 

1 .2 .4 Sefton’s 2030 Vision
In addition to the broader national and regional strategies, Sefton Council has a localised 2030 Vision 
which has eight overarching themes that form the founding principles of our work in Sefton (Figure 2) . 
The eight themes of the Sefton Vision incorporate the three pillars of sustainability: people, place and 
productivity . 

The eight themes of Sefton Vision help to guide our current and future actions and are used in the 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Business Plan to underpin our proposed future measures for 
flood and coastal erosion risk management. 

Figure 2: Depiction of the eight themes that form the foundation of Sefton’s 2030 Vision .

Page 146

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/your-local-area/merseyside/#section-4


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 5

1.3 Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk      
 Management
1 .3 .1 What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?
Flooding events can have devastating environmental, social and economic impacts making a 
sustainable flood risk management strategy essential. It is not often economically feasible or even 
desirable to prevent all forms of flooding in all locations. Therefore, Sefton Council uses its powers as 
an LLFA to reduce either the likelihood or consequences of flooding and works with other flood risk 
management authorities to ensure all powers and duties are being enacted .

Flood risk is a balance between probability and consequences . Generally, the less probable (likely) 
an event is the more severe the consequences (impacts) will be . Flood risk is dependent upon the 
presence of a flood source, a route for the flooding and an area that would be affected by the water. 
Without a route linking the floodwaters to a vulnerable area of human infrastructure, the flood would 
be a hazard but not a risk . 

Return periods are often used to describe the frequency of a flood event and are an average of how 
often a flood event of a given magnitude will occur in a year. These return periods are a form of 
probability or chance – a 1 in 50 return period has a 2% probability of occurring in any one year .

Table 1 outlines the commonly used return periods with their equivalent percentage probabilities . 
High probability flood events are generally smaller in magnitude and are more likely to have localised 
impacts when compared to low probability flood events which are likely to have broader reaching and 
more severe impacts .

Table 1: Explanation of flood return periods

Coastal erosion describes the persistent wearing away of the coastline. Land lost to erosion is difficult 
to recover and, once gone, has a lasting impact on the shape of the coastline . Erosion is generally a 
gradual process but can be dramatically increased during storm events . Larger scale erosion events 

Page 147

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 6

are a combination of extreme weather, tidal conditions and the susceptibility of a coastline to erosion . 
As climate change continues to raise sea levels and increase the severity and frequency of storms the 
management of coastal erosion and flood risk will become ever more challenging. 

1 .3 .2 Who is Responsible?
Flooding can be caused by different sources and there are designated risk management authorities 
that are responsible for flooding from certain sources. However, flooding can occur from a complex 
interplay of sources (combination of sources) meaning flood risk management authorities must work 
collaboratively to reduce and prevent flood impacts (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020).   

‘Local Flood Risk’ (the subject of this document) refers to flooding from ordinary watercourses, 
groundwater and surface water. Detail on who is responsible for the management of flooding from 
other sources and coastal erosion can be found in Table 2 . More information can also be found on the 
The Flood Hub website .

The coast is a particularly dynamic environment and can be a risk for those living and working by the 
sea. The Environment Agency have a national strategic overview of coastal flood and erosion risks 
and sets the direction for how flood and coastal risk is managed. The North West and North Wales 
Coastal Group is a key partnership for delivering this strategic direction and oversees this through 
the coordination and delivery of the Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) for the north west coast of 
England. The SMP identifies the most sustainable approach to managing the flood and coastal erosion 
risks of a coastline to reduce risk to people and the environment in the short-term (0-20 years), 
medium-term (20-50 years) and long-term (50-100 years) . The SMP has four policy options: Hold the 
Line . Advance the Line, Managed Realignment and No Active Intervention . Sefton Council is 

Page 148

Agenda Item 10

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/am-i-at-risk/?term=responsibility#section-2


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 7

the coastal protection authority for the borough of Sefton and seeks to deliver the actions as set out 
in the SMP . The North West Coastal Group website provides information on the relevant coastal risk 
management authorities and how we work in partnership to manage the coast sustainably .

Table 2: Flood sources and coastal erosion events defined plus the responsible risk management authority.         
Highlighted are the events that are relevant to the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy.

Event Risk Management Authority Description 
Surface Water Flooding              
(Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water is forced to flow over land or ponds in 
low spots as it is unable to be absorbed by the soil or drain 
into the drainage network . This can occur after a heavy 
rainfall event . 

Ground Water Flooding             
(Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water is forced to flow out of the ground due 
to high water tables in the surrounding area .

Flooding from Ordinary 
Watercourses (Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water flows out of smaller watercourses such 
as streams, brooks and drainage ditches . This can occur 
when the capacity is exceeded or due to a blockage .

Coastal Flooding Environment Agency Occurs when coastal areas are inundated by the sea . This 
can occur due to extremely high water levels or failure of 
raised coastal defences 

Coastal Erosion The Maritime Authority - Sefton 
Council 

Occurs through the consistent wearing away of the land 
or beach . 

River Flooding Environment Agency Occurs when flood water originates from main river 
channels (designated by the Environment Agency), this 
can occur due to overtopping of river banks or a failure of a 
raised embankment

Sewer Flooding United Utilities Occurs when foul water surcharges from sewers . This can 
occur due to capacity exceedance or blockages .

Road, Drain or Gully flooding Highways England (Trunk Roads), 
Sefton Council Highways (Locally 
adopted highway)

Flooding or ponding on the highway . This can occur due to 
capacity exceedance or blockages .

Canal Flooding Canal and River Trust Flood water originates from a canal . This can occur when 
the level of the water in the canal becomes too high and 
overtops or the failure of a raised embankment

Page 149

Agenda Item 10

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 8

1 .3 .3 A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk
The varied responsibilities for flood risk management and nature of flooding mean that Sefton Council 
works with other risk management authorities, communities and riparian owners to reduce flood and 
coastal erosion risk across Sefton . 

Merseyside Partnership

We work in partnership with all Merseyside LLFAs and other partner risk management authorities 
to ensure we manage flood risk collectively. We also collaborate with wider stakeholders and 
groups (please refer to Section 6 of the Business Plan) to provide a broadscale approach to flood 
risk management . Figure 3 depicts the working relationships between these organisations across 
Merseyside and beyond . 

Figure 3: Partnership working to deliver Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management across Merseyside

The Strategic Merseyside Flood Partnership Group coordinates flood risk management across 
Merseyside and is supported by a Tactical Officers Group that coordinates activity and shares best 
practice . Furthermore, each Local Authority hosts a Local Operational Group where local issues are 
discussed in detail .

Individuals and Communities

Individual property and business owners have a responsibility to protect their property from flooding. 
Land, property and business owners should take appropriate steps to ensure that their property and 
contents are protected .

The Flood Hub is a North West regionally funded website to support our communities in 
understanding how they can become more resilient and resistant to flooding. 

Page 150

Agenda Item 10

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 9

Riparian Owners

Under common law, riparian owners have responsibilities for the stretch of watercourse they own . 
A riparian owner possesses land in which a watercourse runs on, through, beneath or adjacent to it . 
If the land is adjacent to a watercourse it is assumed that the landowner owns up to the centre of 
the watercourse, unless it is owned by someone else (confirmation through a land registry check). 
Under the Land Drainage Act (1991), riparian landowners have a legal responsibility to maintain 
the free passage of water through the section of watercourse that flows through their land. The 
responsibilities of landowners are outlined in the GOV .UK webpage . The Flood Hub provides advice and 
guidance on riparian ownership .

Developers

Developers have a responsibility to ensure developments are sustainably drained . Sustainable 
drainage must be considered both during and post-construction . It is the responsibility of the 
developer to demonstrate that new developments do not increase flood risk to the site or surrounding 
area . It is then for the Local Planning Authority, and associated statutory consultees, to determine 
whether suitable flood risk mitigation has been demonstrated or not. The type and location of the 
development will determine whether a flood risk assessment and/or sustainable drainage strategy is 
required to manage flood risk. The LLFA is a statutory consultee on all major planning applications (≥ 
10 properties) . The Local Planning Authority is responsible for ensuring the development is undertaken 
in accordance with the approved plans such as Sefton’s Local Plan . The Local Plan is used to shape 
development in Sefton between 2015 and 2030 . The plan encourages sustainable development and 
economic growth and it gives current and future generations more opportunities to live and work in 
Sefton’s outstanding environment . Sefton Council’s robust planning procedures ensure developments 
do not increase flood risk elsewhere or deliver betterment to the flood risk in the area.  

Page 151

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/owning-a-watercourse
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/landowner/?term=riparian


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 10

2 Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton
2 .1 Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion
Sefton has experienced several significant flooding and erosion events over recent decades. The 
borough is within a low-lying pumped catchment which contains three estuaries, a canal and is 
bordered by the Irish Sea – all these factors place Sefton at risk of flooding and erosion. Table 3 details 
some of the significant events to occur in the last 60 years:

Table 3: Historic flood and erosion events in Sefton

Period Event
1970s The breach of a secondary sea defence in Crossens resulted in the inundation of 110 properties .

1990s The Leeds and Liverpool Canal burst its banks flooding over 200 properties in Maghull.

2010 50 properties were flooded in Seaforth after heavy and prolonged rainfall

2012 40 properties in Maghull were flooded after heavy and prolonged rainfall.

2013/2014 Winter storms resulted in the loss of 11 m of coastline at Crosby (average erosion rate of approximately 1-2 m per 
year) .

2015 Extensive flooding across the borough was prevented from entering properties due to actions undertaken by the 
local community and fire service.

2019 Significant flooding from Dover’s Brook, Maghull, as a result of heavy rainfall causing the highest recorded water 
levels on the brook since a gauge was installed in 2012 at 2 .51m . Flood waters were prevented from damaging 
properties due to quick action from the local community, Sefton Council and the Environment Agency

2020 - High groundwater levels in the borough and flooding incidents in Formby and Maghull following the wettest 
February on record . 

- Storm Ciara caused a loss of approximately 10 .3 m of coastline from Cabin Hill, south of Formby point . 

-Summer storms caused significant flooding in Maghull and Thornton.

2021 Two Severe Flood Warnings were issued to 439 properties on the evening of 20 January 2021, with evacuations 
proceedings initiated from some residents . 

A new peak level was recorded at Dover’s Bridge gauging station of 2 .564 m on 20 January 2021 which saw Dover’s 
Brook overtop its bank and flood Sefton Lane. Flooding to properties was avoided due to the action of the residents.

The record river levels experienced during Storm Christoph breached flood defences on the River Alt next to the 
Environment Agency’s Lunt Meadows Flood Storage Basin and nature reserve, managed by Lancashire Wildlife Trust . 
The breach resulted in river levels dropping rapidly .

The Severe Warnings were downgraded in the early hours of 21 January as we received less rain than forecast, 
along with river levels dropping rapidly. This appears to have been key in preventing the extensive flooding forecast 
in Maghull .  

Flood risk is not equal across the Sefton borough – Figure 4 displays the current understanding of 
borough-wide flood risk in Sefton (more detail can be found on the GOV .UK website) . Figure 4 displays 
the extent of flood risk based on a 1 in 1000 event (0.1% probability in any given year) taking into 
account climate change allowances and the number of houses at risk of inundation . Furthermore, a 
1 in 100 event (1% probability in any given year) (includes climate change allowance) could result in 
approximately 72,000 being impacted by external flooding in their gardens or adjacent roads and 

Page 152

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 11

Figure 4: Flood risk from all sources in Sefton for a 1 in 1000 (0 .1%) event .

15,600 are at risk of internal flooding. Areas at higher risk of flooding are Maghull, Formby, Crosby 
(Figure 4) .

Page 153

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 12

Sefton currently has both an eroding and accreting coastline - Figure 5 displays the areas currently 
at risk of erosion . The coast is protected by a variety of hard and soft sea defences . Soft defences, 
such as the sand dunes in Formby, offer a degree of protection but can be vulnerable during storm 
events, which can erode several metres of dunes during a single event . Saltmarsh environments, 
such as those present in Southport, also offer useful natural defence by reducing the energy of 
incoming waves . Current hard defences, such as the sea wall in Crosby, has provided excellent 
protection to local communities but some of these assets are reaching the end of their design 
life and potentially pose a risk if they are not maintained or replaced . The SMP provides the policy 
context for the long term future of these assets . 

In addition to erosion, there is also large sections of accretion where sediment gathers and builds 
out towards the Irish Sea . These accreting sections cause beach levels to rise, sand dunes to 
increase and saltmarshes to form and improve the coastal defences function they provide .

Figure 5: Coastal erosion risk in Sefton (Red lines show areas at highest risk) . Please see SMP for more details .

Page 154

Agenda Item 10

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 13

2 .2 Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton
Flooding and coastal erosion are significant risks to our borough. These risks can be influenced and 
exacerbated by several overarching factors which make flood and coastal erosion risk management in 
Sefton more challenging . These are:

Climate Change 

Climate change is having a significant impact on future river flows, rainfall and coastal dynamics. The 
UK’s average temperature has increased by 0 .8 degrees since 1961-1990, with a sea-level rise of 16 
cm for the UK since 1900 (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020) . The UK Climate Projections 
2018 (UKCP18) illustrate a range of future climate scenarios up to 2100 which are relevant to the 
management of flood and coastal erosion risk: 

 ■ Sea levels are projected to rise over the 21st century and beyond under all emission scenarios . 
Therefore, we can expect to see an increase in both the frequency and magnitude of extreme 
water levels around the UK coastline . 

 ■ Average summer rainfall could decrease by up to 47% by 2070, while there could be up to 35% 
more precipitation in winter . What rainfall does occur is predicted to be more intense over a 
shorter duration, which could lead to an increase in surface water flood risk. 

The projections provided in UKCP18 can be used as a tool to guide national and local decision-making 
and boost resilience – whether that is aiding future developments plans, increasing flood defences, 
designing new infrastructure or adjusting land management for drier summers .

As a result of the UKCP18 projections, several Merseyside Local Authorities, including Sefton and 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, have declared a climate emergency . The declaration 
commits us to tackle carbon emissions, raising awareness of climate change and activating change 
through local action . This strategy will support the delivery of adaptation where necessary . 

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 14

Predominant Surface Water Flood Risk 

Surface water flooding has the potential to occur anywhere but is particularly prevalent following 
short, intense storms. These surface water flood events can occur in all areas of Sefton. Sefton has 
the highest number of properties at high risk of surface water flooding, both in Merseyside and in the 
North West. The increased risk of surface water is largely a result of Sefton’s naturally flat topography, 
coastal boundary, large areas of urban development and the reliance on pumping stations to drain 
the catchment .  

Ageing Drainage Infrastructure 

Sefton has a large network of ageing culverts, sewers and drains which may need significant 
investment to replace or upgrade them . This ageing infrastructure, along with pressures from 
development and a tendency for increased paving, such as driveways, poses problems to the drainage 
network. Furthermore, ad-hoc modifications to watercourses such as culverting and flow redirection 
can increase pressure on the ageing network, particularly when modifications are undertaken without 
consent .

Rising groundwater levels 

Merseyside is situated on an aquifer that, for approximately 150 years, was heavily exploited . The 
water table was drawn considerably below its natural level . Upon cessation of pumping, the aquifer 
has undergone recharge, which has resulted in rising groundwater levels in some areas . The rising 
groundwater table means there is less capacity for the absorption of rainfall into the ground which 
can lead to groundwater flooding. Groundwater levels also interact with tidal levels along the coast 
resulting in variability in the level of dune aquifers and subsequent flooding. 

Coastline Dynamics 

Coastal flooding and erosion are serious considerations for the management of Sefton’s 22-mile 
coastline . Sefton’s coastline varies between hard engineered defence structures and natural soft sea 
defences . 

The North West and North Wales Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) provides recommendations on 
whether to maintain Sefton’s current coastal defences (‘hold the line’), whether to allow to coast to 
evolve naturally (‘no active intervention’) or whether defences should be set back further (‘managed 
realignment’). Current sea walls and embankments are designed to protect against both flooding and 
erosion . Coastal erosion does pose a risk to the sustainability of current natural defences, as well as 
the potential loss of important habitats (e .g . dune systems at Formby point) . Furthermore, some of 
Sefton’s hard defences are reaching the end of their design life and potentially pose a risk if they are 
not sufficiently maintained or replaced. The coastline is also susceptible to changes in the coastal 
process dynamics driven by climate change . Rising sea levels and changes to weather patterns will 
likely see the eroding areas expand and a reduction in those that are accreting .

Page 156

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 15

3 Future Ambitions for Sefton
When looking to Sefton’s future the vision and ambitions for FCERM must take a holistic approach by 
integrating national and local ambitions .  

The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy is aligned to the Sefton Vision 2030 and the work 
delivered through the strategy will aid all aspects of life in the borough . The Sefton Vision 2030 has 
a clear commitment to sustainability and all our future FCERM actions must incorporate this vision 
to ensure long-term viability . By working with and supporting local communities and businesses we 
aim to ensure a strong, knowledgeable and resilient community . By continually seeking technological 
advances we aim to be at the forefront of a sustainable future that uses evidence-based decision 
making in the management of flood and coastal erosion risk. 

On a local level, the Sefton 2030 Vision provides the ambitions for a sustainable Sefton Borough and 
these are combined with the ambitions of the National Flood Risk Management Strategy for England . 
The integration of national and local agendas provides a locally sustainable but nationally coherent 
approach to flood risk management in Sefton. 

The Business plan details the specific actions that will be delivered to reduce the risk of flood and 
coastal erosion in Sefton . It also gives information on the relevant funding sources and timescales 
on when these actions will be completed . The Business Plan is kept as a separate document so it 
can be updated regularly to reflect changes in revenue budgets, funding progress and new scheme 
identification. The Business Plan provides transparency for our communities but is primarily aimed at 
Council decision-makers and partnered agencies . 

Page 157

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 16

4 Potential Funding Sources
Under the FWMA 2010, Sefton Council has allocated annual revenue funding to undertake its duties 
and maintain watercourses in its ownership . The annual funding is spread across several services 
depending upon who is responsible for the land or watercourse .

However, Sefton Council seeks additional funding to enable it to better manage the risk of flooding 
and coastal erosion . The following funding sources are available:

 ■ Flood Defence Grant in Aid (GiA): This is money from Defra which is administered by the 
Environment Agency . The amount of GiA a scheme is eligible for is determined by the outcomes 
and benefits it will deliver, with a focus on homes being better protected from flooding and 
coastal erosion. Outcome Measures reflect financial, environmental, health, social and FCERM 
benefits. Where there is a shortfall in GiA, partnership funding contributions from other sources 
or a reduction in costs is required to achieve project viability . Funding allocations for these 
sources are subject to a successful and approved business case . 

 ■ Local Levy: The North West RFCC can choose to support projects that are either not eligible for 
GiA, or to support projects where there is a shortfall in GiA by the allocation of Local Levy . 

 ■ Partnership Funding: Where GiA in Aid and/or Local Levy does not fully support the delivery of 
a project, the LLFA can provide additional funding through their contributions or by seeking 
external contributions from partners and communities who may benefit from the project. 
Funding allocations for these sources are subject to a successful, approved business cases . 

 ■ Quick Win Funding: The Merseyside FCERM Partnership has an annual allocation of £50,000 for 
small interventions that can improve the management of risk .

 ■ Prudential Borrowing: The Council may undertake prudential borrowing to enable an essential 
capital scheme to progress, but this is dependent upon identifying revenue budget efficiencies 
in future years to make funding available to meet the cost of repaying the loan . 

 ■ Other Grants: Sefton Council will seek to secure funding from other grants as and when they 
become available .

 ■ Highways Funding: The Council is responsible for keeping the highway free from flooding and 
invests money in its Highway Drainage Asset to achieve this . There are opportunities to use this 
funding to achieve wider outcomes relating to flooding as well as keeping the highway free from 
flooding.

Page 158

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 17

5 Monitor and Review
This Local Flood Risk Management Strategy will remain in place up to 2030 . However, it may be 
necessary to review the strategy sooner if there are any changes required due to new regulations or 
evidence. The supporting Business Plan, which provides details on specific actions, will be updated 
regularly and scrutinised annually in relation to our progress and performance by Sefton’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee . 

Our knowledge base will be kept up to date through our asset inspections and survey programme for 
both coastal and inland assets . Information on coastal evolution will be provided by the North West 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme . 

Page 159

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 18

6 Wider Environmental Context
This Local Flood Risk Management Strategy has been produced based on the principle of 
sustainability . Sefton Council wants to ensure the proposed actions align with the wider 
environmental and strategic direction of partners . Therefore, a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) was an essential part of the local strategy . These assessments identify the potential 
environmental effects from the implementation of the local flood risk management strategy. 

The HRA found that due to the strategic high level of the Strategy and nature of supporting Business 
Plan actions, it is concluded that the Strategy will have no likely significant effects on the national 
site network and Ramsar sites. It is, however, recommended, where appropriate, subsequent plan / 
project-level HRAs will likely be required (HRA can be found in Appendix 1) .

Page 160

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 19

7 Useful Links
 ■ Flood and Water Management Act 2010:         

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents

 ■ Water Industry 1991 Act:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents

 ■ Town and Country Planning Act 1990:         
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents

 ■ Water Resources Act 1991:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contents

 ■ Reservoirs Act 1975:             
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/23

 ■ Land Drainage Act 1991:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents

 ■ Public Health Act 1936:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5and1Edw8/26/49

 ■ Environment Bill 2020:            
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020

 ■ Agriculture Bill 2019-2021:           
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/agriculture.html

 ■ Civil Contingencies Act 2004:            
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents

 ■ National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England:                             
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-
management-strategy-for-england--2

 ■ Flood Risk Regulations 2009:            
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made

 ■ National Planning Policy Framework 2012:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

 ■ 25 Year Environment Plan 2018:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan

 ■ Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan Framework:       
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-
wastewater-management-plans/

 ■ The Water Environment Regulations 2017:         
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made

 ■ North West Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Business Plan:                                               
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee

Page 161

Agenda Item 10

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contentshttp://
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/23
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5and1Edw8/26/49
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/agriculture.html
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contentshttp://
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plans/
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plans/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 20

 ■ Flood Risk Management Plans:          
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-plans-frmps-responsibilities

 ■ Catchment Flood Management Plans:         
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/catchment-flood-management-plans

 ■ River Basin Management Plans:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015

 ■ Shoreline Management Plans:          
https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/

 ■ Merseyside FCERM Partnership Business Plan:        
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-
Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4 .pdf

 ■ Sefton Vision 2030:            
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/vision-and-core-purpose/

 ■ Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Management Plan:     
www.sefton.gov.uk/advice-benefits/crime-and-emergencies/flooding-advice.aspx

 ■ Strategic Flood Risk Assessment:         
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-
march-2013 .pdf

 ■ Surface Water Management Plan:         
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1442/sefton_swmp.pdf

 ■ Multi Agency Resilience Framework:         
https://merseysideprepared.org.uk/

 ■ Sefton Coast Plan:           
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20
Coast%20Plan .pdf

 ■ Local Plan:             
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan

 ■ Consenting and Enforcement Policy:          
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20
Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies .pdf

 ■ Flood Investigation Policy:           
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20
and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies .pdf

 ■ Climate Emergency Declaration:          
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-
emergency/

Page 162

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-plans-frmps-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/catchment-flood-management-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015
https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4.pdf
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/vision-and-core-purpose/
www.sefton.gov.uk/advice-benefits/crime-and-emergencies/flooding-advice.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-march-2013.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-march-2013.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1442/sefton_swmp.pdf
https://merseysideprepared.org.uk/
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20Coast%20Plan.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20Coast%20Plan.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies.pdfhttp://
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies.pdfhttp://
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-emergency/
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-emergency/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 21Page 163

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 22

Appendix 1: Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
Stage 1: Assessment of Likely Significant Effects

Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 2022 -2030 and 
supporting Business PlanHabitats Regulations Assessment

Source-Pathway-Receptor approach

The source-pathway-receptor model assesses individual elements of a proposal that may result in 
significant effects on the national site network and Ramsar sites (formerly referred to collectively as 
European sites). If there is a source-pathway-receptor link, then this effect is assessed for significance 
within the HRA. All potential effects, regardless of scale, duration or permanence are identified and 
assessed for significance. Figure 1 below shows how the model works.

A 2018 ECJ judgement, known as People Over Wind or Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta ruled that 
avoidance and mitigation measures included within the proposals solely to avoid or reduce harmful 
effects on SACs, SPAs and Ramsar sites cannot be considered at the Assessment of Likely Significant 
Effects (ALSE) stage . These measures should instead be assessed within the framework of an 
Appropriate Assessment . This requires a distinction during the ALSE between essential features and 
characteristics of a project (e .g . its nature, scale, design, location, frequency, timing and duration) 
and avoidance and mitigation measures designed solely to avoid or reduce adverse effects on SACs, 
SPAs and Ramsar sites .

Source Pathway Receptor

e .g demolition works
Noise and dust 

emissions .

Noise disturbance

Qualifying birds     
within the Mersey 
Estuary, effects on   

prey species

Figure 1 – Source-Pathway-Receptor Model

Page 164

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 23

Location description
Sefton’s coastline is subject to multiple layers of nature conservation designation . This includes the 
following national site network and Ramsar sites:

 ■ Sefton Coast SAC;

 ■ Ribble & Alt Estuaries SPA;

 ■ Ribble & Estuaries Ramsar;

 ■ Liverpool Bay SPA .

Within the wider Liverpool City Region, there are 11 national and Ramsar sites covering the Ribble 
Estuary, the Sefton Coast, the Mersey Estuary, the Dee Estuary and Liverpool Bay with interest 
features that that encompass a range of coastal habitats, rare reptiles, amphibians and plants, 
together with wintering, passage and breeding waterbirds . 

Results 

The Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 2022-2030 and supporting Business 
Plan is a high-level strategic document. Therefore, the Strategy and does not include site-specific 
policy, timing, location, scale or nature of works .

Moreover, the Strategy includes a vision and three pillars of sustainable development which set a 
longer aspiration and are broadly defined i.e. they apply to the people, place and economy of Sefton 
as a whole . 

The supporting Business Plan sets out how funding will be secured and managed for proposed 
interventions over the short to medium terms . FCERM actions (section 4) are set out according to 
the pillars of sustainable development: People, Place and Productivity with indicative information 
regarding funding, timescale and resource provided .

Section 5 of the Business Plan summarises larger plans and projects (a to m) falling within the FCERM 
actions . 

This includes ongoing plans/programmes e.g. ‘Northwest Shoreline Management Plan monitoring 
programme’ and ‘Surface Water Management’ which are already in place and subject to their own 
plan-level HRA, as appropriate. Other actions relate to in-progress or near horizon schemes which will/
are being subject to project-level HRA and SSSI consents such as ‘Ainsdale Birkdale Coastal Outfalls’, 
‘Crosby Flood & Coastal Defence Scheme’ and ‘Council-delivered SUDs schemes’ . 

The detail of such schemes e .g . timing, location, scale or nature of works would be assessed through 
separate project-level HRA . 

Whilst the Business Plan only provides summary information of plans/programmes at this stage, 
several actions will/are likely to be having beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 

Page 165

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 24

environment e .g . ‘Deliver the North West Strategic Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme’ and 
‘Engage with riparian owners about their responsibilities’ . In addition, maintenance actions such as 
inspection of Council-owned assets are of a scale and nature unlikely to contribute likely significant 
effects .

Taking the above into account, I have undertaken a plan-level HRA of the Strategy (see Table 1) which 
screens out likely significant effects on the national site network and Ramsar sites. 

However, subsequent delivery plans or projects which arise as a result of the Strategy and form of its 
delivery mechanism may need to be subjected to their own specific HRA for likely significant effects.

Conclusion

Due to the strategic high level of the Strategy and nature of supporting Business Plan actions, it is 
concluded that the Strategy will have no likely significant effects on the national site network and 
Ramsar sites. 

Subsequent plan / project-level HRA will likely be required.

Page 166

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 25

Source Pathway Receptor
Likely Significant  
Effects?

Strategic Vision
“A nation ready for, and resilient to, flooding and 
coastal change – today, tomorrow and to the year 
2100 .”

No pathway – overarching 
strategic aspiration 

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Pillars of Sustainable Development
People - A nation ready to respond and adapt 
to flooding and coastal change - ensuring local 
people understand their risk to flooding and 
coastal change and know their responsibilities and 
how to take action . 

No pathway – strategic 
objective 

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Place – Climate-resilient places - working with 
partners to bolster resilience to flooding and 
coastal change across the nation, both now and in 
the face of climate change .

No pathway – strategic 
objective 

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Productivity – Today’s growth and infrastructure 
resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making the 
right investment and planning decisions to 
secure sustainable growth and environmental 
improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change.

No pathway – strategic 
objective

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Sefton Council, Local Flood Risk Strategy Business Plan
People
Develop an FCERM communications plan to support 
the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Strategy .

No pathway – FCERM 
communications plan 
likely to have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Engage with communities about the broader issues 
of FCERM .

No pathway – engagement 
likely to have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Engage with riparian owners about their 
responsibilities

No pathway – engagement 
likely to have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Engage with communities where FCERM projects 
will be undertaken .

No pathway – engagement 
likely to have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Exchange knowledge and best practice with wider 
partnerships to ensure Sefton’s interests are 
considered

No pathway – knowledge 
exchange likely to have 
beneficial consequences for 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Work with other RMA’s to identify viable options for 
Fouracres aligned with wider options for Maghull 
(Project E in Sefton 5)

No pathway – Options for 
Fouracres and Maghull 
would be subject to project-
level HRA as appropriate

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites

No likely significant 
effects

Work with land managers and NW coastal group 
on the delivery of the Eco buffers project at Formby 
Point (Project L in Section 5)

No pathway – Eco Buffers 
project likely to have 
beneficial consequences for 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects

Ensure council-delivered SUDs schemes achieve 
multiple benefits.

No pathway – Council-
delivered SUDs schemes 
would be subject to project-
level HRA as appropriate

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites

No likely significant 
effects

Page 167

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 26

Source Pathway Receptor
Likely Significant  
Effects?

Seek funding to deliver the Crosby Flood & Coastal 
Defence Scheme (Project A in section 5) .

No pathway – Crosby Flood 
& Coastal Defence Scheme 
would be subject to project-
level HRA as appropriate . 
Seeking funding has no 
pathway for LSE on the 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites 

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Assess deliverability and seek funding to deliver 
the Pool Scheme (Project B in section 5) .

No pathway – Pool Scheme 
would be subject to project-
level HRA as appropriate . 
Assessment of deliverability 
and seeking of funding has 
no pathway for LSE on the 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Support the delivery of the Climate Emergency 
Action Plan (Project L in section 5) .

No pathway - supporting 
delivery of existing action 
plan. May have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Review FCERM policies & develop new policies were 
necessary .

No pathway – new and 
revised FCERM policies would 
be subject to plan-level HRA 
as appropriate

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Inspecting Council-owned assets No pathway – the nature 
and scale of this action is 
unlikely to result in LSE on 
the national sites network 
and Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Reactive inspection of private-owned assets 
following reports of flooding

No pathway – the nature 
and scale of this action is 
unlikely to result in LSE on 
the national sites network 
and Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Explore opportunities to manage water differently 
to support the wider work of Green Sefton such 
as community food growing projects and habitat 
creation

No pathway – community 
food growing projects and 
habitat creation may have 
beneficial consequences for 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites . No LSE

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Place
Undertake consenting with Riparian owners as 
required

No pathway – consenting 
of riparian works would be 
subject to project-level HRA 
as appropriate

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Undertake enforcement with Riparian owners as 
required

No pathway – may have 
beneficial consequences for 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Productivity
Ensure flood and coastal erosion risk is considered 
in all council-led projects

No pathway – council-led 
projects subject to project-
level HRA as appropriate

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Review up-to-date climate change projections and 
consider how these may impact Sefton

No pathway – review up-
to-date climate change 
projections has no LSE 

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Page 168

Agenda Item 10



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 27

Source Pathway Receptor
Likely Significant  
Effects?

Deliver actions set out in Shoreline Management 
Plan

No pathway - supporting 
delivery of existing plan . 
May have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Deliver actions set-out in the Flood Risk 
Management Plan (Project K in section 5) .

No pathway - supporting 
delivery of existing plan . 
May have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Deliver the North West Strategic Regional Coastal 
Monitoring Programme (Project C in section 5)

No pathway - supporting 
delivery of existing 
monitoring programme . 
May have beneficial 
consequences for national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Establish plan and triggers for works to Hightown 
Coastline (Project F in Section 5)

No pathway – plan and 
triggers for works to 
Hightown Coastline would 
be subject to plan/project-
level HRA

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Ensure we support planning in undertaking its 
duty as a planning authority through our role as a 
statutory consultee on major developments

No pathway – major 
developments would be 
subject to project-level HRA

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Deliver improvements to the surface water outfalls 
along the Ainsdale/Birkdale coastline

No pathway – improvements 
to the surface water outfalls 
along the Ainsdale/Birkdale 
coastline has been subject 
to project-level HRA which 
found no adverse impact 
on integrity of national 
sites network and Ramsar 
sites provided additional 
mitigation is implemented 
in full

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Coordinate the delivery of groundwater monitoring 
across the Merseyside Authorities

No pathway – delivery of 
groundwater monitoring 
may have beneficial 
consequences to the 
national sites network and 
Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Pilot smart water level monitoring at key locations 
in Sefton

No pathway – the nature 
and scale of this action is 
unlikely to result in LSE on 
the national sites network 
and Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Undertake a programme of inspection for coastal 
assets

No pathway – the nature 
and scale of this action is 
unlikely to result in LSE on 
the national sites network 
and Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Undertake a programme of inspections for inlands 
assets

No pathway – the nature 
and scale of this action is 
unlikely to result in LSE on 
the national sites network 
and Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Undertake programmed and reactive maintenance No pathway – the nature 
and scale of this action is 
unlikely to result in LSE on 
the national sites network 
and Ramsar sites

Qualifying features of 
national site network and 
Ramsar sites 

No likely significant 
effects  

Page 169

Agenda Item 10



Page 170

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10d 

1 
 

Plans to keep Sefton safe from  

floods and coastal erosion.  

2022 - 2030 
 

 

There is a law called the Flood and 

Water Management Act 2010.   

It made Sefton Council responsible 

for the management of its local 

flood and coastal erosion risk. 

Coastal erosion describes the loss 

of land from the movement of 

wave and tides.   

Flooding describes the presence 

of water in unexpected or unusual 

areas e.g. heavy rain causing river 

water to flow into residential or 

industrial areas.  

 

Under the law Sefton Council must 

develop a plan.  This plan shows 

how they manage the risk of 

flooding and erosion across Sefton.  

Sefton has produced The Local 

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management Strategy (plan).  This 

describes: 

• Why it is important to plan for 

floods and coastal erosion. 

• Who is should be doing it. 

Page 171

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10d 

2 
 

• What are the flooding and erosion 

risks in Sefton. 

• What challenges there are to 

manage these risks in Sefton. 

• What Sefton Council wants to do 

to reduce risks of flooding and 

erosion in the future. 

 

The Local Flood and Coastal 

Erosion Risk Action Plan says: 

• What actions will be taken to 

reduce flood and erosion risk in 

Sefton. 

• When and how long each action 

will take. 

• Funding details and overall cost of 

the proposed actions. 

 

The Local Flood and Coastal Erosion 

Risk Management Strategy will be 

updated every eight years.  

The Business or Action Plan will be 

updated every year.  It will show any 

changes to the law and update what 

we have done. 

 

 

Sefton Council would like to know 

your thoughts on  its Local Flood and 

Coastal Erosion Risk Strategy and the 

Action Plan.  

Page 172

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10d 

3 
 

 

Your ideas will help us to know if the 

Flooding and Coastal Erosion Strategy and 

Action plan has information people find 

useful.  

 

Consultation will  

start on 13th September and 

end on 15th Novemeber 2021 

 

Drafts of the two documents can be 

viewed online at Sefton Council - Citizen 

Space. Your comments can also be 

added here.  

If you wish to send your comments by 

email, please message: 

flooding@sefton.gov.uk 

 

Your comments can also be sent by post. 

Please use the following address: 

        Green Sefton (FCERM team) 

Magdalen House,  

30 Trinity Road,  

         Bootle 

         L20 3NJ. 

 

Page 173

Agenda Item 10

https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/
https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/
https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/
https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/
mailto:flooding@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:flooding@sefton.gov.uk
https://yourseftonyoursay.sefton.gov.uk/


Agenda Item 10d 

4 
 

 

If you would like a pre-paid envelope or you 

wish to make your comments by telephone, 

please call: 0345 140 0845. 

 

 

If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, please 

include: 

 

• The organisation’s name  

• Your job role 

• A brief description of who the organisation 

supports.  

You do not need to fill this in if your 

comments are not on behalf of the 

company. 

 

Sefton Council follows The Freedom of 

Information Act – a law that allows the 

public to see Council information. 

Your personal information will not be shared 

but your comments and ideas will be made 

available to view. If you do not want us to 

share your comments, please let us know.  
 

After the consultation ends everyone’s 

comments will be looked at.    

Ideas people have shared may be used in 

the final documents.  

Page 174

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10d 

5 
 

 

The final documents will be presented to all 

the Elected Members at what is called a                

Full Council Meeting.   

Elected Members are people who look at 

information and make decisions. 

They will be asked to approve them.  

 

 

Page 175

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 1

Sefton Council Flood 
& Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy -  
Business Plan 

Ready for the futurePage 177

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

Contents
1. Introduction  ............................................................................................................................................................. 1

2. National & Local Integration ................................................................................................................................ 2

3. Funding ...................................................................................................................................................................... 3

4. FCERM Actions .......................................................................................................................................................... 4

5. Summary of Projects .............................................................................................................................................. 6

Page 178

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 1

1. Introduction 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy. 

The strategy provides an overview of flood and coastal erosion risk management in Sefton and aims 
to balance the needs of communities, the economy and the environment. As part of the local strategy 
a Business Plan is provided which outlines Sefton’s future actions for managing the flood and coastal 
erosion risk identified in the local strategy. The Business Plan is an integral part of flood and erosion 
risk management as it provides detail on the processes, timescales, benefits and costs associated 
with any proposed measures. 

The Business Plan specifically sets out how funding will be secured and managed for proposed 
interventions over the short to medium terms. Funding can come from several streams: revenue 
funding (provided by the council), partner funding or Grant in Aid (GIA). Therefore, it is necessary to 
outline the justification and allocation for proposed measures.

The Business Plan is aimed at local decision makers and partner organisations; however, it also 
provides clarity to local communities on how flood and coastal erosion risk is managed in Sefton. 
The plan will be updated annually to reflect changes in revenue budgets, project progression, 
funding applications, new scheme identification or updates to relevant national documents e.g. the 
Environment Agency’s Medium-Term Plan. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 2

2. National & Local Integration
Sefton’s approach to Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) is intrinsically linked 
to national plans. The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England   
outlines the three ambitions for flood risk management:

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change - 
ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change 
and know their responsibilities and how to take action.  

Climate-resilient places - working with partners to bolster resilience to 
flooding and coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face 
of climate change. 

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making 
the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth 
and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change. 

It is essential that our FCERM measures align with this national agenda. However, on a local level, 
the Sefton 2030 Vision provides the broad guidelines on the ambitions for the Sefton Borough. 
Consequently, we have combined the ambitions of the National Flood Risk Strategy for England with 
those of our Local Vision 2030 to provide the structure for FCERM in Sefton (Figure 1). By combining 
both national and local requirements we provide a holistic approach that directly benefits our 
communities whilst aligning with the larger framework set by national standards.

Figure 1: Depiction of the eight themes that form the foundation of Sefton’s 2030 Vision.

Page 180

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 3

3. Funding
 ■ Flood Defence Grant in Aid (GiA): This is money from Defra which is administered by the 

Environment Agency. The amount of GiA a scheme is eligible for is determined by the outcomes 
and benefits it will deliver, with a focus on homes being better protected from flooding and 
coastal erosion. Outcome Measures reflect financial, environmental, health, social and FCERM 
benefits. Where there is a shortfall in GiA, partnership funding contributions from other sources 
or a reduction in costs is required to achieve project viability. Funding allocations for these 
sources are subject to a successful and approved business case.  

 ■ Local Levy: The North West RFCC can choose to support projects that are either not eligible for 
GiA, or to support projects where there is a shortfall in GiA by the allocation of Local Levy.  

 ■ Partnership Funding: Where GiA in Aid and/or Local Levy does not fully support the delivery of 
a project, the LLFA can provide additional funding through their contributions or by seeking 
external contributions from partners and communities who may benefit from the project. 
Funding allocations for these sources are subject to a successful, approved business cases.  

 ■ Quick Win Funding: The Merseyside FCERM Partnership has an annual allocation of £50,000 for 
small interventions that can improve the management of risk. 

 ■ Prudential Borrowing: The Council may undertake prudential borrowing to enable an essential 
capital scheme to progress, but this is dependent upon identifying revenue budget efficiencies in 
future years to make funding available to meet the cost of repaying the loan.  

 ■ Other Grants: Sefton Council will seek to secure funding from other grants as and when they 
become available. 

 ■ Highways Funding: The Council is responsible for keeping the highway free from flooding and 
invests money in its Highway Drainage Asset to achieve this. There are opportunities to use this 
funding to achieve wider outcomes relating to flooding as well as keeping the highway free from 
flooding.

Page 181

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 4

4. FCERM Actions
The table provided below details how FCERM will be undertaken. Our approach has been broken down 
into a structure that reflects the Vision 2030 with specific details on the action, the timescale and the 
relevant funding scheme.

Source
Funding 
Source

Delivery 
Target

Resource

Sefton 
Vision 
2030 

Theme

PEOPLE

Develop a FCERM communications plan to support 
the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Strategy. Revenue July 2022 Staff Time

Together 
a stronger 
community

Engage with communities about the broader issues 
of FCERM, climate change and flood risk awareness 
(Highways Maintenance to work with FCERM on 
this).

Capital/Revenue Project 
Specific Project Specific

Engage with riparian owners about their 
responsibilities (Highways Maintenance to work 
with FCERM on this).

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Engage with communities where FCERM projects 
will be undertaken. Capital/Revenue Project 

Specific Project Specific

Exchange knowledge and best practice with wider 
partners to ensure improvements, efficiencies and 
effective ways of working. 

Capital/Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Exchange of aims, objectives and aspirations with 
wider partners to ensure Sefton’s interests are 
considered and areas of shared interests identified. 

Capital/Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Work with other RMA’s to identify viable options for 
Maghull (Project E in Section 5). Capital 2026 Project Specific

Work with land managers and NW coastal group 
on the delivery of the Eco buffers project at Formby 
Point (Project L in Section 5).

Capital/Revenue 2021-2027 Project budget 
tbc/staff time

Ensure council-delivered SUDs schemes achieve 
multiple benefits. Capital/Revenue Ongoing Project Specific

A Borough 
for 

Everyone

Seek funding to deliver the Crosby Flood & Coastal 
Defence Scheme (Project A in section 5). Capital 2028 Project Specific

Assess deliverability and seek funding to deliver 
the Pool Scheme (Project B in section 5). Capital 2026 Project Specific

Support the delivery of the Climate Emergency 
Action Plan (Project L in section 5). Revenue 2030 Staff Time

Review FCERM policies & develop new policies were 
necessary. Revenue 2023 Staff Time

Inspecting Council-owned assets (Highways 
Maintenance to review highway drainage asset). Revenue Annual Staff Time

Living, 
working & 
having fun

Reactive inspection of private-owned assets 
following reports of flooding. Revenue Annual Staff Time

Explore opportunities to manage water differently 
by working with wider partners in order to support 
the work of Green Sefton such as community food 
growing projects and habitat creation.

Revenue Ongoing Staff time

Page 182

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 5

Source
Funding 
Source

Delivery 
Target

Resource

Sefton 
Vision 
2030 

Theme

PLACE

Undertake consenting with Riparian owners as 
required Revenue Ongoing Staff-time Clean, 

green 
beautiful 
borough

Undertake enforcement with Riparian owners as 
required (Highways Maintenance to undertake this 
where it impacts on the highway drainage)

Revenue Ongoing Staff-time

PRODUCTIVITY

Ensure flood and coastal erosion risk is considered 
in all council-led projects. Revenue Ongoing Staff Time On the 

move
Review up-to-date climate change projections and 
consider how these may impact Sefton. Capital As 

necessary Staff Time

Ready for 
the Future

Deliver actions set out in Shoreline Management 
Plan. Capital Check SMP Staff Time

Deliver actions set-out in the Flood Risk 
Management Plan (Project K in section 5). Capital Check 

FRMP Staff Time

Complete Surface Water Management Plan Level 
2 and seek funding to deliver options (Project D in 
section 5).

Capital 2024 TBC

Deliver the North West Strategic Regional Coastal 
Monitoring Programme (Project C in section 5). Capital 2021-2026 Project Specific

Establish plan and triggers for works to Hightown 
Coastline (Project F in Section 5). Revenue/Capital 2022 Staff time

Ensure we support the Planning Service in 
undertaking its duty as a Local Planning Authority 
through our role as a statutory consultee on major 
developments, and as an advisory consultee on 
significant minor developments.

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Ensure we support the Planning Service in the 
preparation of evidence, other documents and 
draft policies to support the review of the Local 
Plan (e.g. new Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, 
Coastal Change) and any other development plan 
documents and supplementary guidance.

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Deliver improvements to the surface water outfalls 
along the Ainsdale/Birkdale coastline. Capital 2022 £20000

Coordinate the delivery of groundwater monitoring 
across the Merseyside Authorities. Capital 2022 £24000

Pilot smart water level monitoring at key locations 
in Sefton. Capital 2022 £13000

Undertake a programme of inspection for coastal 
assets. Capital March 

2022 Staff Time

Undertake a programme of inspections for inlands 
assets. Revenue Annual Staff Time

Undertake programmed and reactive maintenance. Revenue Annual £85, 650.00
Develop asset management systems and a risk-
based approach to maintenance for the highway 
drainage asset - to be undertaken by Highways 
Maintenance and co-ordinated with FCERM

Revenue Annual £30,000

Page 183

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 6

5. Summary of Projects
A. Crosby Flood and Coastal Defence Scheme
Sefton Council are developing a business case in partnership with United Utilities and the 
Environment Agency to secure funding to undertake a scheme in Crosby to reduce risks associated 
with coastal change and surface water flooding.

The main issues in the area are:

 ■ The river Alt Training Wall has lowered over time and needs works to raise the height to ensure 
the river Alt continues to flow out to sea.

 ■ Coastal erosion is occurring northwards of the Coastguard Station for approx. 1km releasing 
contaminated material and putting the Mersey Estuary Pollution Alleviation Scheme (MEPAS) 
rising main sewer at risk. During December 2013, the coast here eroded 11m due to a storm 
event.

 ■ The current hard defences southwards of the Coastguard Station (for approx. 1km) are at the 
end of their design life and need replacing. They protect approx. 170 homes and the United 
Utilities MEPAS rising main sewer from coastal erosion.

 ■ Approximately 460 homes in the Crosby area are at risk of flooding all of which would benefit 
from works to reduce surface water flood risk.

B. The Pool Watercourse Scheme
The Pool watercourse drains a significant part of Southport, with approximately 3000 properties in 
its catchment. Over time the watercourse has had more connections added to it and its status and 
capacity were unknown. A study has investigated the system and developed a range of options 
to deliver flood risk benefits in the area. There is a strong focus on natural flood management 
approaches in this project.

C. North West Strategic Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme (CERMS)
The regional monitoring programme was set up in 2007 to improve the coordination and quality of 
coastal monitoring along the north west coastline. Sefton Council has been the lead authority on 
behalf of the north west coastal group. The programme is designed to ensure a coherent package of 
monitoring, data collection, collation and analysis is undertaken across the entire NW coast to support 
the delivery of the Shoreline management Plan and sustainable coastal management decisions.

D. Surface Water Management Plan
Pluvial or surface water flooding is usually, but not exclusively, a result of intense rainfall that 
exceeds the capacity of the installed drainage system, this often leads to flooding of the public 
highway. Typically, this type of flooding is very localised and has short lead-times, making it difficult 
to predict. It can occur where no watercourse exists. The problem and severity of ‘pluvial’ flooding 
can be exacerbated by: topography, drainage system capacity and surfaces with low permeability.

Page 184

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 7

In 2011 Sefton Council commissioned a Level 1 Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP). The plan 
identified 22 areas that are at risk of significant surface water flooding or where further detailed 
investigation is necessary to mitigate against flood risk within the areas.

Since undertaking of the Level 1 Surface Management Plan there have been a further three 
significant flood events in September 2015, December 2015 and July 2017. It was decided through 
local knowledge, subsequent rainfall events and reports of flooding that 3 strategic areas, Maghull, 
Seaforth & Litherland and Formby would benefit from a detailed Level 2 SWMP to examine the issue 
of surface water flooding in greater detail. This included the development of 2D hydraulic models 
to better define flood hazards and to help identify future scheme options, undertake economic 
appraisals and recommend future actions to manage surface water over the short, medium and long 
term.

E. Maghull Strategic Planning Group
Maghull has suffered from a number of flood events in recent years across the town but notable 
flooding has occurred through both river and surface water or a combination of both. Each of the Risk 
Management Authorities have looked at schemes to reduce the risk but the viability of these has been 
limited.

The Maghull Strategic Planning has been set up with the aim to provide recommendations that will 
act to resolve or reduce flood risk. The group reports findings to the Sefton Flood Resilience Strategic 
working group. The groups purpose is to work collaboratively and strategically to develop a strong 
common understanding of flood risk from all sources, alternative / innovative actions to reduce flood 
risk, feasibility assessments and delivery routes for solutions.

Page 185

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 8

F. Hightown Coastline
At Hightown beach a scheme was undertaken in 2011 to rebuild the dunes to where they were in 
the 1970s to delay the time needed for further intervention and to formalise defences around the 
Blundellsands Sailing Club. It was anticipated that this would extend the life by 30yrs. Since 2011 
much of the sand placed as dunes has been redistributed within the system with significant losses 
since the scheme was completed, during storms in 2013/14 and 2020. The community are becoming 
increasingly concerned. An assessment study was undertaken in 2020/2021 to provide a range of 
options which would be dependent on future coastal processes. 

Key areas of concern are:
 ■ The areas to either side of the sailing club where there is a risk of the defences being flanked. 

 ■ The spit of dunes north of the sailing club to the front of the reed bed has experienced erosion 
during extreme events (such as 2013/14 and 2019/2020), however the reed bed being exposed 
to wave action is a potential risk as it would not be expected to respond well. 

 ■ The operation of outfalls both through the structure failing or the outfalls being buried.

G. Ainsdale Birkdale coastal outfalls
The land drainage system for parts of Ainsdale (200 properties) and Birkdale (25 properties) was 
designed to drain through a small sand dune system through a network pipe and open watercourses 
and onto the foreshore. Since the system was built the level of the foreshore has increased and the 
dune system has accreted significantly. This is severely restricting the free discharge of surface water 
onto the foreshore. Beach levels in some areas are higher than the top of pipe. The dune system and 
foreshore are also now designated nationally and internationally. The system requires significant 
work to facilitate free discharge. 

H. Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Programme
Formby has had several recent flooding incidents primarily from surface water. The area was 
identified within the SWMP and PFRA as being at risk of future flooding. Disparate schemes have led 
to limited benefit and a coordinate approach is needed to reduce flooding across Formby. A variety of 
options will be considered and implemented, including attenuation, resilience, re-routing watercourse 
and up-grading watercourses to deliver a reduction in flood risk. The outputs of the SWMP will 
help identify options and we will work with the Formby Flood Group and other Risk Management 
Authorities to implement them.

I. Merseyside Strategic Groundwater Flood Risk Pilot
The project is looking to quantify the rate of rising groundwater and what areas are most at risk.

There are approximately 22,000 properties at moderate to significant risk of groundwater flooding 
risk across Merseyside. Merseyside Risk Management Authorities need a better understanding of 
the risk posed by groundwater and ways to reduce the consequences of groundwater flooding to 
properties through mitigation and resilience measures. A network of ground water monitoring gauges 
will be deployed across Merseyside to gain an evidence base of groundwater levels. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 9

J. Smart Water level monitoring
Sefton is flat low-lying borough by nature and relies on pumped systems to drain water into the 
sea.  The borough is at risk of flooding and coastal erosion from the sea, flooding from surface water, 
sewers, ground water, watercourses, rivers and canals. Sefton has had several significant flooding 
incidents over the years. Because of these frequent incidents the Council aims to undertake a scheme 
to install watercourse level monitoring systems at strategic locations along identified watercourses 
that can be remotely monitored by Council operational staff. This will allow real-time river/
watercourse levels to be monitored and communities to be informed and warned in a timely manner.

K. Flood Risk Management Plans
The Environment Agency has been updating the National Flood Risk Management Plans, as required 
in the Flood Risk Regulations 2009.  They explain the risk of flooding from rivers, the sea, surface 
water, groundwater and reservoirs and set out how risk management authorities will work with 
communities to manage flood risk over 6-year periods. The plans emphasise impacts on people, the 
economy and the environment, including cultural heritage and they must:

 ■ focus on communities and partnership working

 ■ co-ordinate across catchments and coastlines

 ■ consider sustainability issues

 ■ take a proportional, risk-based approach

 ■ look to achieve multiple benefits for the environment and society

 ■ encourage beneficiaries to invest in flood risk management

Page 187

Agenda Item 10

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made


Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 10

The objectives should be consistent with the National FCERM Strategy for England 2020 and 
should cover:

 ■ the risk to life, residential properties, services and infrastructure, vulnerable communities, and 
any other relevant aspects (social objectives).

 ■ agricultural economy, commercial properties, leisure and tourism, and any other relevant 
aspects (economic objectives).

 ■ biodiversity, geology and soils, geomorphology water quality, historic environment, and any 
other relevant aspects (environmental objectives).

The FRMP focuses on the areas identified in the Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA). The PRFA 
identified the following areas as being at high flood risk within Sefton:

 ■ Southport to Ainsdale

 ■ Formby

 ■ South Sefton - Maghull, Crosby to Bootle (continued across the boundary into Liverpool)

Specific measures have been identified to address flood risk in these areas and other generic 
measures to help contribute towards the achievement of the three national FCERM Strategy for 
ambitions for England.  

L. NW ECO Coastal Buffers Project - North West Coastal Group 2021-2027
This project will develop a suite of natural buffer strips to increase coastal resilience of vulnerable 
hot-spots in the North West, including a proposal for Formby Point.  Creating a natural buffer strip 
around the coast has multi benefits, including reducing flood risk, reducing coastal erosion, increasing 
biodiversity and water quality, provides carbon capture and other ecosystem services such as 
recreation and well-being.  These buffer strips with their rich vegetation, act as natural breakwaters, 
capturing sediment and dissipating wave energy. 

Five key areas will be addressed:

 ■ Understanding the eco-geomorphological system.

 ■ Develop innovative solutions to create and maintain buffers.

 ■ Application of novel and integrated monitoring techniques including: Autonomous radar, 
WireWall, Satellite and Drone photogrammetry and Citizen Science to provide a single learning 
model of the coastal nearshore.

 ■ Establish adaptation triggers and pathway.

 ■ Empowering communities; throughout the project, communities will be engaged in a process of 
co-creation of knowledge and co-design of buffers.

Page 188

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2


Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 11

M. Climate emergency strategy and implementation plan
Sefton Council declared a climate emergency and has developed a strategy that represents a 
commitment and provides the basis from which future plans can be developed. Climate change is 
and will continue to increase flood and coastal erosion risk. By declaring a climate emergency, Sefton 
Council acknowledges that climate change must be considered in many aspects of our lives and 
this Business Plan is one way of helping us to support our communities and businesses to adapt and 
prepare for the future. 

By 2030, the Council will have:

 ■ Established a clear baseline and full audit of all ongoing work that can contribute to the 
achievement of our net zero target.

 ■ Developed ambitious yet achievable targets for each of our proposed action plans based on our 
baseline evidence.

 ■ Achieved net carbon zero by 2030 and ensure all strategic decisions are in line with this target.

 ■ Raised awareness of the issues across the Council, our partners and our communities.

 ■ Engaged with young people and the wider community.

 ■ Embed climate action and value into our decision making across the organisation.

The Climate Emergency Implementation Plan has been developed to support the strategy, setting out 
actions in response to the Climate Emergency over three-time phases.

 ■ Phase 1 2020 – 2023

 ■ Phase 2 2023 – 2026

 ■ Phase 3 2026 - 2029

N. Highway Drainage Asset Management and Risk based Maintenance
This project will be led by Highway Maintenance but is included here as the flooding of the highway 
and flooding from the highway can have such a significant impact on residents. The project will 
implement suitable asset management systems ensuring the suitable management and coordination 
of works to this asset. Risk based maintenance will be implemented to recognise the varying risk 
associated with different locations, some gullies may not need to be cleaned every year, some 
might require more frequent cleaning – the collection of and management of data within the asset 
management system will facilitate this risk-based approach.

Page 189

Agenda Item 10



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 12

6. Sefton Council Group Attendance
The table below lists all the working groups the FCERM team attends. By maintaining regular contact, 
it ensures we work in a collaborative and holistic manner: 

Meeting Group Purpose/Aim Reason for attending Frequency Role
North West and North 
Wales coastal group

Coordinate delivery of SMP and 
share best practice

Report on NW strategic coastal 
monitoring programme

Quarterly Member

Liverpool Bay Coastal 
group

Coordinate delivery of SMP and 
share best practices within 
Liverpool Bay

Represent Sefton Council as 
Maritime Authority

Biannual Vice-chair

Northern Coastal 
subgroup

Coordinate delivery of SMP and 
share best practices within 
from Ribble to Solway

Report on NW strategic coastal 
monitoring programme

Quarterly Member

Coastal Evidence task 
group

Establish robust evidence base 
for NW Coastal Group activities

Coordinate and collate 
evidence and research

Quarterly Chair

Shoreline Management 
Plan delivery group

Coordinate delivery of SMP 
working groups

Representing coastal evidence 
working group

Weekly Member

National Network of 
Strategic Regional 
Coastal Monitoring 
Programmes

Coordinate regional monitoring 
programmes, exchange best 
proactive and coordinate 
funding applications

Represent North West strategic 
regional coastal monitoring 
programme

Quarterly Member

North West Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee

Strategic direction for FCERM in 
the North West of England

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member when 
attending

Quarterly meeting 
(attendance required 
every other meeting)

Support officer

North West Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee finance 
subgroup

Assess grant in aid programme 
and applications for local levy 
for approval at full committee

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member when 
attending

Quarterly meeting 
(attendance required 
every other meeting)

Support officer

Merseyside strategic 
flood group partnership

Steer and coordinate FCERM in 
Merseyside across all RMAs and 
other partnerships

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member

Quarterly Member and 
support officer

Merseyside tactical 
flood group partnership

Coordinate and exchange best 
practice in delivering FCERM 
in Merseyside with RMAs and 
other partners

Representing Sefton Council Quarterly Chair (until 2022)

Sefton Operation Flood 
Group

Coordinate delivery of 
maintenance for FCERM across 
Sefton with RMAs and other 
partners

Representing Sefton Council Quarterly Chair

Sefton Flood Resilience 
Strategic working 
group

Cabinet members and 
Multiagency working party to 
provide strategic direction and 
coordination within Sefton.

Representing Sefton Council Monthly Member/support 
officer

Maghull Strategic flood 
planning group

Multiagency group 
coordinating options for flood 
risk management in Maghull

Representing Sefton Council Monthly Member

Mersey and Alt 
catchment partnership

Coordinate management 
of works to deliver water 
framework directive priorities

Representing Sefton Council 
as LLFA

Quarterly Member

Mersey sediment 
stakeholder meeting

Monitor dredging works 
undertaken by Mersey docks 
and harbour and seeks 
beneficial reuse of sediments.

Representing Sefton Council’s 
coastal interest

Biannual Member

Sefton Climate 
Emergency Officer 
Group

Exchange best practices and 
monitor delivery against the 
climate action plan

Representing Green Sefton Quarterly Member

Page 190

Agenda Item 10



Page 191

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on Friday 9th July 2021
	5 Verbal Update - Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (in connection with previous Paper)
	6 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Childhood Poverty in Sefton
	7 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Crosby Regeneration - Highways, Parking and accommodation works linked to Green Car Park Redevelopment
	Item 7a Appendix C DRAFT Communication Plan for Crosby TC Consultation

	8 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Public Spaces Protection Order for Southport Railway Station and surrounding area
	Item 8a PSPO Questionnaire

	9 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - School Streets and School Neighbourhood Projects Across Sefton
	10 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Sefton's Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy
	Item 10a Questionnaire LFRS
	Item 10b FCERM Communiations Plan 2021
	Item 10bi Be Flood Ready (uploaded from 10b)
	Item 10bii Timeline of Seftons Changing Coastline (uploaded from 10b)
	Item 10c Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
	Structure Bookmarks

	Item 10d LFRMS Easy Read 2022_2030
	Item 10e Local Flood Risk Strategy Business Plan
	1. Introduction 
	2. National & Local Integration
	3. Funding
	4. FCERM Actions
	5. Summary of Projects



